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None

Indicate by check mark if the registrant is a welbwn seasoned issuer, as defined in Rule 405edb#turities Act.
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Yes 0 No X

Indicate by check mark whether the registranth@s filed all reports required to be filed by Sexcti3 or 15(d) of the
Securities Exchange Act of 1934 during the preagdid months (or for such shorter period that tiggsteant was
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No O
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every Interactive Data File required to be subrditiad posted pursuant to Rule 405 of Regulatidn(8§232.405 of thi
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Indicate by check mark whether the registrantlesge accelerated filer, an accelerated filer, maxcelerated filer, or
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company" in Rule 12b-2 of the Exchange Act. (Chec&):

Large accelerated filer [ Accelerated filer
Non-accelerated filer [ (Do not check if a smaller reporting company) Serakeporting company [

Indicate by check mark whether the registrantshell company (as defined in Rule 12b-2 of the Exgfe Act). Yes
(] No

Based upon the closing price of the registrantsmon stock on the NASDAQ Global Select Market oneJ80, 2014
(the last business day of the registrant's mostntdg completed second fiscal quarter) the appratgnaggregate
market value of the common stock held by non-atfis of the registrant was approximately $ 218(EL, As of
February 26, 2015 , there were 37,112,512 sharedRegistrant’'s common stock outstanding.
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SPECIAL NOTE REGARDING FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS

This Annual Report on Form 10-K contains forwéwdking statements that involve substantial risksl
uncertainties. The statements contained in thisuAhReport on Form 10-K that are not purely histatiare forward-
looking statements within the meaning of Sectioh @f7the Securities Act of 1933, as amended (tbeuiBies Act")
and Section 21E of the Securities Exchange Acd®4,1as amended (the "Exchange Act"), including,not limited to
statements regarding our expectations, beliefgnimbns, strategies, future operations, future fficial position, futur
revenue, projected expenses and plans and objeativenanagement. In some cases, you can identviyarfd-looking
statements by terms such as “anticipateljelieve,” "estimate,” "expect,” "intend,” "may," ight," "plan," "project,’
"will," "would," "should," "could," "can,” "predict' "potential,” "continue," "objective," or the native of these tern
and similar expressions intended to identify foravlroking statements. However, not all forwdodking statemen
contain these identifying words. These forwkooking statements reflect our current views ablutitire events ar
involve known risks, uncertainties and other fastttrat may cause our actual results, levels ofvagtiperformance ¢
achievement to be materially different from thosperessed or implied by the forwalabking statements. Factors tl
could cause or contribute to such differences ideltbut are not limited to, those identified belaewd those discuss
in the section titled "Risk Factors" included instiAnnual Report on Form 10-K. Furthermore, suctwird-looking
statements speak only as of the date of this repadept as required by law, we undertake no okibgato update ar
forward-looking statements to reflect events or circumstarafter the date of such statements. We qualifgfaur
forward-looking statements by these cautionary stateméntsddition, the industry in which we operate ibjgat to ¢
high degree of uncertainty and risk due to a variet factors including those described in the secgntitled "Ris
Factors." These and other factors could cause esulits to differ materially from those expressethia Annual Repo
on Form 10-K.
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PART |
ITEM 1. BUSINESS

Our company, Fox Factory Holding Corp., designgjireers, manufactures and markets performancedsidamics products for custom
world-wide. Fox Factory Holding Corp. is the holding camp of Fox Factory, Inc. As used herein, "Fox Facta'FOX," the "Company,
"we," "our," and similar terms refer to Fox Factdfplding Corp. and its subsidiaries, unless thetexinindicates otherwise. Our premi
brand ride dynamics products, are used primarilpiogicles ("bikes"), side-by-side vehicles ("Side-®ides"), on-road vehicles with ofrac
capabilities, off-road vehicles and trucks, tellrain vehicles, or ATVs, snowmobiles, specialghicles and applications, and motorcycles.
define ride dynamics as the interplay between ither rthe vehicle and the terrain, and we offelquei solutions to improve performance
control. Some of our products are specifically gestl and marketed to some of the leading actiontsjpoiginal equipment manufactur

("OEMSs"), while others are distributed directlydgonsumers through a global network of dealers éstdlzlitors.

Fox Factory, Inc., our operating subsidiary, wanporated in California in 1978. Fox Factory HalgliCorp was incorporated in Delaware
December 28, 2007. Compass Group Diversified HgilinLC, ("Compass") purchased a controlling intenesus on January 4, 2008. As
December 31, 2014 , Compass beneficially ownedoequpately 40.8% of our outstanding common stock.

In August 2013, we completed an initial public oiifigg ("IPO") of our common stock. Our common staskraded on the NASDAQ Glot
Select Market (the "NASDAQ") under the symbol "FQXF

Description of our business

We are a designer, manufacturer and marketer dbnpesince ride dynamics products used primarily @ydles, Side-by-Sides, amac
vehicles with off-road capabilities, off-road veleis and trucks, allerrain vehicles, or ATVs, snowmobiles, specialghicles and applicatior
and motorcycles. We believe our products offer wrative design, performance, durability and religilOur brand is associated with high-
performance and technologically advanced produmtswhich we generally mean products that providersisvith improved control anc
smoother ride while riding over rough terrain irried environments. We believe that the performawfceur products has been demonstr
by, and our brand benefits from, the success depsional athletes who use our products in elitapetitive events, such as the Union Cyc
Internationale Mountain Bike World Cup and the Xn@s. We believe the exposure our products receenwsed by successful professi
athletes positively influences the purchasing lsabitenthusiasts and other consumers seekingpgediormance products. We believe that
strategic focus on the performance and racing setge our markets influences many aspiring antisiast consumers who we believe :
to emulate the performance of professional andragliee athletes. We believe our products are galyesold at premium prices, which to
means manufacturer suggested retail sale pricesitha@enerally in the upper quartile of their exgjve product categories.

We design our products for, and market our prodtwissome of the world’ leading action sports OEMs and to consumers gffirdbe
aftermarket channel. Many of our OEM customerdluisiong Giant, Scott, Specialized and Trek in bikesl BRP, Ford and Polaris in powe
vehicles, are among the market leaders in thepee/e product categories, and help shape, asagealespond to, consumer trends in -
respective categories. We believe that OEMs oftemmently display and incorporate our productgmprove the marketability and consut
demand for their performance models, which reirderour brand image. In addition, consumers sel@cpmducts in the aftermarket char
where we market through a global network of dead@id distributors.

For clarification, we are not affiliated with Foxelld, Inc., an action sports apparel company.
Recent developments
Asset Acquisition of Sport Truck, USA, |

On March 31, 2014, through our wholly owned sulasigi ST USA Holding Corp. ("ST USA"), we acquiregitain assets and assumed ce
liabilities of Sport Truck, USA, Inc. ("Sport Trutk a full service, globally recognized distributoir aftermarket suspension solutions, son
which have historically incorporated our produ@port Truck designs, markets, and distributes hjggdity lift kit solutions primarily throug
its brands, BDS Suspension and Zone Offroad Preduct

In connection with the acquisition, we paid cashapproximately $40.8 million The acquisition was financed with debt and inekic
potential earn-out opportunity of up to a maximum$@9.3 million payable over the next three years, contingent uperachievement
certain performance-based financial targets. e ItA, "Risk Factors of Part | for a discussion of risks related tgaisitions.

Asset Acquisition of Race Face and Easton Cyclungjri2sse

On December 12, 2014, through various subsidiavies acquired certain assets and assumed certdilitiés of Race Face Performal
Products, Inc. and Easton Cycling Canada Inc. {kmge"Race Face/Easton"). Race Face/Easton desigasufactures, and distribu
performance mountain and road bike wheels and gilidormance cycling components including
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cranks, bars, stems, and seat posts, globally td<dnd the aftermarket.

In connection with the acquisition, we paid appnoaiely $30.2 million. The acquisition was finanaeith debt and includes a potential earn
out opportunity of up to a maximum of $16.9 millipayable over the next two years, contingent uperathievement of certain performance
based financial targets and continued employmegg.l&m 1A, 'Risk Factors' of Part | for a discussion of risks related tgaisitions.

First Amendment to the Amended and Restated 204d@tCracility

In August 2013, we entered into a credit facilitithaSun Trust Bank and other named lenders (thd320redit Facility"). The 2013 Cre
Facility provided a revolving line of credit. On k& 31, 2014, in connection with our asset purclwsgport Truck, we amended and rest
the 2013 Credit Facility (the "Amended and Rest&8d3 Credit Facility") to provide for a securednteloan of $50.0 million (the "Ter
Loan"). On December 12, 2014, in connection with asset purchase of Race Face/Easton, we amenelexiting Amended and Reste
2013 Credit Facility (the "First Amendment"). ThiesF Amendment increased the Term Loan by the ral@mount of $30.0 million to a to
of $56.8 million, subject to quarterly amortizatippyments, and extended the maturity of the Ameradetl Restated 2013 Credit Fac
through December 12, 2019.

Secondary Offering

In July 2014, certain selling stockholders, inchgliiCompass, sold 5.75 million shares of our comstonk at a price of $15.5ter share, le:
underwriting discounts and commissions, in a seapngublic offering. The total shares sold incli@d@5 million shares, which were also s
by certain selling stockholders, in connection wvitie exercise of the underwriters' option to pusehadditional shares. The Company dic
sell shares or receive any proceeds from the sdlsbares by the selling stockholders. The Compacyrred approximately $0.5 millioaf
expenses in connection with the offering duringythar ended December 31, 2014 .

Share Repurchase Program

On November 3, 2014, the Company’s Board of Dinectauthorized a share repurchase program for upd@omillion of the Companyg’
common stock outstanding. The shares may be reased in the open market or in privately negotigtadsactions from time-tbme and il
accordance with applicable laws, rules and reguiati At December 31, 2014 , $39.4 milli;emained available for repurchases undel
plan. The share repurchase program is expected &xécuted, as market conditions allow, througkexisiration on December 31, 2015. "
Company intends to fund the share repurchase profn@m borrowings, cash on hand and cash flow faparations. The share repurct
program may be amended, suspended or discontinusaydime and does not commit the Company to masge any shares of its comr
stock.

Industry

We participate in the large global markets for biked powered vehicles used by recreational anfégsional users. Today, our products
powered vehicles are used primarily on Side-by-S§idm-road vehicles with off-road capabilities, -afad vehicles and trucks, AT\
snowmobiles, specialty vehicles and applicationd, motorcycles.

We focus on premium priced products within eachhefse categories, which we consider to be the éighsegment because of their hig
retail sale prices, where we believe consumers laapeeference for well-designed, performandented equipment. We believe that

dynamics products, which include suspension systesisvell as wheels, cranks, and other componaregscritical to the performance of
bikes and powered vehicles in the product categdrievhich we focus and that technical featurespmmnent performance, product des
durability, reliability and brand recognition stgig influence the purchasing decisions of consumésger the past decade, there have

significant technological advances in materials &watures that have increased product functionalitg performance, allowing hignc
suspension products to be adapted for use in addltend-markets and bike and powered vehicle ost=gy

We believe the high-end segments in which we ppgte are well positioned for growth due to sevéaaetors, including:
* increasing average retail sales prices, whiclb&leve are driven by differentiated and feattice-products with advanced technolog

 continuing product cycle innovation, which we haleserved often motivates consumers to upgrade aruthggse new products for enhar
performance; and

 increased sales opportunities for higyd bikes and powered vehicles in internationaketa

As vehicles in our endiarkets evolve and grow more capable, ride dynamioducts and components have become, and we &ealid)
continue to become, increasingly more importantifioproved performance and control. Additionally, elieve there are opportunities
continue to leverage our technical know-how in sigon products to provide solutions beyond ourenurend-markets.
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Our competitive strengths

Broad offering of performance products across mpl& consumer market

Our ride dynamics products enhance vehicle perfoomacross multiple consumer markets. Through $keeofl adjustable suspension, pos
sensitive damping, multiple air spring technologiaghtweight and rigid materials, and other tedog@ées and methods, our products impi
the performance and control of the vehicles usedlryconsumers. We believe our reputation for parémce products is reinforced by
successful finishes in world class competitive évday athletes incorporating our products in thetnicles.

Premium brand with strong consumer loyal

We believe that we have developed a reputatiopdoiormance products and that we own and licensdlkshed trademarks, such as FOX,
FOX RACING SHOX, which are perceived as premiumndisa As such, our ride dynamics products are génesald at premium prices. V
take great effort to maintain our brands in thesegeconsumers. For instance, our FOX logo is pnemily displayed on our FOX branc
products used on bikes and powered vehicles soldubYDEM customers, which helps further reinforce brand image. We believe that
brands have achieved strong loyalty from our coressnilo support our brands, we introduce new prisdinat we believe feature innoval
technologies designed to improve vehicle perforreaartd enhance our brand loyalty with consumers.

Track record of innovation and new product introdtions

Innovation, including new product development, ikey component of our growth strategy. Due to oyregience in suspension enginee
and design in multiple markets and with a varietywehicles, solutions we develop for use in onekagacan ultimately be deployed act
multiple markets. For example, our success in fga-end ATV category led to the widespread adoptioowfsuspension technology in
Side-by-Side market. Our innovative product develept and speed to market are supported by:

our racing culture, including on-site technicate support of professional athletes, which prewids with unique redime insights as to tl
evolving ride dynamic needs of those participatmg/orld-class events;

ongoing research and development through a tddol-time engineers and numerous other technicians enpdogees who spend at le
part of their time testing and using our productd helping develop engineering-based solutionsitmece our product offerings;

feedback from professional athletes, race teantBusiasts and other consumers who use our pro

strategic and collaborative relationships witBND customers, which furthers our ability to extdadhnologies and applications across-en
markets; and

our integrated manufacturing facilities and perfante testing center, which allow us to quickly méeen concept to produt

Over the last three years, we have developed phailtiew products, such as the:

36 Factory RC2, which reduces overall fork weightpvides external adjustability with the new RCangier, and introduces a new
adjusting negative chamber air spring for quiefsgration and ease of adjustment;

Float X Evol, which allows the rider to tune theieg characteristics of the shock via an air punigheut having to remove the sho

Podium Internal Bypass, introduced into the UTV ke#r which through its internal bypass technologijows the vehicle to be plush
small bumps and deliver excellent chassis conthileaproviding progressive bottoming resistancehveiach increment of travel used; and

Float iCD, which provides riders the ability to aslj modes for different skills, terrains and atyivevels on mountain bikes, resulting
increased utilization of the modes and an overallawfficient ride dynamics experience.

Strategic brand for OEMs, dealers and distributc

Through our strategic relationships, we are oftenght out by our OEM customers and work closelyhwiitem to develop and design r
products and product enhancements. We believe alaborative approach and product development @R strengthen our relationsl
with our OEM customers. We believe consumers valuebranded products when selecting performancestéiad powered vehicles, and
result, OEMs purchase and incorporate our productiseir bikes and powered vehicles in order taéase the sales of their premium pr
products. In addition, we believe the inclusionoof products on higlend bikes and powered vehicles reinforces our prerrand imag
which helps to drive our sales in the aftermarketnmel where dealers and distributors sell ouryoetsdto consumers.
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Experienced management tea

We have an experienced senior management teanyledrhby L. Enterline, our Chief Executive Officdvlany members of our managen
team and many of our employees are avid users roprmaucts, which further extends their knowledfieamd expertise in, our products |
endmarkets. We are able to attract and retain higlalinéd and specialized employees who enhance oopaay culture and serve as str
brand advocates.

Our strategy

Our goal is to expand our leadership position atesigner, manufacturer and marketer of performamoeucts designed to enhance
dynamics. We intend to focus on the following kéwtegies in pursuit of this goal:

Continue to develop new and innovative productsimrent end-markets

We intend to continue to develop and introduce rew innovative products in our current endrkets to improve ride dynamics for

consumers. For example, our patented posimmsitive damping systems provide terrain optimiddd characteristics across many of
product lines. We believe that performance androbare important to a large portion of our consuim&se, and that our frequent introduc
of products with innovative and improved technoésgincreases both OEM and aftermarket demand asicmns seek out products for tl
vehicles that can deliver these characteristics. alée believe evolving market trends, such as dhangike wheel sizes and increas
adoption rates of Side-by-Side vehicles, shouldease demand for vehicles in our endrkets, which, in turn, should increase demanain
suspension products.

Leverage technology and brand to expand into newegaries and en-markets

We believe that we have developed a reputationleader in ride dynamics, and that our reputatiomigined with our ability to improve t
performance of vehicles by incorporating perfornesaspension products and other components, résulssfrequently being approachec
OEM product development teams, athletes and otheksng to improve the performance of their vehiclancluding in endnarkets in whic
we have not previously offered products. We belighat our ride dynamics technologies have appticatin endnarkets in which we do n
currently participate in a meaningful way, and weend to selectively develop products for and fargationships with customers in additic
markets. These markets may include military, rdgveal vehicles (RVs), omead motorcycles, commercial trucks and "performeasiceet
cars.

Opportunistically expand our ride dynamics platforthrough acquisitions

In fiscal year 2014, we completed two acquisitiomiich we believe enhance our business and steatibgexpand our product offerings. In
first quarter of 2014, we acquired the businesSgirt Truck, a full service distributor of afterrkat suspension solutions. Sport Truck des
markets, and distributes lift kit solutions primgrihrough its brands, BDS Suspension and Zoneo@ffrProducts. A lift kit solution is

aftermarket vehicle modification that lifts eithtre suspension or the body of a vehicle to raigerithe height of the vehicle. Lift kits ¢
commonly installed to allow for the installationlafger tires and new suspension systems. In Deeeofl2014, we acquired the businesst
Race Face/Easton. Race Face/ Easton designs, romme and distributes performance mountain aad bike wheels and other performa
cycling components including cranks, bars, stemd, seat posts, globally to OEMs and the aftermaalket is known for its unique cart
technology.

Our business development group is responsibledemtifying and assessing inorganic and organicriaegrowth opportunities of our ri
dynamics platform. Specifically, our business depeient group: (i) identifies and assesses poteatgulisition opportunities; (ii) aids 1
business in analyzing growth alternatives; andl fi@nages critical projects and programs as detexaity senior management.

Increase our aftermarket penetratio

We currently have a broad aftermarket distributi@twork of more than 3,000 retail dealers and ithstors worldwide. We intend to furtt
penetrate the aftermarket channel by selectivelijngddealers and distributors in certain geograpiéckets, increasing our internal sales f
and strategically expanding aftermarket-specifadpicts and services to existing vehicle platforms.

Accelerate international growtt

While a significant percentage of our current sales to OEMs and dealers and distributors locatgdiade the United States, we beli
international expansion represents a significapoojinity for us and we intend to selectively irage infrastructure investments and focu
identified geographic regions. We believe thatngsiconsumer discretionary income in a number ofeliging markets and increas
consumer preferences for premium, performance békebk powered vehicles, should contribute to indngaslemand for our products.
addition, we believe increasing international viestdp of racing and extreme sports and other outds@nts, such as the X Games
contributing to growing international participatiom activities in which our products are used. Wtend to leverage the recognition of
brands to capitalize on these trends by increasimgales to both OEMs and dealers and distribgfotsally, particularly in markets where
perceive significant opportunities. Our areas of
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greatest interest include AdRacific (particularly China, South Korea and Aukalaand South America (particularly Brazil, Argara anc
Chile).

Improve operating and supply chain efficienci

We intend to improve operating margins by enhancuagdesign and production processes to incredisgeaties, reducing new product ti
to market and lowering production costs. During £0%e continued the process of moving a majoritythef manufacturing of our bi
suspension component products to Taiwan. We matwiéat approximately 44% of our complete suspendarks at our Taiwan bil
suspension component facility in 2014, as well agaificant amount of our subassemblies and otberponents. We expect to complete
process of transitioning our bike suspension comapbrmanufacturing to our Taiwan facility in 2015.eWelieve this transition, or
completed, will shorten production lead times to lbike OEM customers, improve supply chain efficies and reduce manufacturing costs.

Seasonality

Our business is seasonal. In each of the last flaea years, our quarterly sales have been tivedoin the first quarter and the highest di
our third quarter of the year. For example, ouesah our first and third quarters of 2014 représeéri8% and 29%f our total sales for tl
year, respectively. We believe this seasonalitdue to the delivery of new products, including suspension products related to the
mountain bike season, during the late spring eaeln.y

Competition

The markets for ride dynamics products, includingpension components, wheels, and cranks, areylighipetitive. We compete with otl
companies that produce products for sale to OEMaleds and distributors, as well as with OEMs whigobduce their own line of products
their own use. Some of our competitors may havatgrdinancial, research and development or margesources than we do. Competi
in the highend segment of the ride dynamics market revolvesrat technical features, performance, product degmovation, reliability an
durability, brand, time to market, customer senaoe reliable order execution. While the pricingcompeting products is always a factor,
believe the performance of our products helpsfjustir premium pricing. Within our markets, we costg with several large companies
numerous small manufacturers that provide brandeldumbranded products across all of our produeslihese competitors can be divi
into the following categories:

Bikes

Within the market for bike suspension components,campete with several companies that manufactorg &nd rear suspension prodt
including RockShox (a subsidiary of SRAM CorporajioX-Fusion Shox (a wholly-owned subsidiary ofP4e), Manitou (a subsidiary of F
Performance Systems), SR Suntour, DT Swiss (a diabgiof Vereinigte Drahtwerke AG), Marzocchi (Tewo), Cane Creek Cycling, D\
Suspension, Bostountain Bike Suspensions and Ohlins Racing ABhlmarket for other bike ride dynamics componemescompetes wi
SRAM, Truvativ and Zipp (all subsidiaries of SRAMIporation), DT Swiss (a subsidiary of Vereinigteabtwerke AG), Mavic (a subsidie
of Amer Sports Corporation) and Shimano.

Powered vehicle

Within the market for powered vehicle suspensiomponents, we compete with several companies irerdifft submarkets. We believ
significant competitor for suspension componenthaémsnowmobile market is KYB (Kayaba Industry Qdd.). Other suppliers of suspens
components for snowmobiles include Ohlins Racing ARilker Evans Racing, Works Performance Produiets,and Penske Racing Shoc
Custom Axis, Inc. In the ATV and Side-I8ide markets, outside of captive OEM suppliers,campete with ZF Sachs (ZF Friedrichsh:
AG) and Walker Evans Racing for OEM business arica Buspension Inc., Ohlins Racing AB, Works Perfomoe Products and Pen
Racing Shocks / Custom Axis, Inc. for aftermarkesibess. In the market for aflad and specialty vehicle suspension componemtfealev:
our two biggest competitors are ThyssenKrupp Bitsuspension GmbH (commonly known as Bilstein) &ty Shock Technology, In
(commonly known as King Shock). Other competiterdude Icon Vehicle Dynamics, SwayWay, Pro Comp USA Suspension and Ral
(Tenneco). In the market for suspension systeméftdts, we compete with TransAmerican Wholes#o Comp USA, Rough Coun
Suspension Systems, TeraFlex, ReadyLIFT SuspenBidhCountry EZ-Ride Suspension, and Rusty’s Offa.

Our products

We design and manufacture ride dynamics produetsdissipate the energy and force generated byslaikd powered vehicles while they
in motion. A suspension product allows wheels as ¢ the case of snowmobiles) to move up and dawabsorb bumps and shocks w
maintaining contact with the ground for better cohtOur products use adjustable suspension, pas#énsitive damping, multiple air spr
technologies, low weight and structural rigiditil,& which improve user control for greater perfance.
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We use highgrade materials in our products and have develapedmber of sophisticated assembly processes tatairaiquality across
product lines. Our suspension products are assednalsleording to precise specifications throughoatabsembly process to create consist
high performance levels and customer satisfaction.

Bikes

As a result of our acquisition of Race Face/Eastom,bike product offerings have expanded and n@waed on both performance moun
bikes and road bikes. Primarily for the mountaikebmarket, we offer upper mid-end and higd front fork and rear suspension prod
designed for cross-country, trail, all-mountairgefride and downhill riding. Our mountain bike produdare sold in three series: (i)
Evolution series, designed for demanding, yet vahirrded, enthusiasts; (ii) our Performance seriesjghed for experienced enthusiasts
expert riders; and (iii) our Factory series, whigldesigned for maximum performance at a professiewel.

We also offer mountain and road bike wheels andrgperformance cycling components including crablss, stems, and seat posts, utili
our carbon technology.

Powered vehicle

In our powered vehicle product category, we offighkend suspension products for Side-by-Sides,oa-vehicles with offoad capabilitie!
off-road vehicles and trucks, ATVs, snowmobiles, spgcieehicles and applications, and motorcyclesdBuots for these vehicles are desic
for trail riding, racing and performance. Our protiuhave also been used on limited quantities ifoafd military vehicles and other small-
scale select military applications. Our suspensiomponent products in the powered vehicle categamge from two inch aluminum badta
shocks to our patented position sensitive intelngdass shocks. We also offer suspension systemiiff &its, containing our suspensi
components, for use in trucks.

Product development

We are committed to the development and introdnctibtechnologically advanced products that featnm®vative designs and higjuality
materials. We strive to maintain our product leatlgr through the introduction of new and innovatjw®ducts and enhancements
refinements to our existing products.

Research and developme

Research and development is at the core of ouruptddnovation and market leadership strategy. \Afeha growing team of engineers
technicians focused on designing innovative praglactd testing and developing engineetiaged solutions to enhance our product offer
In addition, a large number of our other employeesny of whom use our products in their recreatiactvities, contribute to our research
development and product innovation initiatives. ifhievolvement in the development of new producdsges from participating in initi
brainstorming sessions to ride testing productdemelopment. Product development also includesloothting with OEM customers acr
endmarkets, field testing by professional athletes sgmohsored race teams and working with enthuséetsother users of our products. ~
feedback helps us to develop innovative productg&hvimeet our demanding standards as well as th&viegoneeds of professional &
recreational end users and to quickly commercidliese products.

Our research and development activities are supgdiy state-of-thert engineering software design tools, integrateshufacturing facilitie
and a performance testing center equipped to eehpraduct safety, durability and performance. Gastihg center collects data and t
products prior to and after commercial introducti®uspension products undergo a variety of rigoperformance and accelerated life t
before they are introduced into the market. Theassh and development portion of our total engingecosts totaled approximate$i3.¢
million , $10.4 million and $9.7 million in 2014023 and 2012 , respectively.

Intellectual property

Intellectual property is an important aspect of duisiness. We rely upon a combination of patemggjemarks, trade names, licen:
arrangements, trade secrets, know-how and proprittehnology in order to secure and protect otglliectual property rights.

Our in‘house counsel and external intellectual propergueces diligently protect our new technologiedwaiaitents and trademarks and de
against patent infringement allegations. We patemtproprietary technologies related to vehiclepsnsion and other products in the U.S.
various foreign patent officeur principal intellectual property also includear aegistered trademarks in the U.S. and a numif
international jurisdictions, including the marks X®, FOX RACING SHOX®, RACE FACE® and REDEFINE YOUR LIMITS?. Althougt
our intellectual property is important to our buese operations and in the aggregate constituteduable asset, we do not believe that
single patent, trademark or trade secret is clit@wthe success of our business as a whole. Weotdre certain that our patent applications
be issued or that any issued patents will provalaith any competitive advantages or will not ballemged by third parties.

6




Table of Contents

In addition to the foregoing protections, we gefigreontrol access to and use of our proprietany atiher confidential information through
use of internal and external controls, includingtcactual protections with employees, OEMs, distigios and others.

Customers

Our OEM customers include market leaders in thespective categories, and help define, as welksgond to, consumer trends in t
respective industries. These OEM customers inctudeproducts on a number of their performance nsodaéle believe OEMs often use
products to improve the marketability and demandhefr own products, which, in turn, strengthens loand image. In addition, consurr
select our performance products in the aftermarkatnel, where we market through a global netwdikealers and distributors. We curre
sell to more than 150 OEMs and distribute our pot&lto more than 3,000 retail dealers and distoitsutvorldwide. In 2014 , 69%f our sale
resulted from sales to OEM customers and 3&8%bilted from sales to dealers and distributorsdsale in the aftermarket channel. No mat
portion of our business is subject to renegotiatibprofit or termination of contracts or subcowtsat the election of the US government.

Sales attributable to our 10 largest OEM customeich can vary from year-to-year, collectively asnted for approximately 47%567% an
56% of our sales in 2014, 2013 and 20t@spectively. The decrease in the sales to {hd@OEM customers in 2014 as compared prior
is primarily attributable to our acquisition of Sp@ruck in 2014 which has further diversified awstomer base.

Although we refer to the branded bike OEMs thataiseproducts throughout this document as "ourasusts," "our OEM customers" or "
bike OEM customers," branded bike OEMs often usdract manufacturers to manufacture and assemeielitkes. As a result, even thot
we typically negotiate price and volume requiremsatitectly with our bike OEM customers, it is thentract manufacturer that may place
purchase order and therefore assumes the resporisiblpaying us. Giant Bicycles, or Giant, is aroled bike OEM and a contr.
manufacturer used by certain of our bike OEM custiamSales to Giant accounted for approximately 14%% and 13% of our sales2014
2013 and 2012, respectively.

Our domestic sales totaled $128.3 million , $96illian and $84.3 million , or 42% , 35% and 36%afr total sales in 2014, 2013 and 2012
respectively. Our international sales totaled $478illion , $176.6 million and $151.6 million or %8, 65% and 64% of our total sale2itil4
2013 and 2012 respectively. Sales attributable to countriesidet the United States are based on shipment docafiur international sal
however, do not necessarily reflect the locatiohef end users of our products, as many of ourymtsdare incorporated into bikes that
assembled at international locations and then sldiigack to the United States. Additional informatadout our product segments and ce
geographical information is availableNote 14 - Segments and Geographic AregzEghe notes to consolidated financial statements.

Additional information regarding our sales, incorarnd total assets is available in Item 6. "SeleEiedncial Information."

Bikes

We sell our bike suspension products and other comnts to more than 150 domestic and internatioikal OEMs, including Giant, Scott, ¢
Specialized. We have lorgganding relationships with many of the top bikeMBE After incorporating our products on their bik€3EMs
typically sell their bikes to independent dealerkich then sell directly to consumers.

In the aftermarket, we typically sell to dealerstlire U.S. and through distributors internationalBur dealers sell directly to aftermar
consumers. Our overseas distributors sell to inddget dealers, which then sell directly to consuwmer

Powered vehicle

We sell our suspension products for the poweredtke=hindustry to OEMs, including BRP, Ford anddisl. We are also currently develog
relationships with new OEMs, as the powered vehiaarket continues to grow. After incorporating punducts on their powered vehic
OEMs typically sell their powered vehicles to indagent dealers, which then sell directly to conssme

In the aftermarket, we typically sell through desland distributors, both in the U.S. and inteovadily. Our dealers sell directly to afterma
consumers. When we sell to our distributors, thedlite independent dealers, which then sell diyeitlconsumers.

Our product offerings currently target performasospension products for Side-by-Sides, on-roadcleshiwith off-road capabilities, ofbac
vehicles and trucks, ATVs, snowmobiles, speciakthiules and applications, and motorcycles. Our petelhave also been used on lim
guantities of off-road military vehicles and ottamallscale select military applications. We also offasmension systems, or lift kits,
trucks.

Sales and marketing

We employ specialized and dedicated sales profesisioEach sales professional is fully committedeovicing either OEM or aftermar!
customers within our product categories, which essthat our customers are in contact with capaiieknowledgeable sales professiona
address their specific needs. We strongly beliénag providing a high level of service to our endtomers is essential to maintaining
reputational excellence in the marketplace. Ouessarofessionals receive training on the brandsstigroducts and technologies and al
trade shows to increase their market knowledge.
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Our marketing strategy focuses on strengtheningpmaohoting our brands in the marketplace. We ggiatdly focus our marketing efforts
enthusiasts seeking higimd ride dynamics systems through promotions dirgg®n riding locations and individual and teapossorship:
We believe that the performance of our productsiiess demonstrated by, and our brand benefits filoersuccess of professional athletes
use our products in elite competitive events, sashhe Union Cycliste Internationale Mountain Bikderld Cup and the X Games. We ¢
believe these successes positively influence tihehpsing habits of enthusiasts and other consusaeidng performance products. We bel
that our strategic focus on the performance anithgagegments in our markets influences many agpaimd enthusiast consumers and en
our products to be sold at premium price points.é@mple, we sponsor a number of professionat¢tghland professional race teams. In «
to continue to enhance our brand image, we wildniemaintain our position in the suspension preslirdustry and to continue to prov
high quality products and services. We have alsmlable to develop longrm strategic relationships with leading OEMs. @putation fo
performance suspension products plays a critidaliroour aftermarket sales to consumers.

In addition to our website and traditional markgtichannels, such as print advertising and tradeshe#® maintain an active social me
presence, including a Facebook page, a YouTubenetham Vimeo page and Twitter feed to increase deamareness, foster loyalty and bui
community of users. As strategies and marketinggpkre developed for our products, our internaketarg and communications group w
to ensure brand cohesion and consistency.

Manufacturing and backlog

We manufacture and complete final assembly on tajenity of our products. By controlling the manufaring process of our products, we
able to maintain our strict quality standards, comstze our machines and processes for the speeifjsirements of our products, and qui
respond to feedback we receive on our productseireldpment and otherwise. Furthermore, manufaguoir own products enables us
adjust our labor and production inputs to meet@sasdemands and the customized requirements of sbwur customers.

We are in the process of transitioning the majoatyour bike suspension component manufacturingaijpes to our facility in Taichun
Taiwan, with the final completion of the transitisoheduled for 2015. In connection with our trdasitwe are utilizing, and expect to conti
to utilize, suppliers who are located closer to fagility in Taichung, Taiwan for a number of maaés and components. During the transi
period, we are manufacturing bike suspension compsnat both our facility in Watsonville, Califoenand in Taichung, Taiwan, thert
providing us with dual manufacturing facilities aretlucing the risk of interruptions. In additionyrishg the transition period, we are train
certain of our Taichung employees at our Watsoaf#icility as a way to help us maintain our quadipntrols. We believe that the orde
transition of the majority of our bike suspensiamponent manufacturing operations from Califoroi@ar Taiwan facility should enable us
maintain our strict quality control standards, meretduct demand requirements and relocate the iyagirthe manufacturing of our produ
for bikes to a location that is geographically elds a number of our bike OEMs, many of which @@ated in Taiwan. We estimate that
sales to bike OEMs located in Taiwan represent@doximately 51% of our total sales to mountain bieMs in the year ended December
2014 .

Once the transition of the majority of our bike peission component manufacturing operations is cetmphlwe anticipate converting
Watsonville facility primarily to the manufacturirgf powered vehicle suspension products. We belieaethis conversion process will helg
to increase our manufacturing capacity for our pedevehicle products, which should help us to redowr lead time to our powered veh
OEMs.

In February 2015, we announced plans to expand&bGajon, California facility to create an AutomatiRide Dynamics Center of Exceller

Our plans include developing an 1ISO9001 certifiathpus to support our current military and autonbusiness by producing direct boft-
suspension upgrades for on-road trucks withro&fd capabilities. We also expect that the exparlle@€ajon campus will enable us

efficiently support future growth and demand.

We had approximately $23.9 million and $22.4 miilim firm backlog orders at December 31, 2014 ad#i32 respectively. The increase
2014 backlog, as compared to 2013, was due to ngmoath in the business and acquisitions.

Suppliers

The primary raw materials used ihe production of our products are aluminum, mamgmescarbon and steel. We generally use mu
suppliers for our raw materials and believe that i@w materials are in adequate supply and availfdoim many suppliers at competit
prices. Prices for our raw materials fluctuate frime to time, but historically, price fluctuatiofgmve not had a material impact on
business.

We work closely with our supply base, and depenshugertain suppliers to provide raw inputs, sucfoagings, castings and molded polyn
that have been optimized for weight, structuratgnity, wear and cost. In certain circumstancesde@end upon a limited number of supp
for such raw inputs. We typically have no firm a@attual sourcing agreements with our suppliersrdtien purchase orders.
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Miyaki is the exclusive producer of the Kashimatewgafor our suspension component tubes. As paoduofagreement with Miyaki, which
entered into in 2009, or the Kashima Agreementhase been granted the exclusive right to use #ueimark "KASHIMACOAT" on produc
comprising the aluminum finished parts for suspemsiomponents (e.g., tubes) and on related satémarketing material worldwide, subj

to a minimum model year order and certain otheluskons. The Kashima Agreement does not contairinmim purchase obligations.

Facilities

The following sets forth our principal facilities af December 31, 2014All of our principal facilities are leased excdpt the facilities locate

in Michigan.

Approximate
Location Principal uses sq. footagt
Scotts Valley, California Corporate headquarters, sales, research and devehbp 51,23t
Scotts Valley, California Manufacturing 65,30(
Watsonville, California Manufacturing and service 86,00(
Watsonville, California Distribution and warehougi 151,94
Coldwater, Michigan Manufacturing, sales and distribution 78,00(
Coldwater, Michigan Research and development 16,35(
El Cajon, California Manufacturing, sales, service and research andafawent 30,15:
Taichung, Taiwan Manufacturing and sales 28,00(
Taichung, Taiwan Manufacturing and sales 14,22¢
Taichung, Taiwan Manufacturing and sales 36,78«
Rodalben, Germany Distribution and service 10,59:
Baxter, Minnesota Sales and service 9,33t
Burnaby, British Columbia, Canada Manufacturing, sales, research and development 10,40:

Employees

As of December 31, 2014 , we had approximately@ f00-time employees in the United States, Can&dappe and Taiwan. We also use par
time employees at our manufacturing facilities &phus meet seasonal demands. None of our empl@yeesubject to collective bargain
agreements.

Practices related to working capital items

The Company does not believe that it or the ingustrgeneral, has any special practices or speoiadlitions affecting working capital itel
that are significant for understanding our businésfrmation about the Comparsyworking capital is incorporated herein by refeesii
"Managemens Discussion and Analysis of Financial ConditiontidResults of Operations" in Part I, Item 7 ahd tConsolidated Statem:
of Cash Flows" in Part I, Item 8 of this Form 10-K

Government regulation
Environmental

Our manufacturing operations, facilities and prdipsrin the United States, Canada and Taiwan dfauto evolving foreign, internation
federal, state and local environmental and occapati health and safety laws and regulations, iriotydhose governing air emissio
wastewater discharge and the storage and handlicigemicals and hazardous substances. If we faibtoply with such laws and regulatic
we could be subject to significant fines, penaltiessts, liabilities or restrictions on operatiomg)ich could negatively affect our financ



condition.

We believe that our operations are in compliant@]limaterial respects, with applicable environtakand occupational health and safety |
and regulations, and our compliance with such lamd regulations has not had, nor is it expectdthte, a material impact on our earning
competitive position. However, new requirementsrergtringent application of existing requirementste discovery of previously unkno
environmental conditions could result in material/ieonmental related expenditures in the future.
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Employment

We are subject to numerous foreign, federal, statelocal government laws and regulations goverpimgrelationships with our employe
including those relating to minimum wage, overtinagrking conditions, hiring and firing, nagiscrimination, work permits and emplo
benefits. We believe that our operations are cotedum compliance, in all material respects, witicts laws and regulations. We have ni
experienced a material work stoppage or disruptioour business relating to employee matters. Wig\methat our relationship with ¢
employees is good.

Consumer safety

We are subject to the jurisdiction of the Unitedt8s Consumer Product Safety Commission, or theCCR&d other federal, state and fort
regulatory bodies including the National Highwayaffic Safety Administration, who enforces the FediéMotor Vehicle Safety Standar
Under CPSC regulations, a manufacturer of consguoeds is obligated to notify the CPSC, if, amonigeotthings, the manufacturer beco
aware that one of its products has a defect thatlareate a substantial risk of injury. If the rafacturer has not already undertaken to d
the CPSC may require a manufacturer to recall duymt) which may involve product repair, replacemantefund. During the past three ye
we initiated one voluntary product recall. For aiaial information, see Risk factors."

Legal proceedings

From time to time we are involved in legal procegdi incidental to our business, in particular ietglial property related disputes, prot
liability claims, as well as other litigation of monmaterial nature in the ordinary course of businéssconnection with the Financ
Accounting Standard Board ("FASB") Accounting StartiCodification ("ASC") 450Contingencies we have not accrued for material |
contingencies relating to any legal proceedingsbse we believe that, although unfavorable outcdimpeoceedings may be possible, they
not considered by our management to be probableeasbnably estimable. We believe that the outcofrany such pending matters, eil
individually or in the aggregate, will not have aterial impact on our business or financial conditi

Government contracts

No material portion of the business is subjecteimegotiation of profits or termination of contractssubcontracts at the election of the |
government.

Financial information about segments and geographiéreas

We operate in one reportable segment, performaideedynamics products. Additional information aboutr product segment and cer
geographic information is available Mote 14 - Segments and Geographic Areathe "Notes to Consolidated Financial Statemeimtghis
Annual Report on Form 10-K.

Corporate and available information

Our principal executive offices are located at TiSc Drive, Scotts Valley, CA 95066, and our telepé number is (831) 27/8500. Ou
website address is www.ridefox.com.

We file reports with the U.S. Securities and Exge@€ommission ("SEC"), including Annual Reportskorm 10K, Quarterly Reports ¢
Form 10-Q, Current Reports on FornK&nd any other filings required by the SEC. We enakailable on our Investor Relations website,
of charge, our Annual Reports on Form 10-K, QuértBeports on Form 10-Q, Current Reports on Fori, &nd all amendments to th
reports, as soon as reasonably practicable afteeleatronically file such material with, or furnishto, the SEC. The information on «
website is not incorporated by reference into Anisual Report on Form 10-K or in any other repaortdocument we file with the SEC.

The public may read and copy any materials wewikh the SEC at the SEC's Public Reference Roofr0atF Street, NE, Washington, |
20549. The public may obtain information on theragien of the Public Reference Room by calling 8t€C at 1-800-SE©®330. The SE
maintains an Internet site (http://www.sec.gov} ttantains reports, proxy and information statemeand other information regarding issi
that file electronically with the SEC.
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ITEM 1A. RISK FACTORS

Our business, financial condition, operating resaltd prospects could be materially and adverdidgtad by various risks and uncertaint
In addition to the risks and uncertainties discdsslsewhere in this Form 10- you should carefully consider the risks and utaisties
described below. If any of the risks actually ogaaur business, financial condition, operating lssand prospects could be materially
adversely affected. In that event, the tradinggpatour common stock could decline.

Risks related to our business

If we are unable to continue to enhance existingoplucts and develop and market new products thatpoesl to consumer needs a
preferences and achieve market acceptance, we maerence a decrease in demand for our productsdasur business and financii
results could suffer.

Our growth strategy involves the continuous develept of innovative performance products. We mayhb®able to compete as effectiv
with our competitors, and ultimately satisfy theede and preferences of our customers and the esrd o our products, unless we
continue to enhance existing products and devedop imnovative products in the global markets inchhwe compete. In addition, we m
continuously compete not only for end users whelpase our products through the dealers and distrdbwho are our customers, but alsc
the OEMSs, which incorporate our products into thikes and powered vehicles. These OEMs regulardyuate our products against thos
our competitors to determine if they are allowihg DEMs to achieve higher sales and market shaee ansteffective basis. Should one
more of our OEM customers determine that they caghieve overall better financial results by in@ogting a competitos new or existin
product, they would likely do so, which could haomr business, financial condition or results ofragiens.

Product development requires significant finandiethnological and other resources. While we expédrapproximately $13.6 million$10.<
million and $9.7 million for our research and degrhent efforts in 2014, 2013 and 20r2spectively, there can be no assurance thaliethe
of investment in research and development will isent in the future to maintain our competitimelvantage in product innovation, wt
could cause our business, financial condition sults of operations to suffer.

Product improvements and new product introductieagiire significant planning, design, development testing at the technological, proc
and manufacturing process levels, and we may expezi unanticipated delays in our introduction afdoict improvements or new produ
Our competitorshew products may beat our products to market, be rffective and/or less expensive than our prajwtitain better mark
acceptance or render our products obsolete. Anypreducts that we develop may not receive marke¢@ance or otherwise generate
meaningful sales or profits for us relative to eMpectations. In addition, one of our competitargld develop an unforeseen and entirely
product or technology that renders our products tessirable or obsolete, which could negativelg@afour business, financial conditior
results of operations.

We face intense competition in all product linescluding from some competitors that may have gredtaancial and marketing resource
Failure to compete effectively against competiteveuld negatively impact our business and operatiegults.

The ride dynamics industry is highly competitiveeWompete with a number of other manufacturers phatiuce and sell ride dynam
products to OEMs and aftermarket dealers and ligois, including OEMs that produce their own lirésproducts for their own use. C
continued success depends on our ability to coatinucompete effectively against our competitoosne of which have significantly grea
financial, marketing and other resources than wee halso, several of our competitors offer broapgerduct lines to OEMs, which they
sell in connection with suspension products as qiaatpackage offering. In the future, our compesitmay be able to maintain and grow b
strength and market share more effectively or duithkan we do by anticipating the course of madetelopments more accurately than we
developing products that are superior to our prtgjureating manufacturing or distribution capaieii that are superior to ours, produt
similar products at a lower cost than we can optidg more quickly than we do to new technologiess@olving regulatory, industry
customer requirements, among other possibilitiesddition, we may encounter increased competifionr current competitors broaden tt
product offerings by beginning to produce additiampes of ride dynamics products or through cortpetonsolidations. We could also f:
competition from welleapitalized entrants into the performance suspanai@ ride dynamics product market, as well asesgive pricin
tactics by other manufacturers trying to gain marslgare. As a result, our products may not be &bleompete successfully with ¢
competitors’ products, which could negatively affear business, financial condition or results péations.
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Our business is sensitive to economic conditionatthmpact consumer spending. Our suspension anceritiynamics products, and the b
and powered vehicles into which they are incorpadt are discretionary purchases and may be advegrselpacted by changes in t
economy.

Our business depends substantially on global ecmnand market conditions. In particular, we belighiat currently a significant majority
the end users of our products live in the Uniteatedt and countries in Europe. These areas are #itthee process of recovering from reces
or, in some cases, are still struggling with reimessdisruption in banking and/or financial systerasonomic weakness and uncertaint
addition, our products are recreational in nature @are generally discretionary purchases by consurfimnsumers are usually more willing
make discretionary purchases during periods ofri#ve general economic conditions and high consuwrosfidence. Discretionary spend
may also be affected by many other factors, indgaditerest rates, the availability of consumeditreaxes and consumer confidence in fu
economic conditions. During periods of unfavorabmnomic conditions, or periods when other negatharket factors exist, consur
discretionary spending is typically reduced, whichurn could reduce our product sales and havegative effect on our business, finan
condition or results of operations.

There could also be a number of secondary effeststing from an economic downturn, such as insalyef our suppliers resulting in prod
delays, an inability of our OEM and distributor athelaler customers to obtain credit to finance pasel of our products, customers dela
payment to us for the purchase of our products tduBnancial hardship or an increase in bad delpeage. Any of these effects ca
negatively affect our business, financial conditimresults of operations.

If we are unable to maintain our premium brand imagour business may suffe

Our products are selected by both OEMs and deatetslistributors in part because of the premiunmdraputation we hold with them and
end users. Therefore, our success depends on itity edbmaintain and build the image of our brandg¢e have focused on building our bra
through producing products or acquiring businegbas produce products that we believe are innogathigh in performance and hig
reliable. In addition, our brands benefits from ationg relationships with our OEM customers andlels and distributors and throt
marketing programs aimed at bike and powered velinthusiasts in various media and other chanRefsexample, we sponsor a numbe
professional athletes and professional race tebmwder to continue to enhance our brand imagewileneed to maintain our position in 1
suspension and ride dynamics products industrycantinue to provide high quality products and seasi Also, we will need to continue
invest in sponsorships, marketing and public reteti

There can be no assurance, however, that we wilbiee to maintain or enhance the strength of oands in the future. Our brands coulc
adversely impacted by, among other things:

. failure to develop new products that are innoxgtperformance and reliable;

. internal product quality control issues;

. product quality issues on the bikes and powegdtdcles on which our products are installed;

. product recalls;

. high profile component failures (such as a congmbrfiailure during a race on a mountain bike riddgmmn athlete that we sponsor);
. negative publicity regarding our sponsored aédpt

. high profile injury or death to one of our sporexbathletes;

. inconsistent uses of our brand and our otheléuteial property assets, as well as failure tdgarbour intellectual property; and

. changes in consumer trends and perceptions.

Any adverse impact on our brand could in turn nigght affect our business, financial condition esults of operations.

A significant portion of our sales are highly depdant on the demand for hi¢-end bikes and their suspension components and aanal
decline in the demand for these bikes or their saspion components could have a material adversedaffon our business or results
operations.

During 2014 , approximately 58% of our sales weraegated from the sale of suspension productsifdrdnd bikes. Part of our success
been attributable to the growth in the high-endebikdustry, including increases in average re@iés prices, as bettperforming produc
designs and technologies have been incorporatedhiese products. If the popularity of high-engpmrmiumpriced bikes does not increast
declines, the number of bike enthusiasts seekirolp dikes or premium priced suspension products,elgheranks and other specii
components for their bikes does not increase diraes; or the average price point of these bikedimes, we may fail to achieve future gro
or our sales could decrease, and our businessgcfalaondition or
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results of operations could be negatively affectedaddition, if current bike enthusiasts stop paging our products due to change
preferences, we may fail to achieve future growtlowr sales could be decreased, and our busirigascial condition or results of operatit
could be negatively affected.

Our growth in the powered vehicle category is degent upon our continued ability to expand our produsales into powered vehicles t
require performance suspension and the continuegarsion of the market for these powered vehicles.

Our growth in the powered vehicle category is irt pétributable to the expansion of the marketdowered vehicles that require performe
suspension products. Such market growth includesitsation of new classes of vehicles that neegpmducts, such as Side-IBjdes, and ol
ability to create products for these vehicles.ha évent these markets stopped expanding or ctedraar we are unsuccessful in creating
products for these markets or other competitorgesgfully enter into these markets, we may faédhieve future growth or our sales cc
decrease, and our business, financial conditioeurlts of operations could be negatively affected.

A disruption in the operations of our manufacturindacilities, including any disruption in connectiorwith moving a majority of th
manufacturing of our bike suspension component prads to our facility in Taiwan, could have a negaé effect on our business, financ
condition or results of operations.

We are in the process of transitioning the majooitypur bike suspension component product manufiactwoperations to our bike suspen
component facility in Taichung, Taiwan. We conteatplthat this transition will continue through 2045 which time we anticipate that
majority of the manufacturing of our bike suspenst@mponent products will be completed in TaiwaariBg our transition process, we \
incur some duplication of facilities, equipment apersonnel, the amount of which could vary matlrifilom our projections. Also, tl
transition process could cause manufacturing probland give rise to execution risks, including wiisions to employees, negative impac
employee morale and retention, delays in recoggigifiiciencies or increased costs of manufacturangl adverse impacts on our prot
quality and delivery times. In addition, we couliteunter unforeseen difficulties resulting from thistance and time zone differences bet\
our main operations in California and our Taiwammofacturing facilities.

Equipment failures, delays in deliveries or catgshic loss at any of our facilities could lead toguction or service disruptions, curtailme
or shutdowns. In the event of a stoppage in preoliar a slowdown in production due to high emplyearnover or a labor dispute at an’
our facilities, even if only temporary, or if weerience delays as a result of events that arenolegrar control, delivery times to our custon
could be severely affected. If there was a manufag disruption in any of our manufacturing faids, we might be unable to meet prox
delivery requirements and our business, finanaaddtion or results of operations could be neg#fiadfected, even if the disruption w
covered in whole or in part by our business infation insurance. Any significant delay in deliveri® our customers could lead to increi
returns or cancellations, expose us to damage sl&iom our customers or damage our brand and,rim twegatively affect our busine
financial condition or results of operations.

Work stoppages or other disruptions at seaportsldoadversely affect our operating results.

A significant portion of our goods move throughtsasn the Western Coast of the United States. We haglobal supply chain and we img
products from our third party vendors as well aseax Taiwan facility into the U.S. largely througlorts on the West Coast. Freight arri
at West Coast ports must be offloaded from shipbgshoremen, none of whom are our employees. ®\Msot control the activities of the
employees or seaports and we could suffer supg@indisruptions due to any disputes, capacity siged, slowdowns or shutdowns which |
occur as was recently experienced on the weekeRelmiuary 73, 2015, where West Coast ports were shut downrasudt of a labor dispu
The ongoing labor dispute then led to an additigomat shutdown for four days between February T 52and February 16, 2015. While
West Coast ports labor dispute recently ended wiffive year agreement, it lasted longer than wedasted. We expect that a backlo
shipments will exist for some period of time asault of the dispute, and any similarly occurriagdr dispute, which could potentially hax
negative effect on both our current period andriuperiod operating results.

Our business depends substantially on the contirgiefforts of our senior management, and our busisemay be severely disrupted if
lose their services.

We are heavily dependent upon the contributiohentand leadership of our senior management tparnticularly our Chief Executive Office
Larry L. Enterline. We do not have a "key persdfe insurance policy on Mr. Enterline or any othey employees. We believe that the
twelve members of our senior management team are keytdblising our focus and executing our corporatatsgies as they have exten:
knowledge of our systems and processes. Giveneniorsmanagement teasnknowledge of the suspension products industrythedimitec
number of direct competitors in the industry, wéicse that it could be difficult to find replacemsrshould any of the members of our se
management team leave. Our inability to find su&aleplacements for any of the members of our sen@nagement team could negati
affect our business, financial condition or resoftsperations.
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We depend on skilled engineers to develop and eeair products, and the failure to attract and rétasuch individuals could adverse
affect our business.

We rely on skilled and welikained engineers for the design and productiomwf products, as well as in our research and dpuso
functions. Competition for such individuals is inge, particularly in Silicon Valley near where dwgadquarters are located. Our inabilit
attract or retain qualified employees in our desjgduction or research and development funct@rnslsewhere in our company could re
in diminished quality of our products and delinquproduction schedules, impede our ability to depatew products and harm our busin
financial condition or results of operations.

We may not be able to sustain our past growth ocaessfully implement our growth strategy, which mhgve a negative effect on @
business, financial condition or results of operatis.

We grew our sales from approximately $272.7 millior2013 to approximately $306.7 million in 201%his growth rate may be unsustaine
Our future growth will depend upon various factdrgluding the strength of the image of our branois; ability to continue to produ
innovative suspension and ride dynamics producissuemer acceptance of our products, competitivelions in the marketplace, the gro
in emerging markets for products requiring high-exuspension products and, in general, the contigredth of the higrend bike an
powered vehicle markets into which we sell our jiaid. Our beliefs regarding the future growth ofrkets for highend suspension produ
are based largely on qualitative judgments andtdichisources and may not be reliable. If we are lensb sustain our past growth
successfully implement our growth strategy, outifess, financial condition or results of operationsld be negatively affected.

The professional athletes and race teams who useproducts are an important aspect of the imageonfr brands. The loss of the support
professional athletes for our products or the indiby to attract new professional athletes may haour business

If our products are not used by current or futumefgssional athletes and race teams, our brandd tmse value and our sales could dec
While our sponsorship agreements typically reswiat sponsored athletes and race teams from progagéhdorsing or using competitors’
products that compete directly within our produategories during the term of the sponsorship ageegsnwe do not typically have loterr
contracts with any of the athletes or race teamsmvive sponsor.

If we are unable to maintain our current relatiapshwith these professional athletes and race tedntisese professional athletes and
teams are no longer popular, if our sponsored tathland race teams fail to have success or if weuaable to continue to attract
endorsement of new professional athletes and emeed in the future, the value of our brands andsala@s could decline.

We depend on our relationships with dealers andtdi®itors and their ability to sell and service oyroducts. Any disruption in the:
relationships could harm our sales.

We sell our aftermarket products to dealers anttibligors, and we depend on their willingness abititg to market and sell our products
consumers and provide customer and product seasaeeeded. We also rely on our dealers and distribtio be knowledgeable about
products and their features. If we are not abledocate our dealers and distributors so that they effectively sell our products as part
positive buying experience, or if they fail to irepient effective retail sales initiatives, focudisglefforts on our competitorgroducts, reduc
the quantity of our products that they sell or ltheir operations due to financial difficulties atherwise, our brand and business ¢
suffer.

We do not control our dealers or distributors arahynof our contracts allow these entities to offar competitorsproducts. Our competitc
may incentivize our dealers and distributors toofatheir products. In addition, we do not have ldegn contracts with a majority of ¢
dealers and distributors, and our dealers andlalistrs are not obligated to purchase specifiedwarsoof our products. In fact, the majority
our dealers and distributors buy from us on a paselorder basis. Consequently, with little or nthoep many of these dealers and distribt
may terminate their relationships with us or matérireduce their purchases of our products. Ifwege to lose one or more of our dealer
distributors, we would need to obtain a new deatedistributor to cover the particular locationmoduct line, which may not be possible
favorable terms or at all. Alternatively, we couisle our own sales force to replace such a dealdistsibutor, but expanding our sales fc
into new locations takes a significant amount ofetiand resources and may not be successful. Funtiagry of our international distributi
contracts contain exclusivity arrangements, whicély rprevent us from replacing or supplementing aunrent distributors under certi
circumstances.

We are a supplier in the higlend bike and powered vehicles markets, and our bass is dependent in large part on the orders weeie¢
from our OEM customers and from their succe:

As a supplier to OEM customers, we are dependelatrge part on the success of the business of &M Qustomers. Model year changes
our OEM customers may adversely impact our salesaase our sales to vary from quarter to quarterddition, losses in market sh
individually or a decline in the overall market @fir OEM customers or the discontinuance by our QOftigtomers of their products wh
incorporate our products could negatively impacthmusiness, financial condition or results
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of operations. For example, if our bike producingMD customers reduce production of their higihd bikes, their orders to us for our prod
would in turn be reduced, which could negativefgetf our business, financial condition or resuftsperations.

A relatively small number of customers account farsubstantial portion of our sales. The loss of all a substantial portion of our sales
any of these customers, whether through the tempgrar permanent discontinuation of their productshich incorporate our products ¢
otherwise, or the loss of market share by thesetomsers could have a material adverse impact on nd aur results of operations.

Sales attributable to our five largest OEM custanemich can vary from year to year, collectivetg@unted for approximately 34%42% an
40% of our sales in 2014, 2013 and 2QX2spectively. The loss of all or a substantiatipa of our sales to any of these OEM custon
whether through the temporary or permanent disoaation of their products which incorporate ourdarcts or otherwise, or the loss of ma
share by these customers could have a materiatsalirapact on our business, financial conditionesults of operations.

We refer to the branded bike OEMs that use our yetsdthroughout this document as "our customexst OEM customers" or "our bi
OEM customers,". Branded bike OEMs often use cohtranufacturers to manufacture and assemble ltiieds. As a result, even though
typically negotiate price and volume requiremeritedlly with our bike OEM customers, it is the c@ut manufacturers that frequently pl
the purchase orders with us and are responsiblgafging us (rather than the branded bike OEMs)ntGgan OEM and contract manufacti
used by certain of our bike OEM customers. SaleGitmt accounted for approximately 14% , 17% an®% 18 our sales 12014, 2013 ar
2012, respectively. In the event Giant were to expe@emanufacturing or other problems, or were totfaipay us, it could have a mate
adverse impact on our business, financial condiioresults of operations.

Currency exchange rate fluctuations could impactags margins and expenses, in particular, potent@quisition related expenses rela
to the Race Face/Easton acquisition.

Foreign currency fluctuations could in the futueé an adverse effect on our business, financiadition or results of operations. We sell

products inside and outside of the United Statawagyily in U.S. Dollars. However, some of the OEPIsrchasing products from us sell ti
products in Europe and other foreign markets usliregEuro and other foreign currencies. As a resultthe U.S. Dollar appreciates age
these foreign currencies, our products will becoelatively more expensive for these OEMs. Accortlingompetitive products that our OE
customers can purchase in other currencies mayneeowore attractive and we could lose sales as thEdés seek to replace our products
cheaper alternatives. In addition, should the D@lar depreciate significantly, this could have #iffect of decreasing our gross margins
adversely impact our business, financial conditonesults of operations. With a majority of ourmaacturing operations for our bike prodt
occurring in Taiwan, a percentage of our sales exgenses are denominated in the New Taiwan DdHhould the New Taiwan Doll
appreciate against the U.S. Dollar, this could haeeeffect of decreasing our sales, increasingegpenses, and decreasing our profitability.

Additionally, with the acquisition of Race Face/fas certain of our operations take place in Carsadha percentage of our sales and exp
are denominated in Canadian dollars. The acquisélso included approximately $16.9 million of eaut compensation contingently paya
denominated in Canadian Dollars. Our operatingifatoifity could be negatively impacted as a resdilthanges in the exchange rate bet\
the U.S. Dollar and the Canadian Dollar.

Our international operations are exposed to riskssaciated with conducting business globally.

As a result of our international presence, we am@osed to increased risks inherent in conductingjrmss outside of the United States
addition to foreign currency risks, these riskdude:

. difficulty in transporting materials internationgllincluding labor disputes at West Coast portsctvinandle a large amot
of our products;

. increased difficulty in protecting our intelleedyproperty rights and trade secrets;

. changes in tax laws and the interpretation o$¢hlaws;

. exposure to local economic conditions;

. unexpected government action or changes in legadgulatory requirements;

. geopolitical regional conflicts, terrorist actiyi political unrest, civil strife, acts of war anther political uncertainty;

. changes in tariffs, quotas, trade barriers ahdrasimilar restrictions on sales;

. the effects of any anti-American sentiments onloands or sales of our products;
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. increased difficulty in ensuring compliance by eayges, agents and contractors with our policiesedlsas with the laws
multiple jurisdictions, including but not limited the U.S. Foreign Corrupt Practices Act, locatinational environmental, health :
safety laws, and increasingly complex regulatiaiating to the conduct of international commerce;

. increased difficulty in controlling and monitoririgreign operations from the United States, inclgdimcreased difficulty i
identifying and recruiting qualified personnel four foreign operations; and

. increased difficulty in staffing and managingdigm operations or international sales.
An adverse change in any of these conditions cloale a negative effect upon our business, finagociadlition or results of operations.

Our sales could be adversely impacted by the disoupor cessation of sales by other bike componemnufacturers or if other bik
component manufacturers enter into the specialtidicomponent market.

Most of the bikes incorporating our suspension potsl also utilize products and components manufadtiy other bike compone
manufacturers. If such component manufacturers wei@ase selling their products and componenta standalone basis, their sales
disrupted, or their competitive market positiorr@putation is diminished, customers could migratedmpetitors that sell complementary |
products which we do not sell. Moreover, such lmkeponent manufacturers could begin manufacturikg suspension products, wheels
cranks, or bundle their bike components with susjgenproducts, wheels or cranks manufactured bypetitors. If any of the foregoing we
to occur, our sales could decrease and our busifieascial condition or results of operations @bslffer.

We have been and may become subject to intellecpraperty disputes that could cause us to incurrdfgcant costs or pay significat
damages or that could prohibit us from selling oproducts.

As we develop new products or attempt to utilize lsands in connection with new products, we seekvbid infringing the valid patents ¢
other intellectual property rights of our compatitoHowever, from time to time, third parties halleged, or may allege in the future, that
products and/or trademarks infringe upon their getary rights. We will evaluate any such claimslawhere appropriate, may obtain or ¢
to obtain licenses or other business arrangeméatsate, there have been no significant interrugtio our business as a result of any cl
of infringement, and we do not hold patent infrimgat insurance. Any claim, regardless of its meoyld be expensive, time consumin
defend and distract management from our businesseder, if our products or brands are found toirige thirdparty intellectual proper
rights, we may be unable to obtain a license to sugsh technology or associated intellectual prgpeghts on acceptable terms. A cc
determination that our brands, products or manufaxg processes infringe the intellectual propeigyts of others could result in significi
liability and/or require us to make material chamgeour products and/or manufacturing processgsemiude our ability to use certain brai
In most circumstances, we are not indemnified for ase of a licensog’ intellectual property, if such intellectual propgeis found to b
infringing. Any of the foregoing results could causs to, and we could incur substantial costseiesign our products or defend legal act
and such costs could negatively affect our busijrfesmncial condition or results of operations.

If we are unable to enforce our intellectual propgrrights, our reputation and sales could be adwysaffected

Intellectual property is an important componenbof business. We patent our proprietary technotogitated to vehicle suspension and ¢
products in the U.S. and various foreign paterice#f. Additionally, we have registered or have mupfor trademarks and service marks
the United States Patent and Trademark Office amshaber of foreign countries, including the markd®, FOX RACING SHOX®, RACE
FACE ®and REDEFINE YOUR LIMITS?, to be utilized with certain goods and services. Whappropriate, we may from time to time as
our rights against those who infringe on our patemademarks, trade dress, or other intellectuzpgrty. We may not, however, be succe:
in enforcing our patents or asserting trademadddrname or trade dress protection with respestitdrand names and our product des
and third parties may seek to oppose or challengeatents or trademark registrations. Furthersdéhegal efforts may not be successfi
reducing sales of suspension products by thosmgnfig. In addition, our pending patent applicationay not result in the issuance of pat
and even issued patents may be contested, circuetven invalidated and may not provide us with pietary protection or competiti
advantages. If our efforts to develop and enforgeimtellectual property are unsuccessful, ortifiiad party misappropriates our rights, this 1
adversely affect our business, financial conditiwrresults of operations. Additionally, intellectymoperty protection may be unavailable
limited in some foreign countries where laws or kemforcement practices may not protect our progryetights as fully as in the United Sta
and it may be more difficult for us to successfudhyallenge the use of our proprietary rights byeotbarties in these countries. Furthernr
other competitors may be able to successfully predqaroducts which imitate certain of our producithaut infringing upon any of our pater
trademarks or trade dress. The failure to prevetimit infringements and imitations, could hav@ermanent negative impact on the pricin
our products or reduce our product sales and ptadacgins, even if we are ultimately successfuirniting the distribution of a product tt
infringes our rights, which in turn may affect dausiness, financial condition or results of operadi
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Although we enter into nodisclosure agreements with employees, OEMSs, digtils and others to protect our confidential infation ani
trade secrets, we may be unable to prevent sudkepdrom breaching these agreements with us aimd) wir intellectual property in .
unauthorized manner. If our efforts to protect miellectual property are unsuccessful, or if adtparty misappropriates our rights this t
adversely affect our business. Defending our ietélial property rights can be very expensive am& ttonsuming, and there is no assur
that we will be successful.

If we inaccurately forecast demand for our productse may manufacture insufficient or excess quaig# or our manufacturing costs cou
increase, which could adversely affect our business

We plan our manufacturing capacity based upondhechsted demand for our products. In the OEM oblaimur forecasts are based in l¢
part on the number of our product specificationsrfew bikes and powered vehicles and on projectfoor® our OEM customers. In t
aftermarket channel, our forecasts are based {haxia discussions with our dealers and distribsitas well as our own assessment of ma
If we incorrectly forecast demand we may incur ifyassues in our manufacturing plant and supjplgie, increased material costs, increi
freight costs and additional overtime, all of whichturn adversely impact our cost of sales andgrass margin. Economic weakness
uncertainty in the United States, Europe and atbantries may make accurate forecasting partigutdrallenging.

In the future, if actual demand for our productsemds forecasted demand, the margins on our inotaivsales in excess of anticipated ¢
may be lower due to temporary higher costs, whiahld: result in a decrease in our overall marginfilgVwe generally manufacture «
products upon receipt of customer orders, if acmiand is less than the forecasted demand forpmducts and we have alre:
manufactured the products or committed to purchaaterials in support of forecasted demand, we cbelfbrced to hold excess inventor
In short, either excess or insufficient productitue to inaccurate forecasting could have a negaffeet on our business, financial conditiol
results of operations.

Product recalls, and significant product repair afar replacement due to product warranty costs ardims have had, and in the futu
could have, a material adverse impact on our busiae

Unless otherwise required by law, we generally e\ limited warranty for our products for a oméwo year period beginning on: (i) in 1
case of OEM sales, the date the bike or powerettlieeis purchased from an authorized OEM whereproduct is incorporated as origi
equipment on the purchased bike or powered velocléi) in the case of aftermarket sales, the dia¢eproduct is originally purchased frorr
authorized dealer. From time to time, our customeay negotiate for longer or different warranty emge. In the ordinary course of busin
we incur warranty costs and reserve against susts @o our financial statements. However, there fisk that we could experience higher 1
expected warranty costs if we become aware of atenperforming product. For example, in 2012 we éased our reserve and inclu
additional costs of approximately $1.8 million tflect the costs of repairing or replacing certdampers in our suspension products
experienced other related costs of approximatel® #dillion. We may in the future encounter simitdtuations and be forced to make o
adjustments to our warranty reserves or incur dosggcess of these reserves which could advesastdgt our results of operations.

We may also be required to or voluntarily partitgpi recalls involving our products or compondhemny prove to be defective. For exam
during calendar year 2013, we initiated a voluntagall of certain model year 2013 32 and 34 EvofuSeries suspension forks having
mm -160 mm of travel with certain dampers manufacturgds between March 1, 2012 and November 30, 2@1&ddition to the direct co:
related to this or other recalls we may be foraediidertake in the future, such events could adWemffect our brand image and hav
negative effect on our relationships with our OEMgonsored athletes and race teams, or otherwise d@egative effect on our busin
financial condition and results of operations

An adverse determination in any material productliility claim against us could adversely affect owperating results or financie
condition.

The use of our products by consumers, often ungigerae conditions, exposes us to risks associaféd pvoduct liability claims. If ot
products are defective or used incorrectly by awst@mers, bodily injury, property damage or othgury, including death, may result ¢
could give rise to product liability claims agains, whichcould adversely affect our brand image or reputativ¥e have encountered proc
liability claims in the past and carry product lidl insurance to help protect us against the £adtsuch claims, although our insurance
not be sufficient to cover all losses. Any losdest twve may suffer from any liability claims, ancdktbffect that any product liability litigati
may have upon the reputation and marketability wof mroducts, may have a negative impact on oumiessi financial condition or results
operations.

Our Amended and Restated 2013 Credit Facility plsoperating restrictions on us and creates defaigks.

The Amended and Restated 2013 Credit Facility éosteovenants that place restrictions on our opgyatctivities. These covenants, am
other things, limit our ability to:

. pay dividends or make distributions to our stamklers or redeem our stock;

. incur additional indebtedness or permit additl@raumbrances on our assets; and
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. make acquisitions or complete mergers or salessdts, or engage in new businesses.

These restrictions may interfere with our abilibyabtain financing or to engage in other businesiziies, which may have a material adve
effect on our business, financial condition or fessaf operations.

If we are unable to comply with the covenants coweid in our Amended and Restated 2013 Credit Fgciti could constitute an event
default and our lenders could declare all borrowingtstanding, together with accrued and unpagtest, to be immediately due and pay:
If we are unable to repay or otherwise refinan@séhborrowings when due, our lenders could seltthiateral securing our credit faciliti
which constitutes substantially all of our assets.

Our outstanding indebtedness under our secured dréakility bears interest at a variable rate, witianakes us more vulnerable to increa
in interest rates and could cause our interest erpe to increase and decrease cash available foraf@ns and other purposes.

In connection with our purchase of the businesSpirt Truck in March 2014, we entered into the Adezhand Restated 2013 Credit Faci
which provided a maturing secured Term Loan inghecipal amount of $50.0 million. On December 2014, the Company entered into
First Amendment to the Amended and Restated 20&8itfacility. The First Amendment increased thenT&oan by the principal amount
$30.0 million to a total of $56.8 millionsubject to quarterly amortization payments, axtéreded the maturity of the Amended and Res
Credit Facility through December 12, 2019. Borraygrunder our Amended and Restated 2013 Creditifyaodar interest on a variable r
which increases and decreases based upon charngesuinderlying interest rate and/or our leveragior Any such increases in the interest
or increases of our borrowings under the AmendedRestated 2013 Credit Facility will increase mierest expense.

As of December 31, 2014 , we had $50.0 millmmindebtedness, bearing interest at a variable, mttstanding under the Amended
Restated 2013 Credit Facility. Recent interestsratéhe United States have been at historicallylevels, and any increase in these rates v
increase our interest expense and reduce our favaltable for operations and other purposes. Altinofrtom time to time we may enter il
agreements to hedge a portion of our interest eafsure, these agreements may be costly and mtagroiect against all interest r
fluctuations. Accordingly, we may experience maeincreases in our interest expense as a resultcofases in interest rate levels genel
Based on the $50.0 million of variable interese nadebtedness that was outstanding as of Dece3db@014, a hypothetical 100 basis pc
increase or decrease in the interest rate would hesulted in an approximately $0.5 milliohange to our interest expense for the year ¢
December 31, 2014 .

We are subject to certain risks in our manufactudrand in the testing of our products.

As of December 31, 2014 , we employed approximaleB00 fulltime employees worldwide, a large percentage ofclwhivork at ou
manufacturing facilities. Our business involves ptew manufacturing processes that can be inhereathgerous. Although we employ sa
procedures in the design and operation of ourifes] there is a risk that an accident or deatiiccoccur in one of our facilities. Also, prior
the introduction of new products, our employees ties products under rigorous conditions, whichoiwe the risk of injury or death. Al
accident could result in manufacturing or produslagls, which could negatively affect our busindissncial condition or results of operatic
The outcome of litigation is difficult to assessquantify and the cost to defend litigation carslgmificant. As a result, the costs to defend
action or the potential liability resulting from yasuch accident or death or arising out of any rothigation, and any negative public
associated therewith, could have a negative effiectur business, financial condition or resultepérations.

We are subject to extensive United States federal atate, foreign and international safety, envirorental, employment practices and otl
government regulations that may require us to incexpenses or modify product offerings in order toaimtain compliance with suc
regulation, which could have a negative effect oardusiness and results of operations.

We are subject to extensive laws and regulatiolagimg to safety, environmental, and other laws esgllations promulgated by the Uni
States federal and state governments, as wellragfoand international regulatory authorities.haligh we believe that our products, poli
and processes comply with applicable safety, enuiental, and other standards and related reguatifaiure regulations may reqt
additional safety standards that would require tiattil expenses and/or modification of product iififgs in order to maintain such compliar
Failure to comply with applicable regulations cotddult in fines, increased expenses to modifypsaducts and harm to our reputation, a
which could have an adverse effect on our busirdigss)cial condition or results of operations.

Moreover, certain of our customer contracts requseto comply with the standards of voluntary stadeetting organizations, such as
United States Consumer Product Safety Commissibe, National Highway Safety Administration, and Epgan Committee fi
Standardization (CEN). Failure to comply with theluntary requirements of such organizations coeklit in the loss of certain custor
contracts, which could have an adverse effect arbosiness, financial condition or results of opierss.
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We are subject to employment practice laws and tagjans and as such are exposed to litigation risks

We are subject to extensive laws and regulatiohating employment practices, including wage and rhawrongful termination ar
discrimination. Complying with such laws and regiaas, and defending against allegations of oulufaito comply (including meritle
allegations), can be expensive and time consunwWegbelieve that our policies and processes comjtly applicable employment standa
and related regulations, however, we are subjedsks of litigation by employees and others whicight involve allegations of illegal, unfi
or inconsistent employment practices, including evamd hour violations and employment discriminationisclassification of independ:
contractors as employees, wrongful termination@her concerns, which could require additional exjierres.

We are subject to environmental laws and regulatiand potential exposure for environmental costs drabilities.

Our operations, facilities and properties are suthije a variety of foreign, federal, state and ldaas and regulations relating to health, se
and the protection of the environment. These enwirental laws and regulations include those relatintdpe use, generation, storage, hanc
transportation, treatment and disposal of solid lamzirdous materials and wastes, emissions tdisgharges to waters and the investigz
and remediation of contamination. Many of thesesldmpose strict, retroactive, joint and severability upon owners and operators
properties, including with respect to environmemntalters that occurred prior to the time the paggame an owner or operator. In addition
may have liability with respect to third party site which we send waste for disposal. Failureammly with such laws and regulations
result in significant fines, penalties, costs, ilitibs or restrictions on operations that couldyatvely affect our business, financial conditian
results of operations. From time to time, we hagerbinvolved in administrative or legal proceedingating to environmental, health or sa
matters and have in the past incurred expenditefaing to such matters.

We believe that our operations are in substanthpliance with applicable environmental laws andutations. However, additior
environmental issues relating to presently knowruimknown matters could give rise to currently ui@pated investigation, assessmer
expenditures. Compliance with more stringent lawsregulations, as well as different interpretaticofs existing laws, more vigoro
enforcement by regulators or unanticipated evers)d require additional expenditures that may mtg affect our business, financ
condition or results of operations.

Federal, state, local, foreign and international\&s and regulations relating to landse, noise and air pollution may have a negativepawe!
on our future sales and results of operations.

The products in our powered vehicles line are useethicles which are subject to numerous fedstate, local, foreign and international I
and regulations relating to noise and ottution. Powered vehicles, and even bikes, ha@ine subject to laws and regulations prohib
their use on certain lands and trails. For exanmipl&an Mateo County, California, mountain bikes aot allowed on county trails, and A
and Side-bySide riding is not allowed in Zion National Parkp@ng many other national and state parks. In additiecreational snowmobili
has been restricted in some national parks anddedends in Canada, the United States and othentdes. If more of these laws ¢
regulations are passed and the users of our pmthss convenient locations to ride their mountiakes and powered vehicles, our sales ¢
decrease and our business, financial conditioesults of operations could suffer.

Fuel shortages, or high prices for fuel, could hagenegative effect on the use of powered vehiched tise our products.

Gasoline or diesel fuel is required for the operaf the powered vehicles that use our produdisrd can be no assurance that the sup
these fuels will continue uninterrupted, that nainy will not be imposed or that the price of ox tan these petroleum products will
significantly increase in the future. Shortagesga$oline and diesel fuel and substantial increaséise price of fuel could have a mate
adverse effect on our powered vehicle product cageim the future, which could have a negative &ffen our business, financial conditior
results of operations.

We do not control our suppliers or OEMs, or requitbem to comply with a formal code of conduct, aadtions that they might take cou
harm our reputation and sales.

We do not control our suppliers or OEMs or thelvdg environmental or other practices. A violatiohlabor, environmental, intellectt
property or other laws by our suppliers or OEMsadailure of these parties to follow generally gquted ethical business practices, could ¢
negative publicity and harm our reputation. In &ddi we may be required to seek alternative sepplor OEMs if these violations or failu
were to occur. We do not inspect or audit compkalog our suppliers or OEMs with these laws or [cast and we do not require our supp
or OEMs or licensees to comply with a formal cofleanduct. Any conduct or actions that our supplieould take could reduce demanc
our products, harm our ability to meet demand omhaur reputation, brand image, business, finarmmablition or results of operations.

19




Table of Contents

We depend on a limited number of suppliers for omaterials and component parts for some of our pratlk; and the loss of any of the
suppliers or an increase in cost of raw materialsutd harm our business

We depend on a limited number of suppliers foraiercomponents. If our current suppliers, in paitic the minority of those which ¢
"single-source" suppliers, are unable to timely fulfill erd, or if we are required to transition to othgpiers, we could experience signific
production delays or disruption to our business.d##ne a singlesource supplier as a supplier from which we puretaisof a particular ra
material or input used in our manufacturing operatj although other suppliers are available fronclvko purchase the same raw materi
input or an equivalent substitute. We do not méaintang term supply contracts with any of our sugqd and instead purchase tr
components on a purchase order basis. As a regiltannot force any supplier to sell us the necgssamponents we use in creating
products and we could face significant supply gitans should they refuse to do so. As the majasftypur bike component manufactur
occurs in Taiwan, we could experience difficuliesating qualified suppliers geographically locatdaser to these facilities. Furthermore, ¢
suppliers could experience difficulties in providims with some or all of the materials we requivhjch could result in disruptions in ¢
manufacturing operations. If we experience diffimd with our suppliers or manufacturing delays seali by our suppliers, whether
connection with our manufacturing operations inlthréted States or in Taiwan, our business, findrapadition and results of operations cc
be materially and adversely impacted.

In addition, we purchase various raw materials rileo to manufacture our products. The main comrgaitims purchased for product
include aluminum, magnesium, steel and carbonoHéstlly, price fluctuations for these componems aaw materials have not had a mat
impact on our business. In the future, howevengfexperience material increases in the price ofpmments or raw materials and are unak
pass on those increases to our customers, or @éherghortages in the availability of such compompamts or raw materials, it could negatiy
affect our business, financial condition or resofteperations.

In addition to our various single-source suppliers,also rely on one "sole-source" supplier, Miy@kirporation, or Miyaki. We define a sole-
source supplier as a supplier of a raw materidhput for which there is no other supplier of tren& product or an equivalent substil
Miyaki is the exclusive producer of the Kashimatauafor our suspension component tubes. As paduofagreement with Miyaki, we he
been granted the exclusive right to use the tradefi@ASHIMACOAT" on products comprising the alumimufinished parts for suspens
components (e.g., tubes) and on related sales ankieting material worldwide, subject to certain lasons. Although we believe we co
obtain other coatings of comparable utility fronmert sources if necessary, we could no longer olkésnspecific Kashima coating or use
trademark "KASHIMACOAT" if Miyaki were to stop suppng us with this coating. The need to replaceKlashima coating could temporal
disrupt our business and harm our business, finhnondition or results of operations.

New regulations related to conflict minerals mayrée us to incur additional expenses and otherwisb/arsely impact our busines

The U.S. Securities and Exchange Commission, oS#@, has promulgated final rules mandated by theédBrank Act regarding disclost
of the use of tin, tantalum, tungsten and gold,vkma@s conflict minerals, in products manufacturgdplnblic companies. These new rt
require ongoing due diligence to determine whetherh minerals originated from the Democratic Rejpubf Congo, or the DRC, or

adjoining country and whether such minerals hefpeghce the armed conflict in the DRC. Reportindjgdtions for the rule started on May
2014 and are required annually thereafter. As a peblic company, we will be required to comply witke reporting obligations beginni
with our fiscal year ended December 31, 2015. Thelidbe costs associated with complying with thdglosure requirements, including ct
to determine the origin of conflict minerals in gomoducts. The implementation of these rules awi thffect on customer, supplier anc
consumer behavior could adversely affect the sngrgupply and pricing of materials used in ourdpiais. As a result, we may also incur ¢
with respect to potential changes to products, ggses or sources of supply. We may face disquaiific as a supplier for customers

reputational challenges if the due diligence proced we implement do not enable us to verify thgims for all conflict minerals used in ¢
products or to determine if such conflict minerale conflictfree. Accordingly, the implementation of these suteuld have a material adve
effect on our business, results of operations arfolfancial condition.

The transition of a majority of the manufacturing foour bike suspension component products to our iféig in Taiwan may negativel
impact our brand image and consumer loyalty, whichturn could have a material adverse impact on domsiness and results of operatiol

As we transition the majority of the manufacturiofgour bike suspension component products to aeilitiain Taiwan, no assurances car
given that consumers may not be adversely influgtgethe fact that such products will no longemienufactured in the United States or
consumers and OEM customers may not otherwise igertieat the quality of our products is loweredaaesult of the fact that they will
manufactured overseas. Such perceptions could selyempact our business, financial condition @utts of operations.
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Federal health care reform legislation could increa our expenses and adversely impact our resultsparations.

In March 2010, the Patient Protection and AfforéaBhre Act and the Health Care and Education Rdiiion Act of 2010 were signed ir
law in the United States. These health care retams require employers such as us to provide hé&adilrance for all qualifying employees
pay penalties for not providing coverage. We arablm at this time to accurately predict the imphet these laws will have on our fut
health care benefit and insurance premium costandosts for temporary employees that we obtaiough agencies. If these costs incr
and we are unable to raise the prices we chargeumiomers to cover these increased expensesjrsuehses in costs could adversely im
our business, financial condition or results ofragiens.

We rely on increasingly complex information systerias management of our manufacturing, distributiorsales and other functions. If ot
information systems fail to perform these functioralequately or if we experience an interruption @ur operations, our business cot
suffer.

All of our major operations, including manufactigjrdistribution, sales and accounting, are depanggon our complex information systel
Our information systems are vulnerable to damageterruption from, among other things:

. earthquake, fire, flood, hurricane and other ratdisasters;
. power loss, computer systems failure, internettaiecommunications or data network failure; and
. hackers, computer viruses, software bugs ortgic

Any damage or significant disruption in the opematof such systems or the failure of our informatgystems to perform as expected ¢
disrupt our operations, reduce our efficiency, gedar fulfillment of customer orders or require rEigcant unanticipated expenditures
correct, and thereby have a negative effect orbasiness, financial condition or results of openagi

We could be negatively impacted by cybersecuritgcis.

We use a variety of information technology systémthe ordinary course of business, which are gty vulnerable to unauthorized acce
computer viruses and cyber attacks, including cyéarcks to our information technology infrastruetand attempts by others to gain acce
our propriety or sensitive information, and rangfrmm individual attempts to advanced persistergdts. The procedures and controls we
to monitor these threats and mitigate our exposag not be sufficient to prevent cyber securityideats. The results of these incidents ¢
include misstated financial data, theft of traderees or other intellectual property, liability fdisclosure of confidential customer, supplie
employee information, increased costs arising ftbm implementation of additional security proteetwmeasures, litigation and reputatic
damage, which could materially adversely affect fimancial condition, business and results of ofi@na. Any remedial costs or otl
liabilities related to cybersecurity incidents nmat be fully insured or indemnified by other means.

Our operations may be impaired if our informatiorethnology systems fail to perform adequately othiéy are the subject of a data bree
or cyber attack.

Information technology systems are critically imamit to operating our business. We rely on infoiomatechnology systems to man
business data, communications, supply chain, cedéy and fulfilment, and other business processée failure of any of the informati
technology systems to perform as anticipated cdidcupt our business and could result in transaatioors, processing inefficiencies and
loss of sales and customers, which could matergalisersely affect our financial condition, businaed results of operations.

We have grown and may continue to grow in the fututhrough acquisitions. Growth by acquisitions irlves risks and we may not be a
to effectively integrate businesses we acquire ermay not be able to identify or consummate anyufet acquisitions on favorable terms,
at all.

In 2014 we acquired certain assets of Sport Trackyll service distributor of aftermarket suspensgmlutions and certain assets of F
Face/Easton, a designer, manufacturer, and distritod performance mountain and road bike wheeksnks, and other performance cyc
components. We intend to selectively evaluate adtdit acquisitions in the future. Any acquisitigdhstt we might make are subject to vari
risks and uncertainties and could have a negatiy@ét on our business, financial condition or rssaf operations. These risks include
inability to integrate effectively the operatiopgpducts, technologies and personnel of the addjwioenpanies (some of which may be sp
out in different geographic regions), the inabilityachieve anticipated cost savings or operatymgrgies, the earauts we may contractua
obligate ourselves to pay, and the risk we maybeadble to effectively manage our operations ahereased scale of operations resulting 1
such acquisitions. In the event we do complete iattns in the future, such acquisitions couldeaffour cash flows and net income as
expend funds, increase indebtedness and incuri@llitexpenses in connection with pursuing acqaisit We may also issue shares of
common stock or other securities from time to timseconsideration for future acquisitions and invesits. We may not be able to identif
consummate any future acquisitions on favorablageor at all.
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We have significant earreut payment obligations relating to the acquisitisiof the businesses of Sport Truck and Race Facestira, whict
may adversely affect our liquidity and financial odition and results of operations.

In March 2014, we acquired the business of SpartR for approximately $40.8 millionUnder the terms of the asset purchase agreermn
the acquisition, we will be obligated to make aidial earn-out payments up to an aggregate of appedely $29.3 millionf the EBITDA of
the acquired business for the years ending Decethe?014, 2015 and 2016 exceeds approximately $dlibn, $10.8 million and $13
million, respectively, subject to a maximum paymehapproximately $8.1 million, $9.9 million and 3 million for each respective year
accounting for the acquisition of Sport Truck, vatablished a contingent consideration liability$d®.0 million . As of December 31, 2014
the recorded fair value contingent consideratia@bility was $21.3 million , based on the applicatiof the BlackScholes model -
management’s financial projections.

If, in the future, management's estimation techeggindicate an increase to the contingent congiderdiability or if higher EBITDA (a
defined in the acquisition agreement) for any peigactually achieved, we will need to accrue pag additional amounts. Such additic
accrual along with the payment of the contingentsateration could adversely impact our liquiditynaicial condition and results
operations.

On December 12, 2014, we acquired the business&acd Face/Easton for approximately $30.2 millickhe terms of the asset purct
agreement include a potential earn-out opportuoftyip to a maximum of $16.9 million contingent upon continued employment anc
achievement of certain performangased financial targets through October 2016. boawting for the acquisition of Race Face/Easthe
earn-out payments have been excluded from the @ersdion paid. We will recognize the estimated gaifi the earrout liability on a ratabl
basis as services are performed under the emplaysbégation. Our recognition of the eaon liability and the payment of amounts due ¢
adversely impact our liquidity, financial conditiamd results of operations.

Our operating results are subject to quarterly vations in our sales, which could make our operatimgsults difficult to predict and coul
adversely affect the price of our common stock.

We have experienced, and expect to continue torexme, substantial quarterly variations in ouesand net income. Our quarterly resul
operations fluctuate, in some cases significaasya result of a variety of other factors, inclgdiamong other things:

. the timing of new product releases or other gigant announcements by us or our competitors;
. new advertising initiatives;

. fluctuations in raw materials and component gastsl

. changes in our practices with respect to buildinvgntory.

As a result of these quarterly fluctuations, corigmars of our operating results between differerrtprs within a single year are not necess
meaningful and may not be accurate indicators offwiure performance. Any quarterly fluctuationattive report in the future may differ fre
the expectations of market analysts and investangh could cause the price of our common stockuctuate significantly. We also belie
that the seasonal nature of our business may hesre vershadowed over each of the past few yearsodine rapid growth in sales we h
experienced during the same period.

Our beliefs regarding the future growth of the parfmance suspension and ride dynamics product mar&et supported by qualitative de
and limited sources and may not be reliable. A retlan or lack of continued growth in the popularitgf high-end bikes, bikes or power
vehicles or in the number of consumers who are wifj to pay premium prices for well-designed perfaance-oriented equipment in th
markets in which we sell our products could adveysaffect our product sales and profits, financiabndition or results of operations.

We generate virtually all of our revenues from sal&performance suspension and ride dynamics ptedQur beliefs regarding the outlool
the performance suspension product market come duaiitative data and limited sources, which mayb®reliable. If our beliefs regardi
the opportunities in the market for our produces iacorrect or the number of consumers who we belae willing to pay premium prices
well-designed performanagdiented equipment in the markets in which we sell products does not increase, or declines, we faiayo
achieve future growth and our business, finan@abdion or results of operations could be neg#tiaéfected.
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Risks related to ownership of our common stock

The trading price of our common stock may be vdiatiand you might not be able to sell your shardsoa above the price you pay for t
shares.

The trading price of our common stock could be tilelaand you could lose all or part of your invasnt in our common stock. Since our |
in 2013, our stock price has fluctuated between®2@nd $13.35 per share and such volatility manticoe in the future. Factors affecting
trading price of our common stock could include:

. variations in our operating results or those wf competitors;

. new product or other significant announcementsgr our competitors;

. changes in our product mix;

. changes in consumer preferences;

. fluctuations in currency exchange rates;

. the gain or loss of significant customers;

. recruitment or departure of key personnel,

. changes in the estimates of our operating resulthanges in recommendations by any securitiesystsathat elect to follow o
common stock;

. changes in general economic conditions as wedbaslitions affecting our industry in particulanda
. sales of our common stock by us, our significiatkholders or our directors or executive officers

In addition, in recent years, the stock market éngserienced significant price fluctuations. Fludioms in the stock market generally or v
respect to companies in our industry could causetrthding price of our common stock to fluctuate feasons unrelated to our busin
operating results or financial condition. Some canips that have had volatile market prices forrtbecurities have had securities class ac
filed against them. A suit filed against us, redesd of its merits or outcome, could cause us tarirsubstantial costs and could di
management’s attention.

Future sales of our shares, or the perception ttsaich sales may occur, could cause our stock prizelécline.

If our existing stockholders sell substantial anteuof our common stock in the public market, or pegceived by the public market
intending to sell, the trading price of our comnstack could decline. As of December 31, 2014 , &e B7,077,624hares of common stc
outstanding of which 18,355,570 are freely tradahl¢he public market. As of December 31, 2014 ,688,154shares of common stc
outstanding were held by directors, executive eficand other affiliates and are subject to volame manner of sale limitations under F
144 under the Securities Act.

After our IPO, we filed a registration statemententhe Securities Act to register shares of oumroon stock that we may issue under
equity plans. As a result, all such shares canréayf sold in the public market upon issuance, ettbjo any vesting or contractual logg-
agreements.

In addition, our Amended and Restated Certificdtdnoorporation authorizes us to issue 90,000,008ress of common stock, of wh
37,077,624 shares were outstanding as of Decenih@034. In the future, we may issue additional sharesoofimon stock or other equity
debt securities convertible into common stock imrextion with a financing, acquisition or otherwigk any of these additional sha
described are sold, or if it is perceived that thély’be sold, in the public market, the tradinggerof our common stock could decline.

We are an "emerging growth company,” and the redutdisclosure requirements applicable to emergin@gth companies could make @
common stock less attractive to investors.

We are an "emerging growth company,” as definethenJOBS Act. For as long as we are an emergingitgrcompany, we may ta
advantage of certain exemptions from various rémpgprequirements that are applicable to other putdimpanies that are not emerging grc
companies, including, but not limited to, not beireguired to comply with the auditor attestatioguieements of Section 404(b) of
Sarbane®xley Act of 2002, reduced disclosure obligatioegarding executive compensation in our periodiorspand proxy statements
exemptions from the requirements of holding adyissay-on-pay" and "say-when-gray" votes on executive compensation and sharet
advisory votes on golden parachute compensationwilVeemain an emerging growth company until tlegliest of (i) the last day of the fisi
year during which we have total annual gross regsraf $1 billion or more; (ii) the last day of tfigcal year following the fifth anniversary
the completion of our IPO; (iii) the date on whiek have, during the previous three-year periodieidsnore than $1 billion in natenvertible
debt; or (iv) the date on which we are deemed ta Harge accelerated filer” under the Exchange Act

23




Table of Contents

We cannot predict if investors will find our commstock less attractive to the extent we rely ors¢hexemptions. If some investors find
common stock less attractive as a result, there Ipeag less active trading market for our commowksend our stock price may be m
volatile.

If securities or industry analysts do not publiskesearch or publish unfavorable research about ourdiness, our stock price and tradi
volume could decline.

The trading market for our common stock dependsain on the research and reports that securiti@gdoistry analysts publish about us or
business. If one or more of the analysts who cousrglowngrades our stock or publishes unfavoraddearch about our business or
industry, our stock price would likely decline.dfie or more of these analysts ceases coverage ebmpany or fails to publish reports or
regularly, demand for our stock could decreaseckwhould cause our stock price and trading volumdetline.

Compass and our directors and officers and insidéesse substantial control over us and will be aliteinfluence corporate matters.

As of December 31, 2014, Compass beneficially oamgroximately 40.8%f our outstanding common stock. Compass, our wirecant
executive officers, and their affiliates benefiliabwn, in the aggregate, approximately 50.4%0ur outstanding common stock. As a re
these stockholders are able to exercise significdiuience over all matters requiring stockholdpprval, including the election of directc
amendment of our Amended and Restated Certifidaliecorporation, and approval of any merger, coiastion, or sale of all, or substantie
all, of our assets or other significant corporansactions. In addition, Compass continues to ligwet on all matters before our boarc
directors because our director Elias Sabo is affii with Compass. Compass may also delay or prevehange of control or otherw
discourage a potential acquirer from attemptinglitain control of us, even if such a change of mdntould benefit our other stockholders.
long as Compass or any of its affiliates contimuéntlirectly own a significant amount of our outslang common stock, they will continue
be able to significantly influence our decisions.

In addition, Compass is in the business of makitvgstments in companies and may from time to tiogpiiae and hold interests in busine:
that may compete directly or indirectly with us.imass may also pursue acquisition opportunitielsateacomplementary to our business
as a result, those acquisition opportunities mayeavailable to us.

Anti-takeover provisions in our charter documents andl®eare law could discourage, delay or prevent a nga in control of our compan'

Our Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorponatind Amended and Restated Bylaws, or our ChBdeuments, as well as Delaware |
contain provisions that may discourage, delay @vent a change in our management or control ovethais stockholders may consi
favorable. Among other things, these provisions:

. authorize the issuance of "blank check" prefertedksthat could be issued by our board of directordiscourage a takeover atten
. establish a classified board of directors, as alre$ which the successors to the directors whesmas have expired will be electec
serve from the time of election and qualificationtilthe third annual meeting following their elext;

. require that directors be removed from officeydiolr cause;

. provide that vacancies on our board of directarsluiding newly created directorships, may be filledy by a majority vote «

directors then in office;

. from and after the date that Compass and itfeaéfs no longer collectively beneficially own (@stermined pursuant to Rule 13d-
under the Exchange Act), directly or indirectly,l@ast a majority of the voting power of all theatsianding shares of our capital st
entitled to vote generally in the election of digrs, or the Trigger Date, prohibit stockholderi@etby written consent, requiring all actic
to be taken at a meeting of the stockholders;

. provide that special meetings of our stockholdees he called only by our board of directors, ouraigerson of the board
directors, our Lead Director (if we do not havelaaiperson or the Chairperson is disabled), ouefdhxecutive Officer or our President
the absence of a Chief Executive Officer) or, uti@ Trigger Date, Compass;

. from and after the Trigger Date, require supernigjatockholder voting for our stockholders to effeertain amendments to
Charter Documents; and

. establish advance notice requirements for nominatfor elections to our board of directors or fosgosing other matters that car
acted upon by stockholders at stockholder meetings.
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In addition, we are subject to Section 203 of then&al Corporation Law of the State of DelawareP@CL, which generally prohibits
Delaware corporation from engaging in any broadjeaof business combinations with a stockholder ogrdi5% or more of such corporatien’
outstanding voting stock for a period of three gefatlowing the date on which such stockholder beean "interested" stockholder. In ot
for us to consummate a business combination witineemested stockholder within three years of tagecdn which the stockholder bect
interested, either (i) the business combinatiothertransaction that resulted in the stockholdeobeng interested must be approved by
board of directors prior to the date the stockholicame interested, (i) the interested stockhahdest own at least 85% of our outstant
voting stock at the time the transaction commeigersluding voting stock owned by directors who also officers and certain employee si
plans) or (iii) the business combination must bpraped by our board of directors and authorizedcabjeast twathirds of our stockholde
(excluding the interested stockholder) at a spexiannual meeting (not by written consent). Thizvsion could have the effect of delaying
preventing a change in control, whether or nas ilésired by or beneficial to our stockholders. Aisfay or prevention of a change in cor
transaction or changes in our board of directos management could deter potential acquirers oregpitethe completion of a transactior
which our stockholders could receive a substapti@mnium over the then-current market price forrtebares of our common stock.

Our Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorpomtidesignates the Court of Chancery of the StatdDeflaware as the sole and exclus
forum for certain types of actions and proceedintiet may be initiated by our stockholders, whichutd limit our stockholder’ ability to
obtain a favorable judicial forum for disputes withs or our directors, officers or other employees.

Our Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporafirovides that, with certain limited exceptionsless we consent in writing to
selection of an alternative forum, the Court of @texry of the State of Delaware will be the sole ardlusive forum for (i) any derivati
action or proceeding brought on our behalf, (iiy action asserting a claim of breach of fiduciantydowed by any director, officer or otl
employee of our company owed to us or our stocldrald(iii) any action asserting a claim againsatrising pursuant to any provision of
DGCL or our Charter Documents, (iv) any actionrteipret, apply, enforce or determine the validifyour Charter Documents, or (v) ¢
action asserting a claim governed by the interffalra doctrine. Any person or entity purchasingotnerwise acquiring any interest in share
our capital stock is deemed to have received naticend consented to the foregoing provisions. Thigice of forum provision may limit
stockholders ability to bring a claim in a judicial forum thiatfinds favorable for disputes with us or oureditors, officers or other employe
which may discourage such lawsuits against us amdlivectors, officers and employees. Alternatiyefya court were to find this choice
forum provision inapplicable to, or unenforceabieréspect of, one or more of the specified typesaations or proceedings, we may ir
additional costs associated with resolving suchterain other jurisdictions, which could adversaffect our business, financial conditior
results of operations.

ITEM 1B. UNRESOLVED STAFF COMMENTS
None.

ITEM 2. PROPERTIES

Our principal offices are located in Scotts Vall&yalifornia. We have manufacturing facilities in I@eater, Michigan; Scotts Valle
California; El Cajon, California; and Watsonvill€alifornia. Currently our international manufachgifacilities are located in Taiwan ¢
Canada. We believe that our properties are othergasierally suitable to meet our needs for thestable future. In addition, to the exten
require additional space in the future, we belithat it would be readily available on commercialiasonable terms. See Item 1. "Busines
Facilities" for more information about our faciéis.

ITEM 3. LEGAL PROCEEDINGS

From time to time we are involved in legal procegdi incidental to our business, in particular ietglial property related disputes, proc
liability claims, as well as other litigation of monmaterial nature in the ordinary course of bussndn connection with ASC 4¢
Contingencies, we have not accrued for material loss contingeneelating to any legal proceedings because wievieethat, althouc
unfavorable outcomes in proceedings may be posshsg are not considered by our management todi®aple and reasonably estimable.
believe that the outcome of any such pending nwteéther individually or in the aggregate, willtd@ve a material impact on our busines
financial condition.

ITEM 4. MINE SAFETY DISCLOSURES
Not applicable
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PART Il

ITEM 5. MARKET FOR REGISTRANT'S COMMON EQUITY AND R ELATED STOCKHOLDER MATTERS AND ISSUER
PURCHASES OF EQUITY SECURITIES.

Market Information

Our common stock has been listed on the NASDAQ &l8elect Market under the symbol "FOXF" since Astgd] 2013. Our IPO was pric
at $15.00 per share on August 8, 2013. Prior tbdate, there was no public trading market foraammon stock.

The following table sets forth, for the periodsicaded, the high and low sales prices per shareuofcommon stock as reported on
NASDAQ Global Select Marke

High Low

Year Ended December 31, 2013

Quarter ended September 30, 2013 (beginning Agy2013) $ 2078 % 16.3¢

Quarter ended December 31, 2013 20.17% 15.6¢
Year Ending December 31, 2014

Quarter ended March 31, 2014 $ 18.9¢ $ 15.5C

Quarter ended June 30, 2014 18.7¢ 16.5¢

Quarter ended September 30, 2014 17.9¢ 14.5:

Quarter ended December 31, 2014 16.9¢ 13.52

On February 26, 2015the closing price per share of our common stackeported on the NASDAQ Global Select Market waS.@6 pe
share.

Stockholders

As of December 31, 2014there were approximately 12 holders of recordwfcommon stock. The actual number of stockholdergeate
than this number of record holders, and includesks$tolders who are beneficial owners, but whoseeshare held in street name by bro
and other nominees. This number of holders of ikatgo does not include stockholders whose shaagsom held in trust by other entities.

Dividend Policy

We did not declare or pay any dividends in the yesaded December 31, 2014 and 2013. In additianAmended and Restated Credit Fac
contains covenants limiting our ability to pay dignds to our stockholders. See "Managemsdbiscussion and Analysis of Financial Condi
and Results of Operatiodsmended and Restated 2013 Credit Facility." Anyrfatdetermination to declare cash dividends wilhtsle at th
discretion of our board of directors, subject tplagable laws, and will depend on a number of fegtincluding our financial condition, rest
of operations, capital requirements, contractusiricions, general business conditions and angrdictors that our board of directors t
deem relevant.

Equity Compensation Plan Information

For equity compensation plan information refertear! 12 in Part IIl of this Annual Report on FormK0
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Performance Graph

The following graph shows a comparison from AugBis013 (the date our common stock commenced wadimthe NASDAQ) throug
December 31, 2014f the total cumulative return of our common stedgkh the total cumulative return of the NASDAQ Coogjte Index (th
"NASDAQ Composite"), and S&P 500 Index ("S&P 500The figures represented below assume an investofi€d#00 in our common sto
at the closing price of $18.61 on August 8, 2018 iarthe NASDAQ Composite and S&P 500. Data forM#eSDAQ Composite and S&P 5
assume reinvestment of dividends. The comparisotisei graph are historical and are not intendddrecast or be indicative of possible fut
performance of our common stock.
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This performance graph shall not be deemed to dléciting material” or “filed" or incorporated byference in future filings with the SEC,
subject to the liabilities of Section 18 of the Bange Act except as shall be expressly set fortsplgific reference in such filing.

Issuer Purchases of Equity Securities

The table below sets forth information regardingurehases of our common stock by us during theethmenths ended December 31, 2014 .

Approximate Dollar Value of

Total Number of Share Purchasec Shares that May Yet Be
Total Number of  Average Price as Part of Publicly Announced Purchased Under the Plans or
Period Shares Purchased Paid per Share Plans or Programs Programs (1)
10/1 - 10/31 — — — % =
11/1-11/30 — % — — % 40,000,00
12/1-12/31 39,10C $ 14.6( 39,10( $ 39,429,19
Total 39,10( $ 14.6( 39,10( % 39,429,19

(1) On November 3, 2014, the Company's Board of@ars authorized a share repurchase program ftr 40 million of the Company’s
common shares outstanding. The repurchase progimes on December 31, 2015.
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ITEM 6. SELECTED FINANCIAL DATA

The following selected consolidated financial artdeo data should be read in conjunction with, arel qualified by reference to, Iterr
"Managemens Discussion and Analysis of Financial Conditiom &esults of Operations,” and our audited cons@itlfinancial statemer
and the accompanying notes included elsewhere ign Ahnual Report. The consolidated statements obrime data for the years en
December 31, 2014, 2013 and 2012 and the consatidalance sheet data as of December 31, 20140dri8k# derived from the audit
consolidated financial statements that are includisgéwhere in this Annual Report. We have includedpur opinion, all adjustmen
consisting only of normal recurring adjustments thia consider necessary for a fair presentatioth@®ffinancial information set forth in thc
statements. The consolidated statements of incateefdr the years ended December 31, 2011 and 291¢ell as the consolidated bals
sheet data as of December 31, 2012 , 2011 and 2@ derived from audited consolidated financiatesnents that are not included in
Annual Report. Our historical results are not neagly indicative of the results to be expectethia future.

(in thousands, except per share data)

Sales

Cost of sales (1)
Gross profit

Operating expenses:
Sales and marketing (1)
Research and development (1)
General and administrative (1)
Amortization of purchased intangibles

Fair value adjustment of contingent consideratioth acquisition
related compensation

Total operating expenses
Income from operations
Other expense, net:
Interest expense
Other (income) expense, net
Total other expense, net
Income before income taxes
Provision for income taxes
Net income
Earnings per share:
Basic
Diluted
Weighted average shares used to compute earningbae:
Basic
Diluted
Dividends per share

For the years ended December 31,
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2014 2013 2012 2011 2010
$ 306,73 $ 272,74t $ 23586¢ $ 197,73¢ $ 170,98
212,31 192,61° 173,04( 140,84¢ 122,37:
94,42( 80,12¢ 62,82¢ 56,89( 48,61
19,19: 14,15: 12,57( 11,74¢ 10,29:
13,64: 10,40¢ 9,721 9,75( 7,321
17,68: 11,40¢ 9,06: 7,58¢ 6,20:
6,42¢ 5,37¢ 5,31¢ 5,217 5,217
2,85¢ — — — —
59,79’ 41,34¢ 36,67 34,30: 29,03
34,62: 38,78 26,15¢ 22,58’ 19,57
99¢ 4,12t 3,48¢ 1,98: 2,631

(695) (12) 277 13 (39)

30€ 4,11¢ 3,76: 1,99¢ 2,59¢
34,31 34,66¢ 22,39 20,59: 16,97¢
6,631 10,56¢ 8,181 7,05¢ 6,21(

$ 2768¢ $ 2410. $ 1421( $ 1353t $ 10,76¢
$ 078 $ 07C $ 044 $  04F $  0.3€
$ 07 $ 066 $ 044 $ 04z $  0.3¢
36,75¢ 34,57 32,05¢ 30,03¢( 30,11¢
37,80; 35,70 32,51 32,20 31,82¢

$ — 3 — % 20C $ — 3 —
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(1) Includes stock-based compensation (excludirgtiect) as follows:

For the years ended December 31,

(in thousands) 2014 2013 2012 2011 2010
Cost of sales $ 43 % 23 % —  $ — $ —
Sales and marketing 27¢ 15¢ 16C 78 4C
Research and development 88 53 29 12 12
General and administrative 3,63¢ 2,26¢€ 1,95¢ 94C 47z
Total $ 404 $ 2500 $ 2,148 $ 1,03C $ 524

Consolidated Balance Sheet Data:

As of December 31,

(in thousands) 2014 2013 2012 2011 2010

Cash and cash equivalents $ 421: $ 1,68: $ 15 % 114 % 50z
Inventory 59,19: 42,78: 34,25¢ 29,53: 28,05¢
Working capital 51,78« 39,88« 25,14 23,10¢ 23,60:
Property, plant and equipment, net 20,32¢ 13,41¢ 11,78¢ 9,00t 7,39:
Total assets 258,43 157,72 142,12( 129,95¢ 130,82:
Total debt, including current portion (1) 50,00( 8,00( 59,25( 15,29: 33,66(
Total stockholders’ equity (2) 128,80t 92,29 29,58¢ 67,29¢ 52,72

(1) In June 2012, we completed a recapitalizatiba "2012 Recapitalization") that is describedNiote 6- Related Party Transactioisthe
"Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statementdteém 8 "Financial Statements and Supplementara'D& connection with the 20
Recapitalization, we amended our debt. Concurremitly the closing of our IPO in August 2013, we dislee net proceeds that we rece
from the IPO to repay our then outstanding indefsd. In 2014, in connection with our acquisitioms,entered into amendments to
2013 Credit Facility, borrowing $80.0 million undarsecured Term Loan. The principal balance ofTéaen Loan was $50.0 millioai
December 31, 2014.

(2) In connection with the 2012 Recapitalizatiore paid a $67.0 million cash dividend, repurchaseares, and restructured certain stocl
based compensation awards.
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ITEM 7. MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FIN ANCIAL CONDITION AND RESULTS OF OPERATIONS

The following discussion and analysis of our firahcondition and results of operations should lead in conjunction with the section tit
"Selected Financial Data" and the consolidated fioi@l statements and related notes thereto incluelsdwhere in this Annual Report. 1
discussion contains forwardoking statements that involve risks and uncetiain Our actual results could differ materiallyoin thos
discussed below. You should review the "Risk Fattand "Special Note Regarding Forwakdoking Statements" sections of this An
Report for a discussion of important factors thatlld cause actual results to differ materially frahe results described in or implied by
forward-looking statements contained in the following d&sion and analysis.

Overview

We are a designer, manufacturer and marketer efdyshamics component products used primarily opdiés, side-by-side vehicles, or Side
by-Sides, on-road vehicles with off-road capateitioff-road vehicles and trucks, tlrain vehicles, or ATVs, snowmobiles, speciakicle:
and applications, and motorcycles as well as sisspersystems, or life kits, used on trucks. Virtpall of our revenues were from our proc
sales; miscellaneous sources of revenue such adtyaypcome and service related repair work and dlssociated sale of compone
represented less than 1% of our sales in eacteofalrs ended December 31, 2014, 2013 and 2012 .

We have determined that we operate in m@ortable segment, which is the manufacturinge sald service of ride dynamics products.
products fall into the following two categories:

* bikes; and

» powered vehicles, including Side-by-Sides, ordrogehicles with off-road capabilities, offtad vehicles and trucks, AT\
snowmobiles, specialty vehicles and applicationd, motorcycles.

A significant portion of our sales are dependentlendemand for high-end or premiyrieed bikes and their suspension components.dh
of the years ended December 31, 2014, 2013 and 2&i@roximately 58% 66% and 67%, respectively, of our sales weréattble to sale
of suspension products for bikes and approximad@p , 34% and 33%, respectively, of our sales werebattible to sales of suspens
products for powered vehicles.

Our domestic sales totaled $128.3 million , $96illian and $84.3 million , or 42% , 35% and 36%afr total sales in 2014, 2013 and 2012
respectively. Our international sales totaled $4T8illion , $176.6 million and $151.6 million , 68% , 65% and 64%f our total sales in ea
of the years ended December 31, 2014, 2013 and 26€dspectively. Sales attributable to countriessiolet the United States are base:
shipment location. Our international sales, howgder not necessarily reflect the location of thel esers of our products as many of
products are incorporated into bikes that are askzirat international locations and then shippetklta the United States. We estimate, b
on our internal projections, that approximately -tiied of the end users of our products are locaigdide the United States.

Opportunities, challenges and risks

We intend to focus on generating sales of our perdmce ride dynamics products through OEMs anderaftermarket channel. To do this,
intend to continue to develop and introduce new Emmdvative products in our current enthrkets and we intend to selectively dev
products for applications and enuhrkets in which we do not currently participateir@ntly, virtually all of our sales are dependentthe
demand for performance suspension products.

Our aftermarket distribution network currently cists of more than 3,000 retail dealers and distotsuworldwide. To further penetrate
aftermarket channel, we intend to selectively additional dealers and distributors in certain gephic markets, expand our internal s
force and strategically increase the number ofrafteket specific products and services which werofér existing vehicle platforms.
addition, we believe international expansion repnés a significant opportunity for us and we intdndselectively increase infrastruct
investments and focus on identified geographicomsgi

As a supplier to OEM customers, we are largely ddpat on the success of the business of our OE&mess. Model year changes by
OEM customers may adversely impact our sales osecaur sales to vary from quarter to quarter. Lossanarket share or a decline in
overall market of our OEM customers or the disamrince by our OEM customers of their products wiiclorporate our products coi
negatively impact our business and our resultgpefations.

We are in the process of transitioning a majoritythee manufacturing of our bike suspension compompeaducts to our bike suspens
component facility in Taiwan and we contemplatet tthes transition will continue through 2015. Wetiaipate that this transition, wh
completed, will enable us to shorten productiord léienes to our bike OEM customers, improve supgigic efficiencies and reduce 1
manufacturing costs. We also believe that thissitaom, once completed, will improve operating masgn the medium to long term. Howe\
in the short term during this transition processewpect to incur some duplication of facilitiespygmment and personnel which will increase
costs and could cause them to vary materially fooimprojections.
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In addition, this transition process could causewufiacturing problems and give rise to executioksrishich could negatively impact ¢
business, financial condition or results of operadi

From time to time we have experienced, and mayimoatto experience, warranty costs and claimsinglagb our products. In the ordin:
course of business we reserve against such codtslaims in our financial statements. There issk,rhowever, that in the future we \
experience higher than expected warranty costelanus, as well as other related costs.

We depend heavily on U.S. seaports, especiallysportthe Western Coast of the United States, wivite involved in labor disputes dur
2014 and the first part of 2015, ending on Febridry2015. These disputes resulted in port closangiseven though the dispute has er
significant backlog at the West Coast ports remaligough various mitigation efforts, the Compamg lbeen diligently working to lessen
effects of the port slowdowns and stoppages orbasiness, and was successful in such efforts d@dig. However, the impact of the la
disputes in the first quarter of 2015 was more pumted until the recent labor agreement and wW#lyi have a neaterm impact on tt
Company'’s 2015 financial results.

We intend to evaluate selective potential acquisibpportunities for performance products and tetdgies that we believe will help us ext
our ride dynamics product platform. Any acquisiothat we might make are subject to various rigkd @ancertainties and could hav
negative impact on our results of operations. Iditawh, we may contractually obligate ourselvesctmtingent consideration or acquisit
related compensation payments in conjunction witbthsacquisitions, which could have a negative immacour cash flow and results
operations. See "Management’'s discussion and dsabfs financial condition and results of operatid@sntractual obligations a
commitments."

Basis of presentation
Sales are primarily comprised o
Sales from:

. Product sales:consists of sales of products sold primarily to @QEM and aftermarket customers. We recognize revemiel
products are shipped, title has transferred, didflecf the receivable is probable, persuasive enwig of an arrangement exists, and the
price to our customers is fixed or determinable;

. Shipping and handling feegre include shipping and handling fees billed tatooeers in sales.
Net of:
. Sales returns allowancesonsists of an estimate of our sales returns. dllosvance is based upon estimates of the projeetean:

in future periods based on our experience withrnstuecorded in previous periods; and
. Rebatesconsists of incentives we provide to customersdasesales of eligible products.

We attribute our past growth in sales predominatatiyncreases in the number of units sold to ouMatstomers in both our bike and powe
vehicle product categories. To a lesser degreegédses in our average sales prices have alsolmatewli to our past sales growth, as we
introduced innovations to and improved the funaldy of many of our products, which enabled usinany cases, to increase our sale p
for such products.

Cost of sales

The cost of sales includes the cost of purchased pad manufactured products (raw materials comsiithe cost to procure materials, I
costs, including wages, and employee benefitsfactdry overhead to produce finished good produatsjuding:

. the cost to inspect and repair products;

. shipping costs associated with inbound freight. SEheosts are capitalized as part of inventory actuded in cost of sales as
inventory is sold;

. royalty expenses, including payments to certairi@s for our use of licensed technology incorfextanto our products;

. freight expense incurred for certain shipmentsustomers, excluding customers who pay for thein &reight;

. warranty costs associated with the repair oraeghent of products under warranty; and

. reductions in the cost of inventory to its net izsle value, if required, for estimated excessotdscence or impaired balan
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Gross profit/gross margin
Our gross profit equals our sales minus cost @&ss&ur gross margin measures our gross profipascentage of sales.

Our gross margins fluctuate based on product, must@nd channel mix as certain of our productsale at higher gross margins than ott
Generally, we earn higher gross margins on our ymrtsdsold to the aftermarket channel and we tylyicgdrn lower gross margins on

products we sell to OEMs. In the near term, wecgpdate our gross margins will improve slightly whasmpared with our historical results.

anticipate that the improvements we are pursuingnfour cost initiatives, which are designed to iaver our operating efficiencies, will

offset in the short term by duplicative costs weemt to incur as a result of our planned transitiba majority of the manufacturing of our b
suspension component products to our operatiomaiiman.

Operating expenses

Our operating expenses consist of the following:

. sales and marketing;

. research and development;

. general and administrative;

. amortization of purchased intangibles; and

. fair value adjustment of contingent consideration acquisition related compensation.

Our sales and marketing expenses include costededia our sales, customer service and marketirgppael, including their wages, emplo
benefits and related stotlased compensation, and occupancy related expddes. significant sales and marketing expensdsidecrac
support and sponsorships of events and athlete®rtaging and promotions related to trade showasvelr and entertainment, promotic
materials and products and our sales office costs.

Our research and development expenses consistrjlyimbsalaries and personnel costs, including @agmployee benefits and related stoc
based compensation for our engineering, reseamttdavelopment teams, occupancy related expensssfdethird party consultants, sen
fees, and expenses for prototype tooling and nadserravel, and supplies. We expense researctdevnelopment costs as incurred and
costs are included as research and developmenigapen our consolidated statements of income.

Our general and administrative expenses includésaelated to our executive, finance, informatiechnology, business development, hu
resources and administrative personnel, includirages, employee benefits and related stmmded compensation expenses. We r¢
professional and contract service expenses, occypatated expenses associated with corporateidmsaaind equipment, and legal expens
general and administrative expenses. Prior to B@, we paid annual management fees of $0.5 mitboBompass Group Management L
which were paid quarterly in arrears and were idethas part of general and administrative expefidesse fees discontinued upon the cla
of the IPO. The elimination of these managemerd fellowing the IPO offsets a portion of the adufi@l legal, insurance, and accounting ¢
we are incurring relating to compliance and othdslic company expenses.

Our amortization of intangibles includes amortiaatover their respective useful lives of our pusgthintangible assets, such as custome
and our core technology. Our intangible assetseseduated for impairment whenever events or chaigesrcumstances indicate that
carrying value of the assets may not be fully recalble. No impairments of intangible assets weeatifled in the years ended Decembel
2014, 2013 and 2012 , respectively.

Our fair value adjustments of contingent consideratind acquisition related compensation relatésgily to our contingent considerati
liability arising from the acquisition of Sport Tak. The fair value is measured at each balance sla¢e by applying a Blac&eholes model
the Company's most recent financial projection.

In the near term, we anticipate that our salesmaarketing, general and administrative, and reseanchdevelopment expenses will increas
terms of absolute dollars, but will remain relalyveonsistent when expressed as a percentage ed. dal the long term we anticipate
operating expenses, in aggregate, to increasenrstef absolute dollars, but reduce slightly whgpressed as a percent of sales. We car
no assurance that these expectations will be eshliz

Income from operation:

We define income from operations as gross prodg l@ur operating expenses. We use income from tipesas an indicator of the profitabil
of our business and our ability to manage costs.
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Other expense, net

Other expense, net consists of interest expensetued (income) expense, net. Interest expensdstend interest charged to us under
credit facilities.

Other (income) expense, net consists of foreignecaly transaction gains and losses, gains anddasséhe disposal of fixed assets, and «
miscellaneous items.

Income taxes

We are subject to income taxes in the United Statesvarious other foreign jurisdictions in whicke o business. Some of these for
jurisdictions have higher statutory tax rates tthase in the United States, and certain of ouriratiional earnings are also taxable in the Ui
States. Accordingly, our effective tax rates wikry depending on the relative proportion of foreign U.S. income and the furtt
apportionment of that income to state and locasglictions. We periodically evaluate opportunitiesenhance tax efficiencies and to minin
tax liabilities through operating, legal and admsirative strategies. In 2014, we recognized alamefit of $4.1 millionrelated to th
reapportionment of 2009 through 2013 income amothgsjurisdictions where we do business. In fupggods, our effective tax rate may v
depending on the absorption of foreign tax creditgnges in the valuation of our deferred tax asmed liabilities and changes in tax laws.

We are subject to examination of our income taurret by the U.S. Internal Revenue Service, or &1, other tax authorities. We regul:
assess the likelihood of adverse outcomes resutiimg these examinations to determine the adeqaioyr income tax liabilities and exper
Should actual events or results differ from ourent expectations, charges or credits to our inctardiabilities and income tax expense 1
become necessary. Any such adjustments could hsigmiéicant impact on our results of operations.

Under U.S. generally accepted accounting princjplesGAAP, an uncertain income tax position willt i@ recognized unless it has a gre
than 50% likelihood (i.e., more-likely-tharet) of being sustained and then, measured onllggdargest amount of benefit that is greater
50% likely to be realized upon ultimate settleméte established liabilities for uncertain tax piasis and deferred taxes associated witl
deductibility of certain amortization and depreiciatexpenses. The liability for uncertain income pa@sitions represents the amount of tas
would be required to pay if certain tax deductigmsviously claimed on tax returns were not allowgzbn examination by the taxi
authorities. The liability for deferred taxes reggnts additional taxes that would be payable ioréuperiods because of the potential not
deductibility of future amortization and deprecdatiexpenses.

As of December 31, 2014, our balance sheet reflext@bility for unrecognized tax benefits of $7dlion . The unrecognized tax benefits
primarily due to the uncertainty of the deductilyilof amortization and depreciation expenses whwehe incurred as a result of Compass'’
acquisition of us in 2008. In addition, as of Debem31, 2014, our balance sheet reflected a related defernediahbility based on tF
difference between the financial statement andtesis of certain assets, which represents the anobasx we would be required to pay in
future based on the current enacted tax rateseiftalt deductions associated with this amortizatinod depreciation were not claimed
allowed on our income tax returns. This deferredli@bility will decrease each year we expensedhgociated amortization and deprecie
for accounting purposes. However, this reductiomds anticipated to be associated with actual gesiments. We expect to decrease
liability for unrecognized tax benefits and recagna reduction in income tax expense (and an isergmnet income) because of the expire
of statutes of limitations in the amount of approately $1.3 millionn the third quarter of 2015. However, reductiomshie related deferred 1
liability will over time be associated with offsietl) increases to our liability for unrecognized twnefits. We generally expect to recognize
a reduction in income tax expense (and an incréaseet income) through the expiration of statutdslimitations in the amount !
approximately $1.4 to $1.5 million in each thirdagter from 2015 through 2027 and approximately $0.%0.3 million in each fourth quar
from 2015 through 2028. These annual reductionsunincome tax expense will cease if it is deteedirupon examination of the
authorities that the deductions are not valid dadliabilities for the uncertain income tax positiand the associated deferred tax liability
have to be settled for cash. If we subsequentlgrdehe that we have met the more-likely-thaot-threshold that these deductions wil
sustained, the balance of the liability for unraetiagd tax benefits that would be recognized asdaation of income tax expense, excep!
approximately $0.8 million which would increase the deferred tax liabilitythe extent of taxes associated with tax amoitizadf intangible
with indeterminate lives, and the related unamedideferred tax liabilities will be recognized asne-time income tax benefit.

Income taxes are computed using the asset anditliaimiethod, under which deferred tax assets aabllities are determined based on
difference between the financial statement andbi@ses of assets and liabilities using enacted ates rin effect for the year in which
differences are expected to affect taxable incovwsuation allowances are established when necedsargduce deferred tax assets ta
amount expected to be realized. As of Decembe2@14, we did not have any valuation allowancesndm as we expect to fully utilize all
our deferred tax assets and we did not have angperating loss or tax credit carry-forwards. Hoe years ended December 2014, 201
and 2012 , we had effective tax rates of 19.3%5%0and 36.5% respectively. We anticipate that in the mediutmteur effective annual ti
rates should be approximately 34% to 36%, howeveragtual effective annual tax rates will vary lwhem several factors, including
geographic mix of our sales, changes in futurertdgs, tax planning strategies, and the treatnietiteounrecognized tax benefits mentio
above.
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Results of operations

The table below summarizes our results of operationthe years ended December 31, 2014, 2013 @2l .2

For the years ended December 31,

(in thousands) 2014 2013 2012
Sales $ 306,73: $ 272,74t $ 235,86
Cost of sales 212,31« 192,61 173,04(
Gross profit 94,42( 80,12¢ 62,82¢
Operating expenses:
Sales and marketing 19,19: 14,15 12,57(
Research and development 13,64: 10,40¢ 9,721
General and administrative 17,68: 11,40¢ 9,06:
Amortization of purchased intangibles 6,42¢ 5,37¢ 5,31t
Fair value adjustment of contingent consideratioth acquisition related compensatior 2,85¢ — —
Total operating expenses 59,79’ 41,34¢ 36,67¢
Income from operations 34,62: 38,78: 26,15«
Other expense, net:
Interest expense 99¢ 4,12¢ 3,48¢
Other (income) expense, net (693) (12 271
Other expense, net 30¢€ 4,11: 3,76:
Income before income taxes 34,31° 34,66¢ 22,39:
Provision for income taxes 6,631 10,56¢ 8,181
Net income $ 27,68t % 24,10: $ 14,21(

The following table sets forth selected statemémame data as a percentage of sales for thes yedicated.

For the years ended December 31,

2014 2013 2012

Sales 100.(% 100.(% 100.(%
Cost of sales 69.2 70.€ 73.4

Gross profit 30.¢ 29.4 26.€
Operating expenses:

Sales and marketing 6.2 5.2 5.3

Research and development 4.4 3.8 4.1

General and administrative 5.8 4.2 3.8

Amortization of purchased intangibles 2.1 2.C 2.3

Fair value adjustment of contingent consideratioth @acquisition related compensatiol 0.€ — —
Total operating expenses 19.t 15.2 15.5
Income from operations 11.2 14.2 11.1
Other expense, net:

Interest expense 0.2 1.t 1.t

Other (income) expense, net (0.2 — 0.1
Other expense, net 0.1 i3 1.€
Income before income taxes 11.2 12.7 9.t
Provision for income taxes 2.2 3.6 3.5
Net income 9.C% 8.8% 6.C%
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Year ended December 31, 2014 compared to year ebdm@mber 31, 2013

Sales

(in millions) 2014 2013 Change ($) Change (%)
Sales $ 306.7 $ 2727 % 34.( 12.5%

Sales for the year ended December 31, 2014 incceapproximately $34.0 million , or 12.5% , comphte the same period in 2013 he sale
increase reflects 39.0% growth in powered vehidledpcts offset by a 1.0% decrease in mountain Ipfeducts for the yeaendel
December 31, 2014 compared to the same prior yexard

The increase in powered vehicle products was pifyndne to the acquisition of Sport Truck, alongiwhigher end user demand for our F
branded products. Sport Truck contributed $33.2ignilto our sales in the year ended December 314 2@\ portion of Sport Truck's sal
consist of the value of FOX products sold througlor® Truck. The slight decrease in bike sales wa#atable to various factors during t
recent period, including industry supply chain &suncreased competitive environment in certaodpet categories, and weaker sell thrc
of our products than in the comparative period.

Cost of sales

(in millions) 2014 2013 Change ($) Change (%)
Cost of sales $ 212.: % 192.¢ $ 19.7 10.2%

Cost of sales for the year ended December 31, R@tdase d approximately $19.7 million , or 10.2%ompared to the same period in 2
The increase in cost of sales was driven primdnjlyan increase in product sales, partially offgetbst reductions resulting from initiati
which are targeted at improving manufacturing amgpsy chain efficiencies, as well as continued exien of our overall product design
manufacturability program.

For the year ended December 31, 2014 our grossimaeg 30.8% compared to 29.4% for the same p@ni@®d13 . The 1.4%mprovement i
our gross profit margin percentage was due to ¢éiméirtued execution of these operational efficieimiyatives.

Operating expenses

(in millions) 2014 2013 Change ($) Change (%)
Operating expenses:
Sales and marketing $ 192 % 142z % 5.C 35.2%
Research and development 13.€ 10.4 3.2 30.8%
General and administrative 17.7 114 6.3 55.2%
Amortization of purchased intangibles 6.4 5.4 1.C 18.5%
Fair value adjustment of contingent consideratiot a
acquisition related compensation 2.8 — 2.6 —%
Total operating expenses $ 50.t $ 414 % 18.¢ 44.0%

Total operating expenses for the year ended Dece®ihe2014 increase d approximately $18.4 millicor 44.4%over the same period
2013 . When expressed as a percentage of saleafingeexpenses increased to 19.5% of sales foyagheended December 31, 2Gbmpare

to 15.2% of sales in the same period in 2013. Axprately $7.6 millionof the increase was due to the inclusion of SpoutK's operatin
expenses, including fair value adjustments, inclsiace the acquisition date in our consolidatsdilts for the year ended December 31, 201-
as well as the impact of significant corporate seations which are discussed further below.

Within operating expenses, our sales and marketkpgense increases were primarily due to additipeatonnel, promotional activities ¢
outside services related to promoting our compamy larand, building our global infrastructure, ahe inclusion of $2.4 milliorof Spor
Truck's sales and marketing expense in our resDiis. research and development expense increastek ipear ended®ecember 31, 20:
primarily due to an additional $0.6 million in permel related expenses and an increase of apprtetim®l.0 million in prototype product
and projects as we continue to invest in new andvative technologies. Our general and administeagixpense increased in the ydae tc
significant corporate transactions, including asgign-related expenses of $2.6 million , costs$6f5 million related to the complet
secondary offering of our common stock by certaiiirey stockholders, and the inclusion of approxieha $1.3 million of Sport Truck'
general and administrative expenses in our results.
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In addition, personnel related expenses and stoglpensation expense increased by approximatelyrillibn and $1.4million, respectively
when compared to prior year. These increases veetilly offset by cost reductions in various otlyeneral and administrative expenses.

Amortization of purchased intangible assets inytbar ended December 31, 2014 increased approxyrited million, primarily as a result
the acquisition of Sport Truck.

During the year ended December 31, 2014 , we irduB2.9 milliondue to adjustments in the fair value of our corgimgconsideration ai
acquisition related compensation, of which $2.2liamilrelates to our contingent consideration liabiliysing from the acquisition of Spi
Truck.

Income from operations

(in millions) 2014 2013 Change ($) Change (%)
Income from operations $ 34¢€ $ 38. $ (4.2) (10.9)%

As a result of the factors discussed above, inctnom operations for the year ended December 314 2fHcrease d approximateBs.z
million , or 10.8% compared to income from openasian the same period in 2013 .

Other expense, net

(in millions) 2014 2013 Change ($) Change (%)
Other expense, net:
Interest expense $ 1¢C $ 41 % (3. (75.6%
Other (income) expense, net (0.7) — (0.7) &5
Other expense, net $ 03 % 41 % (3.9 (92.1%

** Calculation is not meaningful

Other expense, net for the year ended Decembe&(034, decrease d by approximately $3.8 million t@$qillion compared to $4.1 milliom
the same period in 2013 primarily due to decreastlest expense. Within other expense, net, istengpense decrease d for the yexade:
December 31, 2014 by $3.1 million due to the $1ilian non-cash write off for unamortized loan drigtion costs for the yeande:
December 31, 2013, lower borrowings and a moreréhie interest rate under our Amended and Res2i&d Credit Facility. Other incon
net for the year ended December 31, 2014 incred@admillion due to foreign currency exchange gains as a reftitte strengthening of t
US Dollar against the local currencies in whichdeebusiness.

Income taxes

(in millions) 2014 2013 Change ($) Change (%)
Income tax expenses $ 6.6 $ 106 $ (4.0) (37.10%

Income tax expense for the year ended Decembe&034, decrease d by approximately $4.0 million t@$8illion compared to income tax
expense of $10.6 million in the same period in 20IBe decrease in expense resulted primarily tlieraforementioned reapportionment
benefit of $4.1 million .

The effective tax rates were 19.3% and 30.5% feryrars ended December 31, 2014 and 2013 , resggcti

For the year ended December 31, 2014 , the difter&etween our effective tax rate and the 388éeral statutory rate resulted primarily fr
the $4.1 million reapportionment beneditd the expiration of the statute of limitationatthllowed us to release approximately $1.5 miltidn
our aforementioned liability for unrecognized tagnbfits. Additionally, our effective tax rate was benefited asesult of the domes
production activity deduction. These income taxdfits were partially offset by 2014 state taxes.

For the year ended December 31, 2013 , the difter&etween our effective rate and the I8¥eral statutory rate resulted primarily from
expiration of the statute of limitations that alledvus to release approximately $1.4 millafrour aforementioned liability for unrecognized
benefits. Additionally, our effective tax rate whsnefited by the domestic production activity dethuc and research and developmenti
credits, including $0.4 millionelated to 2012 activities but recorded upon tlestatement of the lapsed research and developenedit in the
first quarter of 2013. These benefits were pastiaffset by state taxes.
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Net income
(in millions) 2014 2013 Change ($) Change (%)
Net income $ 277 % 241 $ 3.€ 14.9%

As a result of the factors described above, oulimeme increased $3.6 million , or 14.9% , to $2million in the year endeBecember 3:
2014 from $24.1 million for the same period in 2013

Year ended December 31, 2013 compared to year ebséember 31, 2012

Sales

(in millions) 2013 2012 Change ($) Change (%)
Sales $ 2727 % 235.¢ % 36.¢ 15.6%

Sales for 2013 increased approximately $36.8 miilli@r 15.6%, compared to 2012. Sales of mountain bike and peaveehicle produc
increased 14.4% and 18.2%, respectively, for 2@iBpared to 2012. Sales growth was primarily dribgrsales to OEMs which increas
$29.9 million to $219.8 million for 2013 compared$189.9 million for 2012. The increase in sale®©®Ms was largely driven by increa:
specification, or spec, positions with our OEM cousérs. The remaining increase in sales totalin@ $éillion reflects increased sales
aftermarket customers in 2013 compared to 2012.ifldrease in sales to aftermarket customers isgrifiyndue to higher end user demanc
our products.

Cost of sales

(in millions) 2013 2012 Change ($) Change (%)
Cost of sales $ 192.¢ $ 173.C $ 19.¢ 11.5%

Cost of sales for 2013 increased by $19.6 millian 11.3%compared to the same period in 2012. The increasest of sales was primai
due to increased sales in 2013 when compared 1. ik 2013 our gross margin was 29.4% compar@® 6% for the same period in 20
We attribute approximately 1.6% of the improvemaniour gross profit margin to our cost initiativdesigned to improve our operat
efficiencies. The remaining 1.2% of the improvemisntargely due to additional warranty and othdaterl costs in 2012 to upgrade cet
dampers contained in our suspension products wdusts did not recur in 2013.

Operating expenses

(in millions) 2013 2012 Change ($) Change (%)
Operating expenses:
Sales and marketing $ 14z $ 12€ % 1.€ 12.7%
Research and development 10.4 9.7 0.7 7.2%
General and administrative 11.4 9.1 2.2 25.%
Amortization of purchased intangibles 5.4 5.3 0.1 1.%
Total operating expenses $ 414 % 36.7 $ 4.7 12.8%

Operating expenses for 2013 increased by $4.7amillior 12.8%, compared to 2012. When expressed as a perceotaggdes, operatir
expenses declined to 15.2% of sales for 2013 cosdparl5.5 % of sales in 2012.

Within operating expenses, our sales and marketkpgenses increased by $1.6 million from $12.6 amillin 2012 to $14.2 million 201:
primarily due to increases of personnel relateccagiures of $1.0 million and other marketing rethexpenses of $0.6 million. Our sales
marketing goal is to expand our brand image whachdly focuses on additional race sponsorshipsargbrate media.

Our research and development expenses increas&f.Bymillion from $9.7 million in 2012 to $10.4 idn in 2013. The increase w
primarily due to expense of $0.6 million incurredliringing on board talented and innovative persbrend other expenses of $0.2 mill
partially offset by a decrease in other productedtgyment expenses of $0.1 million.
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Our general and administrative expenses increage$i2t8 million from $9.1 million in 2012 to $11.4illfion in 2013. The increase w
primarily related to employee compensation of $illion due to an increase in personnel and thataél costs we incurred as a resul
being a public company. Stock compensation expeinsesased by $0.4 million, $0.3 million of addita expenses were incurred relate
the acquisition and integration of our third pa@grmanybased distributor and service center and thereawascrease of $0.5 million of ott
general and administrative expenses.

Amortization of purchased intangible assets in@dasy $0.1 millionin 2013 compared to 2012 due to the intangibletassem recentl
acquired intellectual property.

Income from operations

(in millions) 2013 2012 Change ($) Change (%)
Income from operations $ 38.6 % 26.z $ 12.€ 48.1%

Income from operations for 2013 increased $12.6anil or 48.1%, compared to income from operations in 2012. Heecase in income frc
operations was primarily the result of our increisgross profit of $17.3 million, partially offsél our increases in operating expense$4of
million .

Other expense, net

(in millions) 2013 2012 Change ($) Change (%)
Other expense, net:
Interest expense $ 41 % 38 % 0.€ 17.1%
Other expense (income), net — 0.3 (0.9) (100.0%
Other expense, net $ 41 % 3.8 3% 0.2 7.0

Other expense, net for 2013 increased by $0.3amillo $4.1 million in 2013 compared to $3.8 million2012. Within Other expense, r
interest expense increased in 2013 by $0.6 miliomarily due to a $1.4 million nocash charge for unamortized loan origination ca¥
connection with the termination of our credit fagilwith Compass, offset by decreased average wamgs under our credit facilities. Ott
expense (income), net for 2013 decreased approadyn®d.3 millionfrom 2012 due to the loss on the disposition oédivassets in 2012, wh
did not reoccur in 2013.

Income tax expense

(in millions) 2013 2012 Change ($) Change (%)
Income tax expenses $ 106 $ 82 §$ 2.4 29.2%

Income tax expense for 2013 increased by $2.4anilio $10.6 million compared to income tax expenfs$8.2 millionin 2012. Effective ta
rates were 30.5% and 36.5% for 2013 and 2012, caésply. The decrease in the effective tax ratefil 3 was caused by the expiration of
statute of limitations that allowed us to releasdiahility for unrecognized tax benefits relating the uncertainty of amortization ¢
depreciation expenses which were a result of Coghpasgjuisition of us in 2008 and also was result afiastatement of the federal rese:
and development credit that had lapsed in 2012.

Net income
(in millions) 2013 2012 Change ($) Change (%)
Net income $ 241 $ 14z $ 9.¢ 69.7%

As a result of the factors discussed above, ouimeime increased $9.9 million , or 69.7% , to $2dillion in 2013 from $14.2 millionn
2012.
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Liquidity and Capital Resources

Our primary cash needs are to support working aglebt payments, and capital expenditures. We awerally financed our historical ne
with operating cash flows and borrowings under cnedit facilities. These sources of liquidity mag impacted by various factors, includ
demand for our products, investments made by uacihuired businesses, our plant and equipment amer @apital expenditures,
expenditures on general infrastructure and infoionatiechnology. A summary of our operating, invegtand financing activities are showi
the following table:

For the years ended December 31,

(in thousands) 2014 2013 2012

Net cash provided by operating activities $ 32,90F $ 22,61¢ $ 17,367
Net cash used in investing activities (76,829 (5,042 (5,767
Net cash provided by (used in) financing activities 46,73 (15,907 (11,709
Effect of exchange rate changes on cash (27¢) 2 —
Increase in cash and cash equivalents $ 2,52¢ $ 1,66¢ $ (99

We expect that cash on hand, cash flow from opmratand availability under our credit facilitiediMaie sufficient to fund our operations
during the next 12 months from the date of this éalrReport.

Operating activities

Cash provided by operating activities primarily sists of net income, adjusted for certain mash items primarily, depreciation
amortization, stockeased compensation including related excess tagfit®nchanges in fair value of contingent consatien, and deferre
income taxes, offset by net cash invested in wgrkipital.

In the year ended December 31, 2014 , cash prowigexgberating activities was $32.9 million and detesd of net income of $27.7 milligrius
non-cash items totaling $7.1 million less changespgerating assets and liabilities and other adjasts totaling $1.9 million . Nooash item
and other adjustments consisted primarily of deptiemn and amortization of $9.7 million , stock-bdscompensation of $4.0 millionanc
change in fair value of contingent consideratio$®f22 million , offset by a $5.4 millioohange in deferred taxes, an excess tax benefit tine
exercise of stock options of $2.7 million , and tsenefit from equity issuance costs of $1.0 millioBash invested in operating assets
liabilities is primarily the result of increasesprepaids and other assets of $3.0 million andritourg of $1.2 millionand a decrease in accr
expenses of $0.8 million , partially offset by acrease in income taxes and accounts payable 6fr§lion and $1.4 million, respectively
Our working capital investment is driven by norrgedwth of our business and our acquisitions.

In the year ended December 31, 2013 , cash prowiglegperating activities was $22.6 million . Netame of $24.1 million plus nocast
items totaling $8.7 million were offset by changesoperating assets and liabilities totaling $1@nlion . Non-cash items and ott
adjustments consisted primarily of depreciation anbrtization of $7.8 million , stock-based commimn of $2.5 million , and the writeff
of unamortized costs from related party debt ofi$tillion , offset by a $3.2 milliochange in deferred taxes. Cash invested in opgratset
and liabilities consisted primarily of increasesaiccounts receivable and inventory of $8.5 millard $7.4 million, respectively, partial
offset by increases in accounts payable and indawes of $3.6 million and $3.0 million , respechie

Investing activities

Cash used in investing activities primarily relatesstrategic acquisitions of businesses and invests in our manufacturing and gen
infrastructure through the acquisition of propeatd equipment.

In the year ended December 31, 2014 , cash usedesting activities was $76.8 million which cories primarily of $70.9 milliorin casl
consideration paid for the acquisitions of Sporckrand Race Face/Easton. Additionally, we inve$#&@ million in property and equipment.

In the year ended December 31, 2013, cash useneésting activities was $5.0 millionwhich consisted primarily of purchases of proy
and equipment.
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Financing activities

Cash provided by financing activities primarily atds to changes in our capital structure, including various forms of debt and eq:
instruments used to finance our business.

In the year ended December 31, 2014 , net cashdeaby financing activities was $46.7 milligrvhich consisted primarily of proceeds fr
issuance of term debt of $79.6 million net of aragion fees, partially offset by repayments of $3@illion on term debt and net repayment
$8.0 million on revolving credit, respectively, alhder the 2013 Amended and Restated Credit Radldditionally, $4.8 millionwas provide
by the exercise of stock options.

In the year ended December 31, 2013 , net cashinggdncing activities was $15.9 million , whiclnsisted of net proceeds$86.1 millior
from our August 2013 initial public offering and.g7million of net borrowings under our 2013 Crefeticility, offset by net repayment $69.2
million in revolving and term debt under our rethfgarty credit facility which was terminated in quimction with our initial public offering.

Amended and Restated 2013 Credit Facility

In August 2013, we entered into the 2013 Creditilfaavith Sun Trust Bank and other named lenddise 2013 Credit Facility providec
revolving line of credit. On March 31, 2014, in c@ction with our asset purchase of Sport Truck.awended and restated the 2013 C
Facility. The Amended and Restated 2013 CreditlBagrovided a maturing secured Term Loan in thim@pal amount of $50.0 million
subject to quarterly amortization payments, anéredéd the term of the 2013 Credit Facility throiwdrch 31, 2019. The proceeds of the T
Loan were used, in part, to fund the acquisitiorSpbrt Truck and to pay down the revolving linecoédit provided under the 2013 Cr
Facility. On December 12, 2014, we amended thetirgiss\mended and Restated 2013 Credit Facility. Firat Amendment increased

Term Loan by the principal amount of $30.0 millitma total of $56.8 million, subject to quarterlynartization payments, and extend
maturity of the Amended and Restated 2013 CrediiliBathrough December 12, 2019. The additionabgeeds of the Term Loan mi
available through the First Amendment were usquhttially fund the acquisition of Race Face/Easton.

In the year ended December 31, 2014 , we madeipaingayments of $30.0 million on the Term Loargliming $28.8 millionin advance ¢
scheduled maturity. The Amended and Restated 20&8itCFacility is secured by substantially all afraassets, restricts our ability to m
certain payments and engage in certain transactenms also requires that we satisfy customary firsmratios, including a fixed char
coverage ratio of not less than 1.5:1.0 and a égeeratio of not greater than 2.75:1.0, both rat@sulated as defined in the agreement
were in compliance with the covenants as of Decer@bg2014 .

Contractual obligations and commitments

As of December 31, 2014 , we had the following cactual obligations (in thousands):

Less than 1
Payments due by period Total year 1-3 years 4-5years  After 5 years
Long-term borrowings $ 50,000 $ 2837 $ 1135 $ 3581: $ —
Operating lease obligations 11,07¢ 3,427 7,59¢ 54 —
Purchase obligations and other 4,33( 4,03( 30C — —
Total $ 6540¢ $ 1029+ $ 19,24¢ $ 35860 $ —

In connection with our acquisitions, we have agreegay up to $46,19% additional consideration and acquisition relatednpensatic
through 2017, contingent upon the achievement ghitefinancial performance goals and in some casesinued employment through 20
Approximately $16,90®f the obligation is denominated in Canadian dslldthis table excludes these obligations becauseanweot make
reasonably reliable estimate of the timing and mx¢é such payments. S&éte 12 - Fair Value Measuremeraisd Note 15 - Acquisitionsn
our Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.

As of December 31, 2014 , we had a liability of mpgmately $7.8 millionassociated with uncertain tax positions, whichléssified as
current in our consolidated balance sheet becausedasonably possible that certain federal,iforeand state tax matters could be concli
in the next twelve months. However, our liabiligr funcertain tax positions has been excluded framsammary of contractual obligations
we cannot make a reliable estimate of the periodash settlement with the respective taxing autlestinor the amount of the final ci
settlement. Selote 11 - Income Taxdn our Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.
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Seasonality

Our business is seasonal. In each of the last feass, our quarterly sales have been the lowetbteiffirst quarter and the highest during
third quarter of the year. We believe this seastgnal due to the delivery of new products, inchgliour suspension products related to the
mountain bike season, during the late spring anthser each year.

Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements

We have no material off-balance sheet arrangements.

Inflation

Historically, inflation has not had a material eff@n our results of operations. However, significeacreases in inflation, particularly the
related to wages and increases in the cost of ratenmals could have an adverse impact on our bssjrfeancial condition and results
operations.

Critical Accounting Policies and Estimates

Our consolidated financial statements are prepamedccordance with GAAP. The preparation of thesasolidated financial stateme
requires us to make estimates, judgments, and @é®un® that affect the reported amounts of asdetsilities, sales, expenses and rel:
disclosures. We evaluate our estimates, judgmantsassumptions on an ongoing basis. Our estinaa¢elased on historical experience
various other assumptions that we believe to beoregble under the circumstances. Our actual resulisl differ from these estimates.

We believe that the assumptions, judgments, anch&tsts associated with the following have the gs&tgbotential impact on, and are critice
the understanding of, our results of operationgemae recognition, provision for doubtful accoun¢geivable, inventory, goodwill a
intangible assets, warranty, income taxes and dtaskd compensation. For further information Nete 1 -Description of Business, Basis
Presentation and Summary of Significant AccounBgjciesof the accompanying notes to our Consolidated FiahStatements.

We are an "emerging growth company" within the nirgguof the rules under the Securities Act, and vl wtilize certain exemptions fro
various reporting requirements that are applicéblgublic companies that are not emerging growthpganies. For example, we do not hav
provide an auditor’s attestation report on ourriméé controls in our annual reports on FormKL@s otherwise required by Section 404(b) o
Sarbane$xley Act. In addition, Section 107 of the JOBS Acbvides that an emerging growth company canzetithe extended transiti
period provided in Section 7(a)(2)(B) of the Setesi Act for complying with new or revised accougtistandards. Thus, an emerging gr¢
company can delay the adoption of certain accogrgtandards until those standards would otherwigdyao private companies. We hi
irrevocably elected to opt out of the extendeddition period for complying with new or revised aaaoting standards pursuant to Section 1C
(b) of the JOBS Act. As a result, we will complytivinew or revised accounting standards on the aaledates on which adoption of s
standards is required for non-emerging growth corgsa

Critical Accounting Policies

Revenue recognitiol

We recognize sales when persuasive evidence ofrrangement exists, title has transferred, the spiEe is fixed or determinable, &
collectability of the receivable is reasonably asdu Provisions for discounts, rebates, sales ihees) returns, and other adjustments
provided for in the period the related sales acenmded based on managemsrassessment of historical trends and projectidatafe result:
Sales are recorded net of sales tax.

Allowance for doubtful account:

We record a provision for doubtful accounts deemeidcollectable based on historical experienceaaddtailed assessment of the collectal
of our accounts receivable. In estimating the adloee for doubtful accounts, we consider, amongrdihetors, the aging of the accot
receivable, historical write-offs, and the creditthiness of each customer. If circumstances chaswgeh as higher-thagxpected defaults
an unexpected material adverse change in a magtoroers ability to meet its financial obligations, weigsdte if the recoverability of ti
amounts due could be reduced by a material amount.

Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of actual msstandard cost which generally approximatesaatosts on a first-in first-out
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basis) or market value. Cost includes raw materadswell as direct labor and manufacturing ovesthfea products we manufacture. Mat
value is based on current replacement cost formaterials and on a net realizable value for finiseods. Adjustments to reduce the co
inventory to its net realizable value are madegdjuired, for estimated excess, obsolescence aiigtpbalances.
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We regularly monitor inventory quantities on haml@on order and record writkewns for excess and obsolete inventories basedut
estimate of the demand for our products, potentiablescence of technology, product life cyclesl, when pricing trends or forecasts indi
that the carrying value of inventory exceeds ouineded selling price. These factors are affectgdmarket and economic conditio
technology changes, and new product introductiort require estimates that may include elementsabatuncertain. Actual demand n
differ from forecasted demand and may have a nateffect on our gross margin. If inventory is weit down, a new cost basis will
established that cannot be increased in futuregeri

Goodwill, intangible assets and long-lived assets
Goodwill

Goodwill represents the excess of purchase prigr the fair value of the net assets of businessgsired. Annually, we either make
qualitative assessment prior to proceeding to stepof the annual goodwill impairment test or perf@ twostep impairment test. If we me
a qualitative assessment and it determines thdathealue of the reporting unit is less thandésrying amount, we would perform step on
the annual goodwill impairment test and, if necegsproceed to step two. Otherwise, no further eatin is necessary. For the twiey
impairment test, in the first step, we comparefttievalue of the reporting unit to its carryinglwe, including goodwill. We determine the
value of the reporting unit based on a weightingnabme and market approaches. If the fair valughefreporting unit exceeds the carr
value of the net assets assigned to that unit,witldd not impaired and no further testing is merhed. If the carrying value of the net as
assigned to the reporting unit exceeds the fauevalf the reporting unit, then we perform the secstep of the impairment test in orde
determine the implied fair value of the reportingtis goodwill. Impairments, if any, are charged digetd earnings. We completed our rr
recent annual impairment test in the second quaft@014, at which time we had a single reportimit for purposes of assessing good
impairment. No impairment charges have been induoalate.

Indefinite-lived intangible assets

Trademarks are considered to be indefinite lifanigibles, and are not amortized but are subjeeisting for impairment annually.

Finite-lived intangible assets

We assess the impairment of identifiable finiteethintangible assets whenever events or changiciumstances indicate that an asset grouf
carrying amount may not be recoverable. Recovetgaluf certain finitelived intangible assets, particularly customer tieteships and co
technology, would be measured by a comparison efctirying amount of the asset group to which #sets are assigned to the sum o
undiscounted estimated future cash flows the agseip is expected to generate. If the asset isideres] to be impaired, the amount of <
impairment would be measured by the difference betwthe carrying amount of the asset and its &liver Recoverability and impairment
other finitelived intangible assets, particularly developedietogy and patents, would be measured by the casapeof the carrying amot
of the asset to the sum of undiscounted estimatienlef product revenues offset by estimated futostscto dispose of the product to which
asset relates. No impairment charges have beerréucto date.

Warranty

Unless otherwise required by law, we generally mteuimited warranties on our products for onewm tyears. We accrue estimated ¢
related to warranty activities as a component &t ob sales upon product shipment or when inforomabiecomes available indicating tha
adjustment to the warranty reserves is appropridemagement estimates are based upon historicapeojdcted product failure rates :
historical costs incurred in correcting productifieds. The warranty reserve is assessed from tongnte for adequacy and adjustec
necessary. Actual warranty expenses are chargédsagar estimated warranty liability when incurréactors that affect our liability inclu
the number of units, historical and anticipate@sadf warranty claims, and the cost per claim. #eréase in warranty claims or the rel:
costs associated with satisfying these warrantigatibns could increase our cost of sales and nedtaffect our operating results.
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Income taxes

We record our income tax expenses or benefits @ éaderal, state and foreign jurisdiction in whigh operate using an asset and liat
approach. This process requires that we computeuhent tax expense or benefit and deferred tgpemse or benefit, which result fri
changes in temporary differences between the atioguand tax treatment of assets and liabilitiegluding items such as accruals
allowances, which are recorded in different periémsfinancial statement and income tax return pags. The income tax effects of tt
differences we identify are classified as currarlbagterm deferred tax assets and liabilities in oursotidated balance sheets. Our judgm
assumptions, and estimates relative to the cupmanision for income taxes take into account erchtae laws, our interpretation of enacted
laws, and possible outcomes of current and futuditssconducted by tax authorities. Changes indas or our interpretation of tax laws
the resolution of current and future tax auditsldaignificantly impact the amounts provided focéme taxes in our consolidated bale
sheets and consolidated statements of income ebttand penalties associated with income taxeseamrded as income tax expense in
consolidated statements of income.

We account for uncertain tax positions on a step approach to recognize and measure thosegmsstiken or expected to be taken in ¢
return. The first step is to determine if the weigh available evidence indicates that it is madkely than not that the tax position will
sustained on audit, including resolution of anyated appeals or litigation processes. The secapdisto measure the tax benefit as the la
amount that is more than 50% likely to be realimpdn ultimate settlement. We adjust liabilities éor uncertain tax positions due to chan
facts and circumstances, such as the closing af audit, expiration of a statute of limitations &issessment of income tax, the refineme
estimates, or the realization of earnings or dedostthat differ from our estimates. To the extdrt the final outcome of these mattel
different than the amounts recorded, such diffeeenwill impact our tax provision in our consoliddtstatements of income in the perio
which such determination is made.

We must also assess the likelihood that deferre@daets will be realized from future taxable inecamd, based on this assessment estal
valuation allowance, if required. The determinatiminour valuation allowance involves assumptionglgments, and estimates, incluc
forecasted earnings, future taxable income, andrefative proportions of revenue and income befaees in the various domestic
international jurisdictions in which we operate. fhe extent we establish a valuation allowancehange the valuation allowance in a pet
we reflect the change with a corresponding increaskecrease of our income tax provision in oursofidated statements of income.

Stoclk-based compensation

The Company measures stock-based compensatioh $tock-based awards, including stock options and restristeck units ("RSUs"), bas
on their estimated fair values on the date of ffaeigand recognizes the stock-based compensatgiriazdime-vested awards on a straitihe
basis over the requisite service period. For paréorcebased RSUs, the amount of shares ultimately exgdotevest is estimated at ei
reporting date based on manageneeipectations regarding the relevant performaniteria. To the extent shares are expected to Yes
stock-based compensation cost is recognized amiglstline basis over the requisite service period. ievalue of each stock option grar
is estimated using the Black-Scholes option priciraglel, net of estimated forfeitures.

The determination of the grant date fair value ptians using an option pricing model is affecteddoy common stock fair value as wel
assumptions including our expected stock pricetilityaover the expected term of the options, stogiion exercise and cancellation behav
risk-free interest rates and expected dividends.

Prior to our IPO in August of 2013, our board ofedtors considered numerous objective and subgedéigtors to determine the fair mai
value of our common stock at each meeting at wichk options were granted and approved.

Stockbased compensation expenses are classified inat@rents of income based on the department tohvthie related employee repao
Our stock-based awards are comprised principalstadk options and restricted stock unit awards.

Fair value of financial instruments

ASC 820,Fair Value Measurements and Disclosuresquires the valuation of assets and liabilitexguired or permitted to be either recorded
or disclosed at fair value based on hierarchy aflakile inputs as follows:

Level 1: Unadjusted quoted prices in active markbtt are accessible at the measurement date éottical, unrestricted assets
liabilities;

Level 2: Quoted prices for similar assets and ligds in active markets, quoted prices for idealtiassets and liabilities in markets
are not active, or inputs which are observablégeitirectly or indirectly, for substantially thellfterm of the asset or liability;
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Level 3: Prices or valuation techniques that regjimputs that are both significant to the fair walmeasurement and unobservable
supported by little or no market activity).

We apply fair value accounting for all financiakats and liabilities and ndimancial assets and liabilities that are recogiae disclosed .
fair value in the financial statements on a reagrbasis. We define fair value as the price thatld/be received from selling an asset or pa
transfer a liability in an orderly transaction betm market participants at the measurement daten\Watermining the fair value measurem
for assets and liabilities, which are required ¢éorbcorded at fair value, we consider the princgrainost advantageous market in whick
would transact and the markessed risk measurements or assumptions that nyzakietipants would use in pricing the asset orilligh suct
as risks inherent in valuation techniques, trangstrictions and credit risk.

As of December 31, 201,4ve used Level 2 inputs to determine the fair gafiour Amended and Restated 2013 Credit Fadigause it has
variable interest rate that reflects market chamgésterest rates and changes in the Compmangt leverage ratio. We measured our contit
consideration liability arising from our acquisitioof Sport Truck using Level 3 unobservable inputke fair value of the continge
consideration liability associated with the achimeat of adjusted EBITDA targets is estimated ahdzalance sheet date by applying a Blacl
Scholes model to our most recent financial progectiThe unobservable inputs to the valuation mtdel have the most significant effect
the estimated fair value of our contingent congitlen liability are the projected results, the mbitities that actual results will exceed
projection and the volatility surrounding the exjgecresults.

Changes in estimates

In the second quarter of 2014, we concluded arysisabf legal developments and business practaatve to the apportionment of income
state tax purposes that resulted in a change imagst regarding income taxes. As a result, we dmmbia discrete tax benefit in the yeade:
December 31, 2014 of $4.1 million , or $044r basic and fully diluted share, related to tegpportionment of 2009 to 2013 income amc
the jurisdictions where the Company does business.

Recent Accounting Pronouncements

Revenue from Contracts with Custome

In May 2014, the FASB and International Accountftandards Board issued their converged standamgv@nue recognition, Accounti
Standards Update No. 2014-G&venue from Contracts with Customeris standard outlines a single comprehensiveeifod companies
use in accounting for revenue arising from confgagith customers and supersedes most current revezaognition guidance, includi
industryspecific guidance. The core principle of the reveembdel is that revenue is recognized when a custofstains control of a good
service. A customer obtains control when it hasahiity to direct the use of and obtain the bewsefiom the good or service. Transfe
control is not the same as transfer of risks amards, as it is considered in current guidance.Wiealso need to apply new guidance
determine whether revenue should be recognizedtiwmeror at a point in time. This standard will é&féective for the first interim period with
annual reporting periods beginning after DecembBer2D16, with no early adoption permitted, and @@mpany can choose to apply
standard retrospectively for each prior reportiegiqrd presented or retrospectively with the cunivdaeffect of initially applying the standz
recognized at the date of the initial applicatiométained earnings.

Other accounting standards updates effective Bfémember 31, 2014, are not expected to have a iadagdéfiect on the Compang’'financia
position, annual results of operations or cash $low

ITEM 7A. QUANTITATIVE AND QUALITATIVE DISCLOSURES A BOUT MARKET RISK
Interest rate sensitivity

We are exposed to market risk in the normal coafsmir business operations due to our ongoing tmgsind financing activities. The risk
loss can be assessed from the perspective of a&debanges in fair values, cash flows and futureiegs. We have established policies
procedures governing our management of market @skisthe use of financial instruments to manag@sx to such risks. We generally
not hedge our interest rate exposure. We had $80li0n of debt, bearing interest at a variable rate, antting under our credit facilities as
December 31, 2014 A hypothetical 100 basis point increase or desgaa the interest rate on our variable debt wdwdde resulted in
approximately $0.5 million change to our interegtense for the year ended December 31, 2014.
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Exchange rate sensitivity

As of December 31, 2014we were not exposed to significant foreign cucyeexchange rate risks that could have a mateffiatteon ou
financial condition or results of operations. Fgrecurrency fluctuations could in the future hameadverse effect on our business and rest
operations. We primarily sell our products insidel autside of the United States in U.S. Dollarstéfically, the majority of our expenses h
also been in U.S. Dollars and we have been someinkatated from currency fluctuations. As a growipercentage of our activities .
expected to be denominated in foreign currenciel s the New Taiwanese Dollar, we may be expasgdeiater exchange rate sensitivit
the future. Currently, we do not hedge our foredgmrency exposure, however we may consider stedetgi mitigate our foreign currer
exposure in the future if deemed necessary.

Credit and other risks

We are exposed to credit risk associated with egsiivalents, investments, and trade receivablesddveot believe that our cash equivalen
investments present significant credit risks beeghge counterparties to the instruments consishajbr financial institutions and we man
the notional amount of contracts entered into witty one counterparty. Our cash and cash equivatentdf December 31, 20Tbnsiste
principally of FDIC insured certificates of depoaitd cash balances in norerest bearing checking accounts. Substantiélllyaale receivabl
balances of our businesses are unsecured. Thertoatan of credit risk with respect to trade reediles is concentrated by the numbe
significant customers that we have in our custob@se and a prolonged economic downturn could iserear exposure to credit risk on
trade receivables. We perform ongoing credit evadna of our customers and maintain an allowanc@tential credit losses.

We do not currently hedge our exposure to increste prices for our primary raw materials.

ITEM 8 FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SUPPLEMENTARY DATA

Our financial statements and the report of our frehelent registered public accounting firm are idetliin this Annual Report beginning on
page 53. The index to these reports and our fiahstatements is included in Part 1V, Item 15 below

ITEM 9. CHANGES IN AND DISAGREEMENTS WITH ACCOUNTAN TS ON ACCOUNTING AND FINANCIAL DISCLOSURE

None.

ITEM 9A. CONTROLS AND PROCEDURES
Evaluation of Disclosure Controls and Procedures

We maintain "disclosure controls and procedures defined in Rules 13a-15(e) and 1Hi{e) under the Exchange Act, designed to ensai
information required to be disclosed by a compamythie reports that it files or submits under thechliange Act is recorded, proces:
summarized and reported, within the time periodscHjgd in the SEQG rules and forms. Disclosure controls and proceglirclude, withot
limitation, controls and procedures designed tauemshat information required to be disclosed byoanpany in the reports that it files
submits under the Exchange Act is accumulated amdnanicated to the compasymanagement, including its principal executive
principal financial officers, as appropriate tooalltimely decisions regarding required disclosure.

Our management, under the direction and with thiéggaation of our Chief Executive Officer and oGhief Financial Officer, evaluated f
effectiveness of our disclosure controls and prooesl as of December 31, 2018ased on the evaluation of our disclosure cositeni(
procedures as of December 31, 20Dur Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financidii€er concluded that, as of such date, our disck
controls and procedures were effective at the rese assurance level.

Management’s Report on Internal Control Over Finandal Reporting

The "Management’'s Report on Internal Control ovieaRcial Reporting” is contained on page 5 3 of #nnual Report on Form 1K-and is
incorporated herein by reference.

Attestation Report of Independent Registered Publidccounting Firm

Because we are an "emerging growth company" asetefn the JOBS Act, we are not currently requiteedomply with the auditor attestat
requirements related to internal controls overriiial reporting pursuant to Section 404 of the 8aesOxley Act. A "Report of Independe
Registered Public Accounting Firm" is containedpaige 54 of this Annual Report on Form 10-K.
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Changes in Internal Control over Financial Reportirg

There was no change in our internal control ovaairicial reporting (as defined in Rules 13a-15(f) 46d415(f) of the Exchange Act) identifi
in connection with the evaluation required by RiBa-15(d) and 15d5(d) of the Exchange Act that occurred duringttiree months end
December 31, 2014 that has materially affecteds rasonably likely to materially affect, our intal control over financial reporting.

Inherent Limitations on Effectiveness of Controls

Our management, including our Chief Executive @ifiand Chief Financial Officer, believes that oisctbsure controls and procedures
internal control over financial reporting are desid to provide reasonable assurance of achievieig tibjectives and are effective at
reasonable assurance level. However, our manageinentnot expect that our disclosure controls andealures or our internal controls \
prevent all errors and all fraud. A control systam, matter how well conceived and operated, cawigeoonly reasonable, not absol
assurance that the objectives of the control systeaymet. Further, the design of a control systamtmeflect the fact that there are reso
constraints, and the benefits of controls mustdresiclered relative to their costs. Because of therient limitations in all control systems,
evaluation of controls can provide absolute assgrahat all control issues and instances of fréualhy, have been detected. These inht
limitations include, but are not limited to, thelites that judgments in decision making can hétya and that breakdowns can occur bec
of a simple error or mistake. Additionally, congatan be circumvented by the individual acts of egmarsons, by collusion of two or m
people or by management override of the contrdie. design of any system of controls also is basezhit upon certain assumptions abou
likelihood of future events, and there can be rsuemce that any design will succeed in achievisgtated goals under all potential fu
conditions. Over time, controls may become inadegjb@cause of changes in conditions, or the degf@®mpliance with the policies
procedures may deteriorate. Because of the inhéneitations in a coseffective control system, misstatements due torerdraud may occi
and not be detected.

ITEM 9B. OTHER INFORMATION.

None.
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PART IlI
ITEM 10. DIRECTORS, EXECUTIVE OFFICERS AND CORPORAT E GOVERNANCE

Information required by this Item regarding ourediors and executive officers is incorporated Wgrence to the sections of our pr
statement to be filed with the SEC in connectiothvaiur 2015 annual meeting of stockholders (thexirStatement”) entitled "Election
Class Il Directors" and "Corporate Governance."

Information required by this Item regarding ourpamate governance, including our audit committez @de of business conduct and ethic
incorporated by reference to the sections of tlwxyPStatement entitled "Corporate Governance" &whtd of Directors."

Information required by this Item regarding comptia with Section 16(a) of the Exchange Act requibgdthis Item is incorporated
reference to the section of the Proxy Statemeiitiesht Section 16(a) Beneficial Ownership Reportigmpliance."

ITEM 11. EXECUTIVE COMPENSATION

Information required by this item regarding exeeaittompensation is incorporated by reference tartfoemation set forth under the capti
"Executive Compensation," "Director Compensatiomd &Corporate Governance" in our Proxy Statement.

ITEM 12. SECURITY OWNERSHIP OF CERTAIN BENEFICIAL O WNERS AND MANAGEMENT AND RELATED
STOCKHOLDER MATTERS

Information regarding security ownership of certa@neficial owners and management is incorporagectterence to the section of the Pr
Statement entitled "Security Ownership of Certagmé&ficial Owners and Management.”

Information required by this item regarding secesitauthorized for issuance under our equity corsgéon plans is incorporated by refere
to the information set forth under the caption "€xéve Compensation” in our Proxy Statement.

ITEM 13. CERTAIN RELATIONSHIPS AND RELATED TRANSACT IONS, DIRECTOR INDEPENDENCE

Information required by this Item is incorporatedrbference to the sections of the Proxy Staterastitied "Certain Relationships and Rel:
Party Transactions and Director Independence.”

ITEM 14. PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTANT FEES AND SERVICES

Information required by this Item is incorporateg ieference to the section of the Proxy Statematitled "Ratification of Appointment
Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm."

PART IV
ITEM 15. EXHIBITS, FINANCIAL STATEMENT SCHEDULES

(a)(1) Financial Statements

Management’s Report on Internal Control Over FimariReporting 53
Report of Independent Registered Public Accounfingn 54
Consolidated Balance Sheets at December 31, 2@ 2Gi8 55
Consolidated Statements of Income for the years@&idcember 31, 2014, 2013 and 2012 56
Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Incomthéoyears ended December 31, 2014, 2013 and 2012 57
Consolidated Statements of Stockholders' Equitytferyears ended December 31, 2014, 2013 and 2012 58
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows for the yemaited December 31, 2014, 2013 and 2012 59
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements 61
(2) Exhibits
See "Index to Exhibits' 50
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities &xgh Act of 1934, the registrant has duly caussdréport to be signed on its behalf
the undersigned thereunto duly authorized.

FOX FACTORY HOLDING CORP.

By: /sl Zvi Glasman
March 2, 2015 Zvi Glasman, Chief Financial Officer

(Principal Financial and Accounting Officer & Duly
Authorized Signatory)

POWER OF ATTORNEY

KNOW ALL PERSONS BY THESE PRESENTS, that each pensthose signature appears below constitutes andirtppZvi Glasman ar
Larry L. Enterline, and each of them, as his orthes and lawful attorneys-ifact and agents, with full power of substitution fiom or her, an

in his or her name in any and all capacities, tm siny and all amendments to this Annual ReporFem 10K, and to file the same, wi
exhibits thereto and other documents in connedtierewith, with the U.S. Securities and Exchangen@dssion, granting unto said attorneys
in-fact and agents, and each of them, full power artldogity to do and perform each and every act aimjtrequisite and necessary to be ¢
therewith, as fully to all intents and purposefi@®r she might or could do in person, herebyyiatf and confirming all that said attorneys-in
fact and agents, and either of them, his or hestiuke or substitutes, may lawfully do or causééadone by virtue hereof.

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities &xgh Act of 1934, as amended, this report has sigerd below by the following persons
behalf of the registrant and in the capacities@mthe dates indicated.

Signature Title Date
/sl Larry L. Enterline Chief Executive Officer and Director March 2, 2015
Larry L. Enterline ( Principal Executive Officey
/sl Zvi Glasman Chief Financial Officer March 2, 2015
Zvi Glasman ( Principal Financial and Accounting Officer)
/sl Elias Sabo Chairman March 2, 2015
Elias Sabo
/s/ Robert C. Fox, Jr. Director March 2, 2015

Robert C. Fox, Jr.

/sl Joseph Hagin Director March 2, 2015
Joseph Hagin

/s/ Dudley Mendenhall Director March 2, 2015
Dudley Mendenhall

/sl Carl Nichols Director March 2, 2015
Carl Nichols

/sl Ted Waitman Director March 2, 2015
Ted Waitman
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Index to Exhibits

Incorporated by Reference

Filed
Exhibit Number Exhibit Description Form File No. Filing Date  Herewith
3.1 Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorpamat 10-Q 001-36040 September 19,
2013
3.2 Amended and Restated Bylaws 10-Q 001-36088ptember 19,
2013
4.1 Form of Common Stock Certificate. S-1 33384l July 8, 2013
4.2 Amended and Restated Registration Rights Ageaé S-1 333-189841 July 8, 2013
dated May 12, 2013, by and among Fox Factory Hgldin
Corp., Compass Group Diversified Holdings LLC,
Madison Capital Funding Co-Investment Fund LP and
certain other stockholders listed on the signapage
thereto.
10.1 Revolving Credit Facility dated August 7, 30y and 10-Q 001-36040 September 19,
among Fox Factory Holding Corp., Fox Factory, Inc., 2013
SunTrust Bank and the other parties thereto.
10.2t Employment Agreement, dated July 22, 26¢&nd S-1 333-189841 July 25, 2013
between Fox Factory Holding Corp. and Larry L.
Enterline.
10.3t Employment Agreement, dated July 22, 20¢3nd S-1 333-189841 July 25, 2013
between Fox Factory Holding Corp. and Zvi Glasman.
10.4t Employment Agreement, dated July 22, 20¢3nd S-1 333-189841 July 25, 2013
between Fox Factory Holding Corp. and John Boulton.
10.5t Employment Agreement, dated July 22, 26¢&nd S-1 333-189841 July 25, 2013
between Fox Factory Holding Corp. and Mario Galasso
10.6t Non-Employee Director Compensation Policy. S-1 333-189841 July 25, 2013
10.7t Employment Agreement, dated February 204 206y 8-K/A 001-36040 June 17,2014
and between Fox Factory Holding Corp. and Bill
Katherman.
10.8t Information Sharing and Cooperation Agreentated 10-Q 001-36040 November 6,
August 13, 2013 by and between Compass Diversified 2013
Holdings, on its behalf and on behalf of its whelly
owned subsidiary, Compass Group Diversified Holding
LLC, and Fox Factory Holding Corp., on its behaitla
on behalf of its wholly-owned subsidiary, Fox Fagto
Inc.
10.9t Form of Indemnification Agreement betw&ex S-1 333-189841 July 8, 2013
Factory Holding Corp. and certain of its directansl
officers.
10.10t Form of Indemnification Agreement betwEex S-1 333-189841 July 8, 2013
Factory Holding Corp. and Elias Sabo and certain
advisors.
10.11¢t 2008 Stock Option Plan, as amended. S-1333-189841  July 8, 2013
10.12¢t 2008 Non-Statutory Stock Option Plan,rasraded. S-1 333-189841 July 29, 2013
10.13% 2013 Omnibus Plan. S-1 333-189841 July 29, 2013
10.14 Form of Restricted Stock Unit Award Agreeinamder S-1 333-189841 July 25, 2013
2013 Omnibus Plan.
10.15 Air Commercial Real Estate Association Séadd S-1 333-189841 July 8, 2013

Industrial / Commercial Single-Tenant Lease — Gross
dated October 31, 2011, by and between Fox Factory,
Inc. and Sammie Rae Abitbol, LLC.
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10.16

10.17

10.18

10.19

10.20

10.21

10.22

10.23

10.24

10.25

10.26

10.27

21.1
23.1

24.1

31.1

31.2

Air Commercial Real Estate Association Ssadd S-1
Industrial / Commercial Single-Tenant-Gross, March

24, 2010, by and between Fox Factory, Inc. and
Scarborough Gilbert Partners, and related addenda.

Lease Agreement, dated July 1, 2003, bybahgeen S-1
Fox Factory, Inc. and Robert C. Fox, Jr.

Lease Agreement, dated June 13, 2006, by and S-1
between Fox Factory, Inc. and Freedom Associates,
LLC, and related addenda.

Air Commercial Real Estate Association Saadd S-1
Industrial/Commercial Multi-Tenant Leasélet, datec

April 19, 2012, by and between Fox Factory, Ind an

North Johnson Vernon Property, LLC, and related
addendum.

Land and Factory Lease Agreement, dated Apri S-1
2012, by and among Fox Factory, Inc., Hong-Ming

Lee, Zhi-Ming Lee, Qing-Yu Lee, Fu-Zhong Lu, Yu-

Wei Lu and Guan-Lun Lu.

Sublease, dated January 1, 2012, by andbsatirox S-1
Factory, Inc. and Robert C. Fox, Jr., and related
addendum.

Services and Secondment Agreement, as agiende  S-1
dated March 10, 2011, by and among Fox Factory,

Inc., Fox Factory Holding Corp. and Vulcan Holdings

Inc.

Asset Purchase Agreement, by and betwedsSZ\T 8-K
Holding Corp. and Sport Truck USA, Inc., dated
March 5, 2014.

Amended and Restated Revolving Credit amchTe 8-K
Loan Agreement, dated March 31, 2014.

Asset Purchase Agreement, by and between Fox 8-K
Factory, Inc., RFE Holding (US) Corp., RFE Holding
(Canada) Corp., Fox Factory IP Holding Corp.,

1021039 B.C. Ltd. and Easton Cycling (USA), Inc.

dated December 5, 2014.

First Amendment to Amended and Restated IRiego  8-K
Credit and Term Loan Agreement, dated December 12,
2014.

Side Letter Agreement to the Asset Purchase 8-K
Agreement, dated December 12, 2014.

List of Subsidiaries

Consent of Independent Registered Public étitog
Firm

Power of Attorney (contained in signatureepmthis
Annual Report on Form 10-K)

Certification of Principal Executive Officpursuant to
Rule 13a-14(a) and 15d-14(a) of the Securities
Exchange Act of 1934, as adopted pursuant to Sectio
302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, as amended.

Certification of Principal Financial Officpursuant to
Rule 13a-14(a) and 15d-14(a) of the Securities
Exchange Act of 1934, as adopted pursuant to Sectio
302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, as amended.
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32.1* Certification of Principal Executive Officeursuant X
to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to
Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, as
amended.

32.2* Certification of Principal Financial Officgursuant X
to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to
Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, as
amended.

101.INS XBRL Instance Document.

101.SCH  XBRL Taxonomy Extension Schema.

101.CAL  XBRL Taxonomy Extension Calculation Linldea
101.DEF  XBRL Taxonomy Extension Definition Linkleas
101.LAB  XBRL Taxonomy Extension Label Linkbase.
101.PRE  XBRL Taxonomy Extension Presentation Ladeh

X X X X X X

t Management contract or compensatory plan.

* In accordance with Item 601(b)(32)(ii) of Regtiten S-K and SEC Release Nos. 33-8238 and 34-47J86| Rule: Management's
Reports on Internal Control Over Financial Repgréamd Certification of Disclosure in Exchange AetiBdic Reports, the
certifications furnished in Exhibit 32.1 hereto deemed to accompany this Form 10-K and will notiéemed "filed" for purposes of
Section 18 of the Exchange Act. Such certificatimibnot be deemed to be incorporated by referentteany filing under the
Securities Act or the Exchange Act, except to tkterd that the registrant specifically incorporatdsy reference.
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Management’s Report on Internal Control Over Finandal Reporting

The management of Fox is responsible for estabigshind maintaining adequate internal controls divancial reporting, as defined in Ru
13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e) under the Exchange Act.sHoternal controls over financial reporting is raqess designed to provide reason
assurances regarding the reliability of financeparting and the preparation and fair presentatiofinancial statements issued for exte
purposes in accordance with accounting principtrgegally accepted in the United States of Amerig& GAAP). Under the supervision of (
management, including our Chief Executive Officed &£hief Financial Officer, Fox conducted an evabraof the effectiveness of our inter
controls over financial reporting.

Because of its inherent limitations, internal cohbver financial reporting may not prevent or @¢t@l misstatements. Also, projections of
evaluation of effectiveness to future periods atgexct to the risk that controls may become inadégjbecause of changes in conditions, o
the degree of compliance with the policies or pdoces may deteriorate.

In making its assessment of internal control owearicial reporting as of December 31, 2014, managerhas excluded Race Face/Ea
which was acquired in December 2014. The Compawyiiently assessing the control environment ofeRigace/Easton. The acquisition !
not material to the Company's financial statements.

In making its assessment of internal controls digancial reporting, management used criteria idsbhg the Committee of Sponsor
Organizations of the Treadway Commission (COSO)internal Control-Integrated Framework (2013). Based on the evaloatau
management concluded that our internal controls faiwancial reporting are effective as of Decem®gr2014.

March 2, 2015

/sl Larry L. Enterline
Larry L. Enterline

/sl Zvi Glasman
Zvi Glasman
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Report of Independent Registered Public Accountingrirm

To the Board of Directors and Stockholders of
Fox Factory Holding Corp.
Scotts Valley, California

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balsheets of Fox Factory Holding Corp and subsedigthe "Company") as of Decem
31, 2014 and 2013 , and the related consolidatgdmaents of income, comprehensive income, stockhslldquity, and cash flows for eact
the three years in the period ended December 314 20rhese consolidated financial statements agergkponsibility of the Compary’
management. Our responsibility is to express aniopion these financial statements based on outsaud

We conducted our audits in accordance with thedstats of the Public Company Accounting OversightuBiogUnited States). Those stand.
require that we plan and perform the audit to obtaasonable assurance about whether the finastiééments are free of mate
misstatement. The Company is not required to hawewere we engaged to perform, an audit of the @@my's internal control over financ
reporting. Our audits included consideration ofintl control over financial reporting as a basis designing audit procedures that
appropriate in the circumstances, but not for theppse of expressing an opinion on the effectiverégthe Company internal control o
financial reporting. Accordingly, we express notsopinion. An audit also includes examining, orest basis, evidence supporting the amc
and disclosures in the financial statements, asgpfse accounting principles used and signifiesiimates made by management, as wi
evaluating the overall financial statement pred@maWe believe that our audits provide a reastmbhsis for our opinion.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statetaereferred to above present fairly, in all maferespects, the financial position of F
Factory Holding Corp and subsidiaries as of Decer3te2014 and 2013and the results of their operations and theih émsvs for each of tt
three years in the period ended December 31, 20&driformity with accounting principles generalgcapted in the United States of America.

/sl GRANT THORNTON LLP

San Jose, California
March 2, 2015
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FOX FACTORY HOLDING CORP.

Consolidated Balance Sheets

(in thousands, except par value)

Assets
Current assets:
Cash and cash equivalents

December 31,

Accounts receivable (net of allowance for doub#ttounts of $348 and $366 at December 31,

2014 and 2013, respectively)
Inventory
Prepaids and other current assets
Deferred tax assets
Total current assets
Property, plant and equipment, net
Loan fees, net
Goodwill
Intangibles, net
Other assets
Total assets
Liabilities and stockholders’ equity
Current liabilities:
Accounts payable
Accrued expenses
Liability reserve for uncertain tax positions
Current portion of long-term debt
Current portion of contingent consideration
Total current liabilities
Line of credit
Long-term debt, less current portion
Deferred rent
Deferred tax liabilities
Contingent consideration, less current portion
Total liabilities
Commitments and contingencies (Note 8)
Stockholders’ equity
Preferred stock, $0.001 par value—10,000

December 31, 2014 and December 31, 2013

Common stock, $0.001 par value—90,000 authorizéd1¥ shares issued and 37,078
outstanding as of December 31, 2014; 36,317 slssesd and outstanding as of December 31,

2013
Additional paid-in capital
Accumulated other comprehensive loss
Retained earnings
Total stockholders’ equity
Total liabilities and stockholders’ equity

2014 2013
$ 421: $ 1,68:
39,22: 33,78:
59,19: 42,78
5,681 2,64¢
4,29¢ 3,49(
112,60¢ 84,38!
20,32¢ 13,41¢
97¢ 717
58,74t 31,92¢
65,18« 27,28«
591 —
$ 258,43 $ 157,72¢
$ 30,37. % 24,25:
12,12¢ 12,45:
7,78¢ 7,79¢
2,831 —
7,704 —
60,82t 44,50:
— 8,00(
47,16 —
681 931
7,41¢ 12,00t
13,54¢ —
129,63: 65,43"
authomretno shares issued or outstanding as
37 3€
97,00¢ 87,78t¢
(40€) (15)
32,16¢ 4,48:
128,80t 92,29:
$ 258,43 $ 157,72¢

The accompanying notes are an integral part ofer@msolidated financial statements.
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FOX FACTORY HOLDING CORP.
Consolidated Statements of Income
(in thousands, except per share data)

For the years ended December 31,

2014 2013 2012

Sales $ 306,73: $ 272,74¢ 3 235,86¢
Cost of sales 212,31 192,61 173,04(

Gross profit 94,42( 80,12¢ 62,82¢
Operating expenses:

Sales and marketing 19,19: 14,15 12,57(

Research and development 13,64: 10,40¢ 9,72

General and administrative 17,68: 11,40¢ 9,06:

Amortization of purchased intangibles 6,42¢ 5,37¢ 5,31t

Fair value adjustment of contingent consideratiot @acquisition related

compensation 2,85¢ — —
Total operating expenses 59,79% 41,34¢ 36,67¢
Income from operations 34,62:¢ 38,78: 26,15«
Other expense, net:

Interest expense 99¢ 4,12¢ 3,48¢

Other (income) expense, net (699 12 2717
Other expense, net 30€ 4,11z 3,76:
Income before income taxes 34,31% 34,66¢ 22,39:
Provision for income taxes 6,631 10,56¢ 8,181
Net income $ 27,68t $ 24,10: $ 14,21(
Earnings per share:

Basic $ 0.7t ¢ 0.7¢C $ 0.44

Diluted $ 0.7 $ 0.6¢ $ 0.4¢
Weighted average shares used to compute earningbae:

Basic 36,75¢ 34,57 32,05¢

Diluted 37,801 35,70¢ 32,51t

The accompanying notes are an integral part ofel@msolidated financial statements.
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FOX FACTORY HOLDING CORP.
Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Income
(in thousands)

For the years ended December 31,

2014 2013 2012
Net income $ 2768 $ 24,10 $ 14,21
Other comprehensive (loss) income:
Foreign currency translation adjustments (397 (16) 1
Other comprehensive (loss) income (39)) (1€) 1
Comprehensive income $ 27298 $ 24,08 $ 14,21

The accompanying notes are an integral part ofel@msolidated financial statements.
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FOX FACTORY HOLDING CORP.
Consolidated Statements of Stockholders' Equity
For the years ended December 31, 2012, 2013, and 20
(in thousands, except per share amounts)

Common Stock

Accumulated

Additional other Retained Total
paid-in comprehensive earnings stockholders'
Shares  Amount capital (loss) income (deficit) equity
Balance- December 31, 2011 30,03C $ 30 $ 34,094 $ — $ 3317: % 67,29t
Issuance of common stock upon exercises of
employee stock options 3,43t 3 7,201 — — 7,20¢
Excess tax benefit from exercise of stock
options — — 5,75k — — 5,75¢
Dividend distribution ($2.00 per share) — — — — (67,000 (67,000
Repurchases of common stock (5) — (29) — — (29
Stock-based compensation expense — — 2,14¢ — — 2,14¢
Foreign currency translation adjustment — — — 1 — 1
Net income — — — — 14,21( 14,21(
Balance- December 31, 2012 33,46( $ 33 $ 49,16¢ $ 1 $ (19,619 $ 29,58¢
Proceeds from equity issuance, net 2,857 3 36,11¢ — — 36,12:
Stock-based compensation expense — — 2,50( — — 2,50(
Foreign currency translation adjustment — — — (16) — (16)
Net income — — — — 24,10: 24,10:
Balance- December 31, 2013 36,317 $ 36 $ 87,78 $ (15 $ 4,48: % 92,29
Issuance of common stock under equity
compensation plans, net of shares repurch
for income tax withholding 80C 1 2,101 — — 2,10¢
Excess tax benefit from exercise of stock
options — — 2,68( — — 2,68(
Tax benefit from equity issuance costs — — 95¢ — — 95¢
Repurchases of common stock (39) — (577 — — (577
Stock-based compensation expense — — 4,044 — — 4,044
Foreign currency translation adjustment — — — (397 — (397
Net income = — — — 27,68¢ 27,68¢
Balance- December 31, 2014 37,07¢ % 37 $ 97,006 $ (406) $ 32,16¢ $ 128,80t

The accompanying notes are an integral part ofetmmsolidated statements.
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FOX FACTORY HOLDING CORP.
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows
(in thousands)

For the years ended December 31,

2014 2013 2012
OPERATING ACTIVITIES:
Net income $ 2768t $ 2410 $ 14,21
Adjustments to reconcile net income to net caskigeal by operating activities:
Depreciation and amortization 9,73( 7,75¢ 7,20¢
Provision for doubtful accounts (18) (74) 68
Stock-based compensation 4,04¢ 2,50C 2,14¢
Excess tax benefit from exercise of stock options (2,680 — (5,755
Tax benefit from equity issuance costs (95¢) — —
(Loss) gain on disposal of property and equipment (27) @) 258
Deferred taxes (5,399 (3,236) (3,189
Amortization of loan fees 182 328 387
Write-off of unamortized loan origination costsiigelated party debt — 1,40t —
City of Watsonville loan credit — — 4
Change in fair value of contingent consideration 2,217 — —
Changes in operating assets and liabilities:
Accounts receivable (635) (8,510 (7,029
Inventory (1,209 (7,44%) (4,727
Income taxes 2,56: 2,96¢ 7,84¢
Prepaids and other assets (2,989 (40%) (474
Accounts payable 1,40¢ 3,61¢ 2,981
Accrued expenses (764) (169) 2,75¢
Deferred rent (250 (207) 681
Net cash provided by operating activities 32,90¢ 22,61¢ 17,36
INVESTING ACTIVITIES:
Acquisitions (70,939 (1,119 —
Purchases of property and equipment (4,625 (3,937) (4,929
Acquisition of other assets (2,409 — —
Proceeds from sale of property and equipment 13t 7 2
Purchase of intangible assets — — (83E)
Net cash used in investing activities (76,829 (5,042) (5,767
FINANCING ACTIVITIES:
Proceeds from line of credit 18,60( 27,72: —
Payments on line of credit (26,600 (20,500 —
Proceeds from related party line of credit — 31,85¢ 32,38t
Payments on related party line of credit — (32,609 (33,085
Proceeds from issuance of debt, net of origindees of $444 79,55¢ — —
Repayment of debt (30,000 — —
Proceeds from issuance of related party debt — — 58,40«
Repayment of related party debt — (58,500 (15,339
Proceeds from initial public offering, net of undeiter fees — 39,85: —
Payments for deferred offering costs of initial fibffering — (3,735 —
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Tax benefit from equity issuance costs

Proceeds from the exercise of stock options, nehafes repurchased for tax withholdit
Excess tax benefit from exercise of stock options

Repurchase of common stock

Dividends paid

Net cash provided by (used in) financing activities

EFFECT OF EXCHANGE RATE CHANGES ON CASH AND CASH BYALENTS

CHANGE IN CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS—Beginning of year

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS—ENd of year

SUPPLEMENTAL CASH FLOW INFORMATION:
Cash paid during the period for:
Income taxes
Interest
Non-cash investing and financing activities:
Contingent consideration - acquisition of SportckWSA, Inc.
Unpaid portion of cash consideration for acquisitid other assets

The accompanying notes are an integral part ofel@msolidated financial statements.
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FOX FACTORY HOLDING CORP.
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
Years ended December 31, 2014, 2013 and 2012
(in thousands, except per share amounts)

1. Description of the Business, Basis of Presentati and Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

Fox Factory Holding Corp. (the "Company") designd amanufactures performance ride dynamics prodaratsarily for bicycles, side-bgide
vehicles, on-road and off-road vehicles and truelsterrain vehicles, snowmobiles, specialty vehicled applications, and motorcycles. -
Company acts both as a tier one supplier to leaaitign sports original equipment manufacturersodides aftermarket products to retai
and distributors.

Throughout this Form 185 unless stated otherwise or as the context otlservequires, the "Company,” "FOX," "Fox Factoryy/e," "us,’'
"our," and "ours" refer to Fox Factory Holding Cognd its wholly owned operating subsidiaries @momasolidated basis.

Basis of Presentation- The accompanying consolidated financial statembat®e been prepared in accordance with accountimgiples
generally accepted in the United States of AmefiGAAP"). Certain prior year amounts have beenassified to conform to current y
presentation.

Initial Public Offering- On August 13, 2013, the Company completed theainftublic offering ("IPO") of its common stock puent to :
registration statement on Form S-1. In the IPO,Gbenpany sold 2,858hares of common stock and the selling stockholgeld a total ¢
7,000shares of common stock (including the shares setduyant to the exercise of the option granted éouhderwriters) at an initial pub
offering price to the public of $15.00 per sharbeTCompany received net proceeds from the IPO pifospmately $36,122rom its sale ¢
2,857shares of common stock after deducting underwritiisgounts, commissions and offering expenses.Qdrapany did not receive a
proceeds from the sale of shares by the sellingkbtiders. The Company used the net proceedsétvext to pay down related party debi
July 2014, certain selling stockholders completsg@ondary offering of the Company's common statich is described more fully iNote ¢
- Stockholders' Equity

Principles of Consolidation- The consolidated financial statements include tbem@any and its wholly owned subsidiaries. All ictanpan
transactions and balances have been eliminateshsotidation.

Use of EstimatesThe preparation of the Compasyconsolidated financial statements in conformiith\GAAP requires management to m
estimates and assumptions that affect the repartealints of assets and liabilities and disclosumafingent assets and liabilities at the da
the financial statements and the reported amodritcome and expenses during the reporting pefibése estimates are based on inform.
available as of the date of the financial statesigherefore, actual results could differ from nggraent’s estimates.

In the second quarter of 2014, the Company condlatgieanalysis of legal developments and businesgipes relative to the apportionmen
income for state tax purposes that resulted inaagé in estimate regarding income taxes.\g#e 11 - Income Taxes

Foreign Currency Translation and Transaction - The functional currency of the Company’s ndrg. entities is the local currency of
respective operations. The Company translates itftendial statements of its ndhS. entities into U.S. dollars each reporting gerfor
purposes of consolidation. Assets and liabilitieshe Company’s foreign subsidiaries are translatethe periodend currency exchange re
while sales and expenses are translated at thegererurrency exchange rates in effect for the derithe effects of these translai
adjustments are a component of other compreheirsieene.

Foreign currency transaction gains (losses) of $68®) , and $ 17 for the years ended Decembe2@14, 2013 and 2012respectively, ai
included as a component of other income or expense.

Cash and Cash Equivalents Cash consists of cash maintained in a checkinguatcall highly liquid investments purchased with arigina
maturity date of 90 days or less at the date oflpmase are considered to be cash equivalents.

Accounts Receivable Accounts receivable are unsecured customer oldigativhich generally require payment within variteisns from th
invoice date. The receivables are stated at th@éavamount. Financing terms vary by customer. Ransnof accounts receivable are applie
the specific invoices identified on the customegmittance advice or if unspecified, generallytte earliest unpaid invoices.
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FOX FACTORY HOLDING CORP.
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements - contired
Years ended December 31, 2014, 2013, and 2012
(in thousands, except per share amounts)

The carrying amount of accounts receivable is redury a valuation allowance that reflects managé&mérest estimate of amounts that |
not be collected. All accounts or portions therédeémed to be uncollectible or that may require>aegsive collection cost are written of
the allowance for doubtful accounts.

Concentration of Credit Risk -Financial instruments, which potentially subjea ompany to significant concentrations of creigdit,rconsis
primarily of cash and accounts receivable. A sigaiit portion of the Company’cash is held at one large financial institutibhe Compan
has not experienced any losses in such accounts.

The Company mitigates its credit risk with respertaccounts receivable by performing ongoing crediluations and monitoring of
customers’ accounts receivable balances. The folpwustomers accounted for 10% or more of the Gomis accounts receivable balance:

December 31,

2014 2013
Customer A 17% 16%
Customer B 14% 11%

During the years ended December 31, 2014, 20132a8i8& , Customer A from the table above represebti8d , 17% , and 13%f sales
respectively.

The Company depends on a limited number of venttossipply component parts for its products. The gamy purchased 44% , 48%anc
43% of its product components for the years endedebhber, 31, 2014, 2013 and 2QX2spectively, from ten vendors. As of Decembe
2014 and 2013, amounts due to these vendors espiees38% and 53% of accounts payable, respectively

Allowance for Doubtful Accounts -The Company records a provision for doubtful acteuased on historical experience and a de
assessment of the collectibility of its accountereable. In estimating the allowance for doub#etounts, management considers, among
factors, the aging of the accounts receivablephs! write-offs, and the creditorthiness of each customer. If circumstances abasgch ¢
higher-than-expected defaults or an unexpected riabdverse change in a major custormeability to meet its financial obligations,
Company’s estimate of the recoverability of the ants due could be reduced by a material amount.

The following table presents the activity in thivadance for doubtful accounts:

For the years ended December 31,

Allowance for doubtful accounts: 2014 2013 2012

Balance, beginning of year $ 36€ $ 44C $ 372
Add: bad debt (benefit) expense (10 (45) 87
Less: write-offs, net of recoveries (8) (29 (29

Balance, end of year $ 348 $ 366 $ 44C

Inventories -Inventories are stated at the lower of actual ¢msstandard cost which generally approximatesaatosts on a first-in firatui
basis) or market value. Cost includes raw materadswell as direct labor and manufacturing ovethfea products we manufacture. Mat
value is based on current replacement cost formaterials and on a net realizable value for finisgeods. Adjustments to reduce the co
inventory to its net realizable value are madegdjuired, for estimated excess, obsolescence aiigtpbalances.

Property and Equipment -Property and equipment are stated at cost lessmadated depreciation. Depreciation is computed gughe
straightline method over the estimated useful lives of thlated assets. Maintenance and repairs are chaogegpense as incurred, i
improvements and betterments are capitalized. Wdssets are retired or otherwise disposed of, tise ad accumulated depreciation
amortization are removed from the balance sheetagdesulting gain or loss is reflected in operatdiin the period realized.
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FOX FACTORY HOLDING CORP.
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements - contired
Years ended December 31, 2014, 2013, and 2012
(in thousands, except per share amounts)

Leasehold improvements are amortized on a stréiightiasis over the terms of the lease, or theuldigés of the assets, whichever is sho
The value assigned to land associated with buiklimg own, which is not material, is not amortizBdpreciation and amortization periods
the Company'’s property and equipment are as follows

Estimated
Asset Classification useful life
Machine shop equipment 10-15 year:
Manufacturing equipment 5-10 year:
Office equipment and furniture 3-5 year:
Transportation equipment 5 year:
Building 39 year:

Impairment of Long-lived Assets-The Company periodically reviews property and emgpt for impairment whenever events or chang
circumstances indicate that the carrying amourdrofsset is impaired or the estimated useful laresno longer appropriate. If indicator:
impairment exist and the undiscounted projectedh desvs associated with such assets are less tharcdrrying amount of the asset,
impairment loss is recorded to write the asset dwtheir estimated fair values. Fair value israated based on discounted future cash fl
No impairment charges were recorded during the yeatsceDecember 31, 2014, 2013 and 2012 .

Business CombinationsThe Company accounts for acquisitions of entitlest include inputs and processes and have thayatulicreat
outputs as business combinations. The Companyatéle¢he purchase price of the acquisition todhgible assets acquired, liabilities assu
and identifiable intangible assets acquired basettheir estimated fair values. The excess of thetmse price over those fair values is recc
as goodwill. Acquisitiorrelated expenses and restructuring costs are exgess incurred. During the measurement period,Ghmpan'
records adjustments to provisional amounts recofdedssets acquired and liabilities assumed wighaorresponding offset to goodwill. Af
the measurement period, which could be up to orse wéter the transaction date, subsequent adjussnae recorded to the Company’
consolidated statements of income.

Goodwill and Intangible Assets-Goodwill represents the excess of purchase priee the fair value of the net assets of businessgsirzd
Annually the Company either makes a qualitativesssent prior to proceeding to step 1 of the angoadiwill impairment test or perform:
two-stepimpairment test. If the Company makes a qualitatisgessment and it determines that the fair vditieeaeporting unit is less than
carrying amount, the Company would perform steff the annual goodwill impairment test and, if neszeg, proceed to step 2. Otherwise
further evaluation is necessary. For the st®p impairment test, in the first step, the Comyp@mpares the fair value of the reporting units
carrying value, including goodwill. The Company efetines the fair value of the reporting unit baseda weighting of income and mar
approaches. If the fair value of the reporting @xiteeds the carrying value of the net assetsrassig that unit, goodwill is not impaired
no further testing is performed. If the carryindueaof the net assets assigned to the reportingexwieeds the fair value of the reporting 1
then the Company performs the second step of thaimment test in order to determine the implied f@lue of the reporting ung’goodwill
Impairments, if any, are charged directly to eageinThe Company has a single reporting unit foppses of assessing goodwill impairm
No impairment charges have been incurred to

Intangible assets include customer relationshipb tae Companyg core technology, are subject to amortization dkieir respective usel
lives, and are classified in intangibles, net i #ttcompanying consolidated balance sheet. Thésegibles are evaluated for impairrr
whenever events or changes in circumstances imditett the carrying value of the assets may nofullg recoverable. If facts ai
circumstances indicate that the carrying value gt be recoverable, projected undiscounted r&t aws associated with the related &
or group of assets over their estimated remainsgjull lives is compared against their respectiveygay amounts. Trademarks and brand:
considered to be indefinite life intangibles, ané aot amortized but are subject to testing fordmpent annually. No impairments
intangible assets were identified in the years dridlecember 31, 2014, 2013 and 2012 .

Revenue RecognitionThe Company recognizes sales when persuasive @@ddran arrangement exists, title has transfethedsales price
fixed or determinable, and collectibility of thecedvable is reasonably assured. Provisions forodists, rebates, sales incentives, returns
other adjustments are provided for in the peri@rtiated sales are recorded based on an assesdrhéstorical trends and current project
of future results. Sales are recorded net of gales
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements - contired
Years ended December 31, 2014, 2013, and 2012
(in thousands, except per share amounts)

Cost of SalesCost of sales primarily consists of materials Edmbr expense in the manufacturing of the Compmapydducts. Cost of sales ¢
includes provisions for excess and obsolete invgntearranty costs, certain allocated costs foilifaes, depreciation and other manufactu
overhead. Additionally, it includes stock-based pemsation for personnel directly involved with méwturing the Companyg’ produc
offerings.

Sales and Marketing-Sales and marketing expenses include costs refateales, customer service and marketing persomuliding thei
wages, employee benefits and related stmeded compensation, and occupancy related expedsiestr significant sales and marke
expenses include race support and sponsorships/esfte and athletes, advertising and promotionsteglao trade shows, travel ¢
entertainment, and promotional materials, prodantssales offices costs.

Research and DevelopmemResearch and development expenses consist prinoasiglaries and personnel costs, including wagegloye:
benefits and related stock-based compensatiorh®oCbmpanys engineering, research and development teamspaacy related expens
fees for third party consultants, service fees, axgenses for prototype tooling and materials,eiraand supplies. The Company expe
research and development costs as incurred.

General and Administrative -General and administrative expenses include cetdsed to executive, finance, information techng|dgumal
resources and administrative personnel, includisges, employee benefits and related stmded compensation expenses. The Con
records professional and contract service expemsesipancy related expenses associated with caeplreations and equipment, and e
expenses in general and administrative expensesCbmpany paid annual management fees to an tffathe Compang former majorit
stockholder, Compass Group Diversified Holdings L{Compass”),which fees are included as part of general and ridtrative expense
SeeNote 6 - Related Party TransactianBhe Company terminated the management servigegmgnt with Compass upon the consumm
of the IPO in August 2013.

Stock-Based CompensationThe Company measures stock-based compensatioallf@tockbased awards, including stock options
restricted stock units (“RSUs”"), based on theiineated fair values on the date of the grant andgmizes the stockased compensation ¢
for time-vested awards on a straight-line basig ¢he requisite service period. For performabhesed RSUs, the amount of shares ultim
expected to vest is estimated at each reporting based on managemengxpectations regarding the relevant performamiteria. To th
extent shares are expected to vest, the stock-lwaseplensation cost is recognized on a strdigbthasis over the requisite service period.
fair value of each stock option granted is estimhateing the BlackScholes option pricing model, net of estimatedeibufes. The forfeiture re
is based on an analysis of the Company’s actutdrigal forfeitures. The fair value of the RSU’sagual to the fair value of the Company’
common stock on the grant date of the award.

Shipping and Handling Fees and CostsThe Company includes shipping and handling feeedito customers in sales. Shipping ¢
associated with inbound freight are capitalizegas of inventory and included in cost of salepamiucts are sold.

Income Taxes-The Company accounts for income taxes using art assiiability approach. Deferred income taxesefthe net tax effec
of temporary differences between the carrying anohassets and liabilities for financial repogtipurposes and the amounts used for inc
tax purposes. Operating loss and tax credit camgods are measured by applying currently enacaedlaws. Valuation allowances
provided when necessary to reduce net deferredssets to an amount that is more likely than nbeteealized.

The Company recognizes the tax effects of an uaicetdx position only if it is more likely than ntit be sustained based solely on its tech
merits as of the reporting date and then only imm=ount more likely than not to be sustained uwerw by the tax authorities. The Comp
considers many factors when evaluating and estimaétis tax positions and tax benefits, which mayuree periodic adjustments and which r
not accurately anticipate actual outcomes.

Advertising -Advertising costs are expensed as incurred. Gostgred for advertising totaled $1,012 , $448 ¢ &%34for the years end:
December 31, 2014, 2013 and 2012 , respectively.

Warranties -The Company offers limited warranties on its pratdufor one to two yearsThe Company recognizes estimated costs rela
warranty activities as a component of cost of sal@gsn product shipment. The estimates are based historical product failure rates ¢
historical costs incurred in correcting produciuas. The recorded amount is adjusted from timgnte for specifically identified warrar
exposures. Actual warranty expenses are chargedsaghe Companyg estimated warranty liability when incurred. Fastthat affect th
Company’s liability include the number of unitsstarical and anticipated rates of warranty claiamg] the cost per claim.
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Fair Value of Financial Instruments - The Financial Accounting Standards Board ("FASBd4}¥ lissued Accounting Standards Codifice
820, Fair Value Measurements and Disclosurgkat requires the valuation of assets and ligdslirequired or permitted to be either recorde
disclosed at fair value based on hierarchy of abl inputs as follows:

Level 1: Unadjusted quoted prices in active markbtt are accessible at the measurement date dotiédl, unrestricted assets
liabilities;

Level 2: Quoted prices for similar assets and ligds in active markets, quoted prices for idealtiassets and liabilities in markets
are not active, or inputs which are observablégeitlirectly or indirectly, for substantially thellfterm of the asset or liability; and

Level 3: Prices or valuation techniques that regjimputs that are both significant to the fair walmeasurement and unobservable
supported by little or no market activity).

The carrying amounts of the Compasjinancial instruments, including cash, receivapdEcounts payable, and accrued liabilities apprate
their fair values due to their shagrm nature. Amounts owed under the Company's tcfadiity approximate fair value due to the vate
interest rate features embedded in both the lirereafit and term debt.

Certain Significant Risks and Uncertainties-The Company is subject to those risks common inufsaturingdriven markets, including, k
not limited to, competitive forces, dependence ew gersonnel, customer demand for its productssticeessful protection of its propriet
technologies, compliance with government regulati@nd the possibility of not being able to obtadditional financing when needed.

Recent Accounting Pronouncementsin May 2014, the FASB and International AccountBigndards Board issued their converged sta
on revenue recognition, Accounting Standards Uptite2014-09 Revenue from Contracts with Customefkhis standard outlines a sin
comprehensive model for companies to use in acowyfdr revenue arising from contracts with custesrend supersedes most current rev
recognition guidance, including industspecific guidance. The core principle of the revemnodel is that revenue is recognized wh
customer obtains control of a good or service. staomer obtains control when it has the ability i@ct the use of and obtain the benefits 1
the good or service. Transfer of control is notshene as transfer of risks and rewards, as itrisidered in current guidance. We will apply
new guidance to determine whether revenue shouletdmgnized over time or at a point in time. Thisnslard will be effective for the fil
interim period within annual reporting periods begng after December 15, 2016, with no early adwppermitted, and the Company
choose to apply this standard retrospectively @arheprior reporting period presented or retrospelgtiwith the cumulative effect of initial
applying the standard recognized at the date oifiitial application in retained earnings.

Other accounting standards updates effective Bfémember 31, 2014, are not expected to have a iadagéfiect on the Compang’'financia
position, annual results of operations or cash $low

2. Inventory

Inventory consisted of the following:

December 31,

2014 2013
Raw materials $ 39,65 $ 30,29¢
Work-in-process 1,56¢ 1,15¢
Finished goods 17,96¢ 11,32¢
Total inventory $ 59,19: $ 42,78:
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3. Property, Plant and Equipment, net

Property, plant and equipment consisted of thevahg:

December 31,

2014 2013
Machinery and manufacturing equipment $ 18,31¢ $ 13,74«
Office equipment and furniture 5,29 4,24:
Transportation equipment 2,041 1,49¢
Building and land 3,46¢ —
Leasehold improvements 5,971 5,52¢
Total 35,09¢ 25,007
Less: accumulated depreciation and amortization (14,767 (11,589
Property, plant and equipment, net $ 20,32¢ $ 13,41¢

The depreciation expense was $3,306 , $2,381 $dn889 for the years ended December 31, 20143 28a4d 2012 , respectively.
4. Goodwill and Intangible Assets

Intangible assets, excluding goodwill, are compriskthe following:

Gross Net Weighted
carrying Accumulated carrying average life
amount amortization amount (years)

December 31, 2014:
Customer relationships $ 3655 $ (9,149 $ 27,41 13
Core technology 33,70( (28,439 5,26% 8
Patents 83t (399 441 5
Total $ 71,09 $ (37,976 33,114
Trademarks and brands, not subject to amortization 32,07(
Total $ 65,18¢
December 31, 2013:
Customer relationships $ 12,20¢ $ (6,939 $ 5,27« 10
Core technology 32,50( (24,37Y) 8,12¢ 7
Patents 83t (24€) 58¢ 5
Total $ 4554: % (31,560 13,98¢
Trademarks and brands, not subject to amortization 13,30(
Total $ 27,28¢
For the years ended December 31,
2014 2013 2012
Amortization of intangibles $ 6,42¢ $ 537¢ $ 5,31¢

The Company acquired intangible assets in conjonatvith acquisitions, as more fully describedNnte 15 - Acquisitions The acquire
definite lived assets will be amortized on a st&iine basis.
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Gooduwill activity consisted of the following:

Balance as of December 31, 2013 $ 31,92¢
Acquisitions 26,72¢
Currency translation and other adjustments 92
Balance as of December 31, 2014 $ 58,74

Future amortization expense for finite-lived intdotgs as of December 31, 2014 is as follows:

Amortization

For the years ending December 31, Expense
2015 $ 7,36¢
2016 2,75¢
2017 2,691
2018 2,691
2019 2,61¢
Thereafter 14,99

Total expected future amortization $ 33,11«

5. Accrued Expenses

Accrued expenses consisted of the following:

December 31,

2014 2013
Payroll and related expenses $ 5,62¢ $ 6,001
Warranty 4,21¢ 3,851
Income tax payable 1,40¢ 2,46¢
Other accrued expenses 882 11¢€
Total $ 12,12¢  $ 12,45:

Activity related to warranties is as follows:

For the years ended December 31,

2014 2013 2012
Beginning warranty liability $ 3,851 $ 458: $ 2,79¢
Charge to cost of sales 3,17 4,36 5,18(
Fair value of warranty assumed in acquisition 382 — —
Costs incurred (3,196 (5,099 (3,399
Ending warranty liability $ 4,21t $ 3,851 $ 4,58:

6. Related Party Transactions

In September 2014, the Company entered into areagget with Compass to assist with compliance requénts pursuant to the Sarbane:
Oxley Act of 2002, as amended. While the Company avenajorityewned subsidiary, Compass provided and incurreddseof these servic

to meet its own obligations as a public companysgquent to the secondary offering in July 2014cdieed inNote 9 - Stockholders' Equity
these services are not within the scope of Compasspliance requirements. Compass has agreed tidprthese services on the Compa
behalf through March 31, 2016 at an estimated drousa of approximately $150 .
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During 2008, the Company entered into various logitls Compass, which provided a revolving line oédit facility and a term loan facili
(2008 Loans”).On June 15, 2012, the Company engaged in a relizgitan (the "2012 Recapitalization") involvingettamendment of i
outstanding debt with Compass (together with th@820oans, the "Prior Credit Facility"), stock artdck options. The 2012 Recapitalizal
involved (1) borrowing additional funds from Compag) paying $67,000 dividends to the Company's stockholders, (3)abeeleration «
the vesting of certain options, (4) the net exerds stock options by certain officers and direstdb) the granting of new options to cer
employees, officers and directors, (6) the cantietizand reissuance of options to two of the Company's dimsctY) the purchase of share
the Company's common stock by Compass from ceofdis employees, officers and directors, and &) purchase of shares of common s
by certain of our employees, officers and direcfooss the Company. All purchases of common stodkdpthan purchases under godsting
options) and grants of new options occurred as#ree price per share.

In August 2013, in connection with its IPO, the Guany repaid all indebtedness and terminated thar Priedit Facility, recognizing a non-
cash expense of approximately $1,4@8ated to unamortized loan origination costs. rege expense on the Prior Credit Facility
approximately $2,179 and $2,794 for the years emEmbmber 31, 2013 and 2012, respectively.

The Company paid annual management fees of $308530@dto an affiliate of Compass for the years ended béer 31, 2013 and 20:
respectively, which fees are included as part ofegel and administrative expenses. The Companyiriated the management serv
agreement with Compass upon the consummation dPte

Fox Factory, Inc. has a tripleet building lease for its manufacturing and offiaeilities in Watsonville, California. The buildjnis owned b
Robert Fox, a founder and minority stockholderted Company. The term of the lease ends June 3@ ,2@ith monthly rental paymen
which are adjusted annually for a cost-of-livingrease based upon the consumer price index. Pagmmatte under this lease were $1,18€
$1,156 and $1,131 for the years ended Decembe2(@H, 2013 and 2012 , respectively. Skde 8 - Commitments and Contingencies a
summary of the future minimum lease payments utidsoperating lease.

7. Debt
Amended and Restate2013 Credit Facility

In August 2013, the Company entered into a credilify with Sun Trust Bank and other named lendérs "2013 Credit Facility"). The 20
Credit Facility provided a revolving line of credion March 31, 2014, the Company amended and eestae 2013 Credit Facility (t
“Amended and Restated 2013 Credit Facilityfhe Amended and Restated 2013 Credit Facility jpiexvia maturing secured term loan in
principal amount of $50,00@he "Term Loan"), subject to quarterly amortizatipayments, and extended the term of the 2013 Crredility
through March 31, 2019. The proceeds of the TermnLwere used, in part, to fund the acquisition pér6 Truck USA, Inc. ("Sport Truck
and to pay down the revolving line of credit praddunder the 2013 Credit Facility. On December2D24, the Company entered into the |
Amendment to the Amended and Restated 2013 Creditify. The First Amendment increased the TermrLog the principal amount
$30,000 to a total of $56,75Gubject to quarterly amortization payments, axtédreled the maturity of the Amended and Restatd® Zedi
Facility through December 12, 2019. The additiomaiceeds of the Term Loan made available throughFinst Amendment were usec
partially fund the acquisition of Race Face Perfance Products, Inc. and Easton Cycling (togethac&RFace/Easton”).

The Amended and Restated 2013 Credit Facility plewifor interest at either a rate based on the dromdterbank Offered Rate, or LIBC
plus a margin ranging from 1.50% to 2.50% , or Ham® the prime rate offered by SunTrust Bank plasaagin ranging from 0.50% to 1.50%
At December 31, 2014 the one month LIBOR and priates were 0.16% and 3.25%espectively. The Amended and Restated 2013 ¢t
Facility is secured by substantially all of the Gmny’s assets, restricts the Company's ability to mak&in payments and engage in ce
transactions, and also requires that the Compaiigfysaustomary financial ratios. The Company wasémpliance with the covenants a
December 31, 2014 .

The following table summarizes the line of creditlar the Amended and Restated 2013 Credit Faaifithythe 2013 Credit Facility:

December 31,

2014 2013
Amount outstanding $ — % 8,00(
Available borrowing capacity $ 60,000 $ 52,00(
Maximum borrowing capacity $ 60,000 $ 60,00(
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As of December 31, 2014 , future principal payméotshe Term Loan, including the current portiane summarized as follows:

For the years ending December 31,

2015 $ 2,83
2016 2,83¢
2017 4,25¢
2018 4,25¢
2019 35,81
Total 50,000
Less: current portion 2,831
Long-term debt less current portion $ 47,16

Prior Credit Facility

During fiscal year 2008, the Company entered imdnéercompany loan agreement with Compass, whiat amended in connection with
2012 Recapitalization and paid in full in connestigith the Company's IPO. S&ete 6 - Related Party Transactions

8. Commitments and Contingencies

Operating Leases—The Company has operating lease agreements fonadrative, research and development, manufactwaimjsales ai
marketing facilities and equipment that expire atious dates. The Company recognizes rent expanaestraightine basis over the lease te
and records the difference between cash rent pagmaed the recognition of rent expense as a defeemt liability. Rent expense was $3,214
$2,953 , and $2,909 for the years ended Decenlhe2®l4 , 2013 and 2012 , respectively. Sieée 6for additional information on relat
party operating leases.

Approximate remaining future minimum lease paymemider these operating leases as of December 34,,20¢€ as follows:

Third party Related party Total future

For the years ending December 31, future payments future payments payments
2015 $ 2,228 $ 1,20 $ 3,42¢
2016 2,161 1,20: 3,36¢
2017 1,68¢ 1,20: 2,89:
2018 74C 601 1,341
2019 54 — 54
Thereafter — — —
$ 6,86¢ $ 4,21C $ 11,07¢

In February 2015, the Company entered into an amendto expand its leased facility in EI Cajon, ifdahia. The resulting incremen
increase in annual minimum lease payments is appedgly $295through 2017, subject to annual rate escalatiohge dmendment al
extended the lease term through February 2021ltiresin annual commitments of approximately $786847 , $1,018 , and $146 year:
2018-2021, respectively.
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Indemnification Agreements—In the ordinary course of business, the Company pnayide indemnifications of varying scope and terta
customers, vendors, lessors, business partnergitaedparties with respect to certain matterduitiog, but not limited to, losses arising ou
breach of such agreements, services to be prowgtetthe Company or intellectual property infringemetaims made by third parties.
addition, the Company has entered into indemniboatgreements with directors and certain officensl employees that will require

Company, among other things, to indemnify them ragjacertain liabilities that may arise by reasonthdir status or service as direct
officers or employees. While the outcome of thesdtens cannot be predicted with certainty, the Camypdoes not believe that the outcom
any claims under indemnification arrangements dlfe a material effect on the Compangesults of operations, financial position or lajty.

Other Commitments— In connection with the acquisition of businessé® €ompany has agreed to pay up to $46,i9%dditiona
consideration and acquisition related compensatioough 2017, contingent upon the achievement éirefinancial performance goals ant
some cases continued employment through 2016. fiopoof the obligation is denominated in Canadiatiads. SeeNote 12 -Fair Value
MeasurementandNote 15 - Acquisitions

9. Stockholders' Equity

Secondary Offering

In July 2014, selling stockholders, including Cosmasold 5,750 shares of the Company's common stoakprice of $15.50er share, le:
underwriting discounts and commissions, in a seapngublic offering. The total shares sold inclut®0 shares, which were also sold
certain selling stockholders, in connection witle tinderwriters' option to purchase additional shafdne Company did not sell share:
receive any proceeds from the sales of sharesebgdling stockholders. The Company incurred apprately $469f expenses in connecti
with the offering during the year ended December2®14 .

Share Repurchase Program

On November 3, 2014, the Company's Board of Dirscaathorized the repurchase of up to an aggred&40,000 in shares of our common
stock under our stock repurchase program. Sharesnomon stock repurchased under this program amee issued but not outstanding. At
December 31, 2014 , $39,429 remains availablegfounchase under this plan. The repurchase progilimexpire on December 31, 2015
unless extended by the Board of Directors.

Equity Incentive Plans

The Company has outstanding awards under the fimlpequity incentive plans: the 2008 Stock OptidenRthe "2008 Plan™), the 2008 Non-
Statutory Stock Option Plan (the "2008 N8tatutory Plan") and the 2013 Omnibus Plan (thet32Blan"). No further awards will be gran
pursuant to the 2008 Plan or the 2008 N&tatutory Plan. Under the 2013 Plan, the Compasytiha ability to issue incentive stock optic
non-statutory stock options, stock appreciatiohtggrestricted stock awards, RSUs, performands anid/or performance shares.

The equity incentive plans are administered byGbenpensation Committee of the board of directorfiefCompany, which has the authc
to determine the type of incentive award, as welhe terms and conditions of the awards. Optioastgd under the plans have vesting pe
ranging from one to five years and expire no lthan 10 years from the date of grant. RSUs geryevalit over a four -year period wigtb%
vesting at the end of one year and the remainirgginge annually thereafter. In addition to tirbased vesting criteria, certain of our R!
include performance-based vesting criteria. As et@&@nber 31, 2014 , there were 5,28@res reserved for issuance under the Com
equity incentive plans and 2,776 shares availablgfant under the 2013 Plan.

Stock-Based Compensation

Compensation expense related to the Company's-bhaesl awards for the years ended December 31, 22043 and 2012 was $4,044
$2,500 and $2,148 , respectively, of which $3,48897 and $0 , respectively, related to RSUs art8 $651,603 and $2,148respectively
related to stock options.
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The following table summarizes the allocation aicktbased compensation in the accompanying cordetidstatements of income:

For the years ended December 31,

2014 2013 2012
Cost of sales $ 43 $ 23 $ —
Sales and marketing 27¢ 15¢ 16C
Research and development 88 53 29
General and administrative 3,63¢ 2,26¢ 1,95¢
Total $ 4,04, % 2500 $ 2,14¢

Stock-based compensation expense capitalized émiary was not material for the years ended Dece®ibe2014 , 2013 and 2012 .

Restricted Stock Units

The Company grants both time-based and performbhased stock awards which also include a tirased vesting feature. Compense
expense for timéased stock awards is measured at the grant daésl lmm the closing market price of the Companytancon stock, ar
recognized ratably over the vesting period.

On September 2, 2014, the Company and certairs affficers agreed to amend certain existing awgréeaments, thereby canceling B&€
existing RSU time-based awards and reissuing swetnds in tranches that are subject to both timepartbrmancesased vesting conditior
allowing the Company to ensure the tax deductibidt the RSU expense as 162(m) performanased compensation. The cancellation
replacement was accounted for as a modificatiomiamsation expense for the modified awards is basethe original granttate closin
market price of the Company's common stock. Fopgsgs of measuring compensation expense, the arabshares ultimately expectec
vest is estimated at each reporting date basedamagemens expectations regarding the relevant performarniteria. Assuming performan
goals are achieved, the Company does not expeettod incremental stodkased compensation expense as a result of theinaaidifi. The
recognition of compensation expense associated patformancesased stock awards requires defined criteria fsesmng achievement ¢
judgment in assessing the probability of meetirggpgarformance goal

The following table summarizes RSU activity:

Unvested RSUs

Weighted-average
Number of shares  grant date fair
outstanding value
Unvested at December 31, 2012 — 3 —
Granted 51¢ $ 17.5:
Unvested at December 31, 2013 51€ $ 17.5:%
Granted 78 % 17.3(
Canceled (386) $ 17.52
Vested (139 $ 17.5:
Unvested at December 31, 2014 78C ¢ 17.3(

There were no RSUs granted or outstanding priothto year ended December 31, 2013. As of Decemhe2@l4, the Company h
approximately $11,135 of unrecognized stbased compensation expense related to RSUs, whittbevrecognized over the remain
weighted-average vesting period of approximateda 3ears.
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Stock Options

The Company issued no stock options in the yeaeegmrecember 31, 2014 . For the years ended Dece3ib@013 and 2012the fair valu
of options on the date of grant was estimated uliegBlack-Scholes option-pricing model using tiregke-option award approach with 1
weighted average assumptions set forth below. Tdrapany estimated the expected term of options gaddoy taking the average of the ves
term and the contractual term of the option. Edstimavolatilities were based on an analysis of camigla companies and the Company’
leverage. The Company based the figle interest rate on the implied yield currentaitable on U.S. Treasury strips maturing at thpeete:
option term. Although the Company paid a dividendconnection with the 2012 Recapitalization desatibin Note 6 - Related Pari
Transactions the Company does not intend to pay cash dividémtlse future. As such, expected dividends are.zZ€xpected forfeitures &
based on the Company’s historical experience.

The assumptions used to value stock-based awaadtedrwere as follows:

For the years ended December 31,

2013 2012
Expected term (years) 5.t 55-6.5
Volatility 3€% 36%
Risk-free interest rate 0.7%% 0.60 -1.40%

Dividend yield — —

In conjunction with the 2012 Recapitalization, egrtemployee stock option agreements for the pgeclod 902shares of common stock w
modified to accelerate the vesting. The vestedoaptiwere exercised through a cashless net shatensait feature added as part of
modification, and the resulting shares were imntetliaepurchased by Compass. Settlement accountisgapplied to these options and stocl
based compensation expense was recorded to reeogriense for the previously unvested portion. #aluklly, pursuant to antiilution
provisions, certain stock option agreements weneaad and replacement options were issued withvarl exercise price based on the valt
the shares repurchased in the 2012 Recapitalizaflodification accounting was applied to the replaent options and any excess fair valt
the replacement awards over the fair value of #receled awards is being recorded as compensatgiroger the remaining vesting perioc
the grants.

The following table summarizes stock option activit

Weighted-
Weighted- average
Number of average remaining Aggregate
shares exercise contractual intrinsic
outstanding price life (years) value
Balance at December 31, 2011 4547 $ 2.62 6 $ 16,21¢
Options granted (weighted average fair value oc5$per share) 1,89 % 5.3t
Options exercised (3,769 $ 245 $  11,30(
Options forfeited ave) s 5.94
Balance at December 31, 2012 2,50 $ 4.8¢ 9 % 6,82¢
Options granted (weighted average fair value o5$per share) 9 $ 7.5¢
Balance at December 31, 2013 2,511 % 4.8¢ 8 $ 32,00
Options exercised (711) % 3.9C $ 8,96:
Options forfeited 58 % 5.7t
Balance at December 31, 2014 1,742  $ 5.2F 7% 19,13¢
Options vested and expected to vest - Decembet(@¥Y 1,74: ¢ 5.2F 7% 19,13¢
Options exercisable - December 31, 2014 1,29: g 517 7 % 14,34:

Aggregate intrinsic value represents the differepesveen the closing price of the Company's comsatock on Nasdaq and the exercise |
of outstanding, in-the-money options. As of Decenie 2014 , the Company had approximately $693ummfecognized stockase:
compensation expense related to stock options,halilt be recognized over the remaining weightegdrage vesting period of approxima
2.29 years.
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10. Earnings Per Share

Basic earnings per share ("EPS") amounts are cadpw dividing net income for the period by the gig#ed average number of comn
shares outstanding during the period. Diluted ERSumts are computed by dividing net income forgheod by the weighted average nun
of shares of common stock and potentially dilutbeanmon stock outstanding during the period. Patéintdilutive common shares inclu
shares issuable upon the exercise of outstandig siptions and vesting of restricted stock unitBich are reflected in diluted earnings
share by application of the treasury stock method.

The following table presents the calculation ofibasid diluted earnings per share:

For the years ended December 31,

2014 2013 2012

Net income $ 27,68 $ 24,100 $ 14,21
Weighted average shares used to compute basiaganmer share 36,75¢ 34,57: 32,05¢
Dilutive effect of employee stock plans 1,051 1,13¢ 45¢€
Weighted average shares used to compute dilut@ihgarper share 37,80 35,70¢ 32,51t
Earnings per share:

Basic $ 0.7t % 0.7¢C $ 0.44

Diluted $ 0.7 0.6¢ $ 0.44

The Company did not exclude any potentially dilatshares from the calculation of diluted earningisghare for the years endedcember 3:
2014, 2013, and 2012 , as none of these shanasl Wwave been antidilutive.

11. Income Taxes

The components of income tax expense are as fallows

For the years ended December 31,

2014 2013 2012

Current:

Federal $ 15,12 $ 10,28: $ 8,95¢

State (3,772 3,13¢ 2,40¢

Foreign 68C 38t —
Total 12,03( 13,80: 11,36¢
Deferred:

Federal (5,016 (2,912 (2,679

State (389) (329 (510
Total (5,399 (3,236 (3,189
Total provision $ 6,631 $ 10,56¢ $ 8,181
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The Company's income before provision for inconxesawvas subject to taxes in the following jurisidics for the following periods:

For the years ended December 31,

2014 2013 2012
United States $ 27,16: $ 35,09¢ $ 23,03t
Foreign 7,15¢ (430 (644)

$ 34,317 $ 34,66¢ $ 22,39!

The following table presents a reconciliation of 8tatutory federal rate and the Company’s effedtix rate for the periods presented:

For the years ended December 31,

2014 2013 2012
Tax at federal statutory rate 35.C% 35.C% 35.C%
State taxes, net of federal benefit 1kt 4.7 4.8
Reapportionment benefit (11.9) — —
Change in liability for unrecognized tax benefits (4.0 (3.7 —
Manufacturing deduction (2.7) (2.9 (1.3
Research and development tax credit (0.9 (2.7 —
Stock-based compensation (0.2) 0.1 (2.5
Other 2.2 — 0.t
Total provision 19.2% 30.E% 36.5%

For the year ended December 31, 2014 , the Conmpesgognized a tax benefit of $4,063 , or $(éd basic and fully diluted share, relate
the reapportionment of income amongst the jurigalist where the Company does business. The Compaigdjzally evaluates opportunit
to enhance tax efficiencies and to minimize takilites through operating, legal and administratstrategies. The reapportionment be
relates to tax years 2009 through 2013 and resiiited the Company's examination of evolving lawsseng court cases, and its busir
practices. The tax benefit includes the impact ofeduction in the rate used to measure the Compamst deferred tax liability a
unrecognized tax benefit. The benefit has beenwuated for as a change in estimate.

On January 3, 2013, the American Taxpayer Religfod@012 was signed into law reinstating the fetleesearch and development credi
the 2012 and 2013 years. Accordingly, the benefdted to the 2012 federal research and developnredit of approximately $44G/as
recorded in 2013.

On February 3, 2015, the Company announced thetdtbeen awarded a four -year, $1,7@0credit from the State of California, subjec
certain in-state growth requirements. The Compampgets that it will begin to realize the benefifdlee credit in 2015.
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The following table presents the significant comgats of the Company’s deferred tax assets anditiabi

December 31,

2014 2013
Deferred tax assets:

Accrued liabilities $ 3,767 $  3,46¢
Inventory 1,05( 46€
State income taxes 1,201 1,16¢
Allowance for doubtful accounts 132 72
Total deferred tax asset 6,15(C 5,167

Deferred tax liabilities:
Intangible assets (6,61€) (10,587
Depreciation (2,35€) (2,58))
Property and equipment (239) (409
Prepaid expenses (612) (110
Total deferred tax liability (9,26¢€) (13,687)
Net deferred tax liability $ (3116 $ (851

The following table summarizes the activity relatedhe Company's unrecognized tax benefits:

For the years ended December 31,

2014 2013 2012
Balance - beginning of period $ 7,79 % 7,292 % 5,41(
Increase related to current year tax positions 1,98¢ 1,89¢ 1,88:
Decrease due to expiration of statute of limitagion (1,489 (1,3972) —
Decrease due to change in estimated state tax rate (510 — —
Balance - end of period $ 7,78t $ 7,79€ 7,29z

As of December 31, 2014 , the Company had $7,786noécognized tax benefits, of which approximat®®007, if recognized, woul
favorably impact the effective tax rate. The Compagularly engages in discussions and negotiatiotistax authorities regarding tax mat
in various jurisdictions. The Company believessitéasonably possible that certain federal, foreagul state tax matters may be conclud:
the next 12 months. Specific positions that mayrésolved include issues involving the deductibildf amortization and depreciati
deductions which were incurred as a result of tgusition of the Company in 2008. The Companyneates that it is reasonably possible
the unrecognized tax benefits at December 31, 20t be reduced by approximately $1,323 in the heglve months.

As of December 31, 2014 and 2013 , the Companyapadoximately $22®f cumulative interest and penalties related touheertain ta
positions, and has elected to treat interest andlfies as a component of income tax expense.

The Company's state tax returns for 2009 forwardliemnfederal tax returns for 2011 forward are sabjo examination by tax authorities.

12. Fair Value Measurements

The carrying value of the Compasyfinancial instruments, including cash, accouetsivable and accounts payable approximate thi
value as of December 31, 2014 and 2013, baseceel Il inputs.
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As of December 31, 2014 and 2013 , the carryinguarhof the principal under the CompasyFirst Amendment to Amended and Resl
2013 Credit Facility approximates fair value beeatise facility has variable interest rates thatefmarket changes in interest rates
changes in the Company’s net leverage ratio. Thagamy used Level 2 inputs to determine the faineaf its credit facility.

The Company measured its contingent consideraitiility arising from the acquisition of Sport Thuasing Level 3 unobservable inputs |
Note 15- Acquisitions). The fair value of the contingent consideratiability associated with the achievement of adjddEBITDA targets i
estimated at each balance sheet date by applyBigck-Scholes model to the Company's most recent finapoigection. The unobserval
inputs to the valuation model that have the magtificant effect on the estimated fair value of @@mpany's contingent consideration liab
are the projected results, the probabilities tleaétia results will exceed the projection and théatility surrounding the expected results.
Company estimated the probabilities of actual tesekceeding the projection during various yearthefearn-out at values ranging frai9%
to 100% as of December 31, 2014 , compared to arathestimate of 75%or all annual periods at the acquisition date. ifiddally, volatility
was measured at 35% as of December 31, 2014 , cethpa 41%at the acquisition date. The adjustment in faiugails recorded in tl
accompanying consolidated statement of incomeheryear ended December 31, 2@K4a component of fair value adjustment of contit
consideration and acquisition related compensation.

The following table provides a reconciliation oétheginning and ending balances for the Compaoysngent consideration liability
measured at fair value using Level 3 inputs:

Contingent
consideration liability
(level 3 measurement)

Balance at December 31, 2013 $ =
Acquisition of Sport Truck 19,03t
Losses recorded for fair value adjustments 2,21;
Balance at December 31, 2014 $ 21,25:

There were no transfers of assets or liabilitigsvben Level 1, Level 2 and Level 3 categories efftir value hierarchy during the years er
December 31, 2014 , 2013 and 2012 .

13. Retirement Plan

The Company established a 401(k) plan to providel&éderred salary deductions for all eligible enygles. Participants may make voluntary
contributions to the 401(k) plan, limited by centémternal Revenue Service restrictions. The Compaade matching contributions of $233 ,
$205 , and $189 for each of the years ended Deaedih@014, 2013 and 2012 .

14. Segments and Geographic Areas

The Company has determined that it has a singleatpg and reportable segment. The Company corssidperating segments to
components of the Company in which separate firgdmcformation is available that is evaluated regyl by the Compang’ chief operatin
decision maker in deciding how to allocate resosiiaed in assessing performance. The chief operdgogion maker for the Company is
Chief Executive Officer. The Chief Executive Offiaeviews financial information presented on a odidated basis for purposes of alloca
resources and evaluating financial performance.
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The following table summarizes total sales gendrbtegeographic location of the customer:

For the years ended December 31,

2014 2013 2012
United States $ 128,29° $ 96,11: $ 84,28:
Asia 88,06¢ 89,42« 72,22
Europe 66,87¢ 61,99¢ 61,46:
Rest of the World 23,49 25,21 17,90:
Total sales $ 306,73: $ 272,74t $ 235,86

The Company'’s long-lived assets by geographic lonaire as follows:

December 31,

2014 2013
United States $ 17,14¢ $ 12,25¢
International 3,18( 1,15¢
Total long-lived assets $ 20,32¢ % 13,41¢

The following table summarizes total sales by pobdategory:

For the years ended December 31,

2014 2013 2012
Bikes $ 179,19: $ 181,01¢ $ 158,27t
Power vehicles 127,54 91,721 77,59:
Total sales $ 306,73¢ $ 272,74t $ 235,86

15. Acquisitions
Sport Truck USA, Inc.

On March 31, 2014, the Company acquired certaiatasnd assumed certain liabilities of Sport Trddie transaction was accounted for
business combination. In connection with the adtiois the Company paid cash of $40,77@fter certain working capital adjustments
accordance with the asset purchase agreementirCeréanbers of Sport Truck’s executive managemearhtagreed to refund up to $1,4802
the proceeds from the sale, on a graduated basigyi terminate employment prior to March 31, 20A% a result, such payments have |
excluded from the acquisition consideration, anlll vé recognized as compensation expense overdtected thregear service period. As
December 31, 2014 , prepaid compensation of $4@65801is included in prepaids and other current assedsosimer assets, respectively
the accompanying consolidated balance sheet.

Prior to the acquisition, Sport Truck was a disttdy of the Compang products. The total consideration was increasethb effectivi
settlement of trade receivables in the amount @8%4vhich represented the recorded amount and asult,reo gain or loss was recorded u
settlement.
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The Company agreed to contingent consideratiorpdd$29,2951pon achievement of adjusted earnings before istteiaxes, depreciation ¢
amortization ("EBITDA") targets of the acquired mess through 2016, subject to adjustments definethe asset purchase agreen
Performance compared to the targets is measurathbiynover a three year period, and payment ofctirggingent consideration will be me
upon final determination of the adjusted EBITDA fmach year. The estimated acquisition date faievaf the contingent consideration 1
$19,035, based on a Black-Scholes model.N8ge 12 - Fair Value Measurements

The purchase price of Sport Truck is allocatech®assets acquired and liabilities assumed baséukorestimated respective fair values &
March 31, 2014 with the excess purchase price atbatto goodwill. The Comparg/allocation of the purchase price to the net taeganc
intangible assets acquired and liabilities assuimied follows:

Acquisition consideration

Cash consideration $ 40,77(
Settlement of pre-existing accounts 472
Contingent consideration 19,03t

Total consideration at closing $ 60,27¢

Fair market values

Other current and non-current assets $ 10,53¢
Property, plant and equipment 4,48¢
Customer relationships 19,00(
Trademarks and brands 16,27(
Goodwill 11,96:
Total assets acquired 62,25¢
Accounts payable and accrued expenses 1,97¢
Total liabilities assumed 1,97¢
Purchase price allocation $ 60,27t

The values assigned to the identifiable intangddsets were determined by discounting the estinfatace cash flows associated with tr
assets to their present value. The goodwill of $82 reflects the strategic fit of Sport Truck witte Companys operations. Sport Truck
well-aligned with the Company’s mission of improginehicle performance, delivering bestdlass service, and entering into strategic
adjacent markets. The Company will amortize theusied customer relationships asset over its exdeaseful life of 15years. Trademark
brand names and goodwill are expected to have a@gfimte life, and will be subject to impairmenstiag. The goodwill is expected to
deductible for income tax purposes.

The Company incurred $1,402 of transaction costsomunction with the Sport Truck acquisition févetyear ended December 31, 2014
which is included in general and administrativeenge in the accompanying consolidated statemeincome. Additional costs of $27%8ere
incurred in association with financing the trangattnd are included in loan fees. $&me 7 - Debt

The results of operations for Sport Truck have hieetuded in the Company's consolidated statemeirtoome since the date of acquisiti
Revenue and income from operations included sinealate of acquisition amount to $33,162 and $2,9@dlusive of adjustments to the 1
value of contingent consideration of $2,217 . Re&e 12 - Fair Value Measurements
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The following unaudited pro forma financial infortitam shows the combined results of operations ef@Glompany and Sport Truck, as if
acquisition had occurred as of the beginning of pleeiods presented. The pro forma results incldde dffects of the elimination
intercompany sales and profits, the amortizatiopwthased intangible assets and acquired invertnation stepip, interest expense on
term debt secured to finance the acquisition, aedhet tax benefit of the above adjustments catedlat the statutory federal tax rate of 35%
Sport Truck was operated as an S Corporation fierd taxation purposes. A pro forma adjustmentldeges) made to reflect the income te
that would have been recorded at the federal stgtuate based on Sport Truskiet income. This pro forma data is presentethformationa
purposes only and does not purport to be indicativéhe results of future operations or of the hessthat would have occurred had
acquisition taken place in the periods noted below.

For the years ended December 31,

2014 2013
Pro forma sales $ 316,18: $ 304,78
Pro forma net income $ 28,58¢ $ 24,55:;

Race Face Performance and Easton Cycling Businesses

On December 12, 2014, the Company acquired ceasspts and assumed certain liabilities of Race/Easton, which was engaged in
design, manufacture, and global distribution offg®nance mountain and road bike wheels and othéfonmeance cycling componel
including cranks, bars, stems, and seat postorneaxction with the acquisition, the Company paigrapimately $30,168 The acquisition wz
financed with debt and includes a potential earhepportunity of up to a maximum of approximatel{/600, contingent upon continu
employment and the achievement of certain perfoomdrased financial targets through October 2016. &drneut obligation is denominat
in Canadian dollars and has been converted atdtigaage rate in effect at December 31, 2014. Thagamoy incurred $1,148f transactio
costs in conjunction with the Race Face/Easton iaitiqun, which is included in general and admirasitre expense in the accompany
consolidated statement of income. Additional ca$t$166were incurred in association with financing thengaction and are included in Ic
fees. SeeNote 7 - Debt. The allocation of the purchase price to the asaetjuired and liabilities assumed is preliminaybject to th
completion of the Company's validation of workingpital and completion of its intangible valuatiorogedures, with the assistance
specialists. Goodwill acquired is expected to baudéble for income tax purposes. The acquisiti@swot material to the Company's finar
statements.

16. Selected Quarterly Financial Data (Unaudited)
Selected summarized quarterly financial informafa@n?2014 and 2013 is as follows:

Quarter Ended
Dec 31, Sep 30, Jun 30, Mar 31, Dec 31, Sep 30, Jun 30, Mar 31,

2014 2014 2014 2014 2013 2013 2013 2013
Sales $ 74,10¢ $ 90,14¢ $ 86,37« $ 56,10¢ $ 65,25¢ $ 82,29 $ 70,31 $ 54,87¢
Gross profit 21,90¢ 28,54) 26,95: 17,01; 18,71¢ 25,33¢ 20,36 15,71t
Income from operations 4,22¢ 13,91 11,73¢ 4,747 7,80: 14,77: 10,14: 6,06
Net income 2,87: 10,29: 11,58: 2,941 4,907 9,92¢ 5,721 3,54¢
Earnings per share:
Basic $ 00t $ 026 $ 03z $ o008 $ 014 $ 026 $ 017 $ o011
Diluted $ 008 $ 027 $ 031 $ o008 $ 018 $ 027 $ 017 $ 0.1cC
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Exhibit 21.1

Company Name

Fox Factory Holding Corp.

List of Subsidiaries

State or Other Jurisdiction of
Incorporation or Organization

Name under Business is Conducted

Fox Factory, Inc.
Fox Factory GmbH
ST USA Holding Corp.

RFE Holding (Canada) Corp.

RFE Holding (US) Corp.

Fox Factory IP Holding Corp.

California
Germany
Delaware
British Columbian@da
Delaware
Cayman Islands

Fox Factomgl
Fox Factory GmbH
Sport TrudgA
RaceFace / Easton
RaceFdgagton
Fox Factory IP Holding Corp.



Exhibit 23.1
CONSENT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM
We have issued our report dated March 2, 20d&th respect to the consolidated financial staets included in the Annual Report of |

Factory Holding Corp on Form 10-K for the year esh@d®cember 31, 2014Ne hereby consent to the incorporation by refesesf said repor
in the Registration Statements of Fox Factory HajdCorp on Form S-8 (File No. 333-192238).

/s/ GRANT THORNTON LLP
San Jose, California

March 2, 2015



EXHIBIT 31.1

CERTIFICATION OF CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER
PURSUANT TO SECTION 302 OF
THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

I, Larry L. Enterline, certify that:
1. I have reviewed this report on Form 10-K of Factory Holding Corp.;

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does notador@ny untrue statement of a material fact or dn#ttate a material fact necessary to mak
the statements made, in light of the circumstanoger which such statements were made, not misigadih respect to the period covered by
this report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statemeamis,other financial information included in théport, fairly present in all material respects
the financial condition, results of operations aadh flows of the registrant as of, and for, thegoks presented in this report;

4. The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) anare responsible for establishing and maintainiisglosure controls and procedures (as
defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15&)}%nd internal control over financial reportirag defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15
(f) and 15d-15(f) for the registrant and have:

a) Designed such disclosure controls and piwes, or caused such disclosure controls and guoes to be designed under our supervis
to ensure that material information relating to tlgistrant, including its consolidated subsidisris made known to us by others within those
entities, particularly during the period in whidtig report is being prepared;

b) Designed such internal control over financiglaing, or caused such internal control over fiahreporting to be designed under our
supervision, to provide reasonable assurance rieggitie reliability of financial reporting and tipeeparation of financial statements for
external purposes in accordance with generallygiedeaccounting principles;

c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registradisslosure controls and procedures and presentiisineport our conclusions about the
effectiveness of the disclosure controls and proees] as of the end of the period covered by #psit based on such evaluation; and

d) Disclosed in this report any change inreigistrant’s internal control over financial repiogtthat occurred during the registrant’s most
recent fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fourthdisguarter in the case of an annual report) thathaterially affected, or is reasonably likely to
materially affect, the registrant’s internal comeer financial reporting; and

5. The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) anldave disclosed, based on our most recent evatuat internal control over financial
reporting, to the registrant’s auditors and theitacmmmittee of the registrant’s board of direct@spersons performing the equivalent
functions):

a) All significant deficiencies and materiagéaknesses in the design or operation of internarabover financial reporting which are
reasonably likely to adversely affect the regisfeaability to record, process, summarize and refioancial information; and

b) Any fraud, whether or not material, thatalves management or other employees who havendisant role in the registrant’s internal
control over financial reporting.

/sl Larry L. Enterline
Larry L. Enterline
Chief Executive Officer
Date: March 2, 2015




EXHIBIT 31.2

CERTIFICATION OF CHIEF FINANCIAL OFFICER
PURSUANT TO SECTION 302 OF
THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

[, Zvi Glasman, certify that:
1. I have reviewed this report on Form 10-K of Factory Holding Corp.;

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does notador@ny untrue statement of a material fact or dn#ttate a material fact necessary to mak
the statements made, in light of the circumstanoger which such statements were made, not misigadih respect to the period covered by
this report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statemeamis,other financial information included in théport, fairly present in all material respects
the financial condition, results of operations aadh flows of the registrant as of, and for, thegoks presented in this report;

4. The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) anare responsible for establishing and maintainiisglosure controls and procedures (as
defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15&)}%nd internal control over financial reportirag defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15
(f) and 15d-15(f) for the registrant and have:

a) Designed such disclosure controls and piwes, or caused such disclosure controls and guoes to be designed under our supervis
to ensure that material information relating to tlgistrant, including its consolidated subsidisris made known to us by others within those
entities, particularly during the period in whidtig report is being prepared;

b) Designed such internal control over financiglaing, or caused such internal control over fiahreporting to be designed under our
supervision, to provide reasonable assurance rieggitie reliability of financial reporting and tipeeparation of financial statements for
external purposes in accordance with generallygiedeaccounting principles;

c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registradisslosure controls and procedures and presentiisineport our conclusions about the
effectiveness of the disclosure controls and proees] as of the end of the period covered by #psit based on such evaluation; and

d) Disclosed in this report any change inreigistrant’s internal control over financial repiogtthat occurred during the registrant’s most
recent fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fourthdisguarter in the case of an annual report) thathaterially affected, or is reasonably likely to
materially affect, the registrant’s internal comeer financial reporting; and

5. The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) anldave disclosed, based on our most recent evatuat internal control over financial
reporting, to the registrant’s auditors and theitacmmmittee of the registrant’s board of direct@spersons performing the equivalent
functions):

a) All significant deficiencies and materiagéaknesses in the design or operation of internarabover financial reporting which are
reasonably likely to adversely affect the regisfeaability to record, process, summarize and refioancial information; and

b) Any fraud, whether or not material, thatalves management or other employees who havendisant role in the registrant’s internal
control over financial reporting.

/sl Zvi Glasman

Zvi Glasman

Chief Financial Officer
Date: March 2, 2015




EXHIBIT 32.1

CERTIFICATION OF CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER
PURSUANT TO 18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350,
AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO SECTION 906
OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

In connection with the Annual Report on For@KL for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2014-ox Factory Holding Corp. (tl
"Company") as filed with the Securities and Excla@pmmission on the date hereof (the "Report"lalry L. Enterline, Chief Executi

Officer of the Company, certify, pursuant to 18 ICSSection 1350, as adopted pursuant to Sectiéno®the Sarbane®xley Act of 200z
that:

1. The Report fully complies with the requiremenitSection 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities ExcleaAgt of 1934; and

2. The information contained in the Report fairlegents, in all material respects, the financialdition and results of operations of
Company.

/sl Larry L. Enterline

Larry L. Enterline

Chief Executive Officer
(Principal Executive Officer)
Date: March 2, 2015

This certification accompanies the FormK@e which it relates, is not deemed filed with tBecurities and Exchange Commission and is 1
be incorporated by reference into any filing of Heactory Holding Corp. under the Securities Actl883, as amended, or the Secur
Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (whether madeebefoafter the date of the Report), irrespectiffary general incorporation langui
contained in such filing.



EXHIBIT 32.2

CERTIFICATION OF CHIEF FINANCIAL OFFICER
PURSUANT TO 18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350,
AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO SECTION 906
OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

In connection with the Annual Report onrfRol0-K for the fiscal year ended December 31, 206fLFox Factory Holding Corp. (tl
"Company") as filed with the Securities and Excha@gmmission on the date hereof (the "ReportZyi,Glasman, Chief Financial Officer
the Company, certify, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Secti®®0, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of tHeBas-Oxley Act of 2002, that:

1. The Report fully complies with the requiremenit$Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities ExcleaAgt of 1934; and

2. The information contained in the Report fairlegents, in all material respects, the financialdition and results of operations of
Company.

/sl Zvi Glasman

Zvi Glasman

Chief Financial Officer
(Principal Financial Officer)
Date: March 2, 2015

This certification accompanies the FormK@e which it relates, is not deemed filed with tBecurities and Exchange Commission and is 1
be incorporated by reference into any filing of Heactory Holding Corp. under the Securities Actl883, as amended, or the Secur
Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (whether madedefoafter the date of the Report), irrespectif@ry general incorporation langui
contained in such filing.



